
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Agenda

Monday, 26 October 2015
7.30 pm
Committee Rooms 1 & 2
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU

For more information contact:  Charlotte Dale (0208 314 9534)

This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed.

Part 1

Item Pages

1.  Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2015 1 - 7

2.  Minutes of the meeting of the Public Spending in Lewisham Working 
Group held on 22 September 2015

8 - 11

3.  Declarations of Interest 12 - 14

4.  Mayoral response: London Fire Brigade
- To follow

5.  Devolution 15 - 181

6.  Recommendation from the Public Spending in Lewisham Working 
Group

182

7.  Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet



Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Members

Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Monday, 26 October 2015.  

Barry Quirk, Chief Executive
Thursday, 15 October 2015

Councillor Alan Hall (Chair)
Councillor Gareth Siddorn (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Obajimi Adefiranye
Councillor Abdeslam Amrani
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Paul Bell
Councillor Peter Bernards
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor David Britton
Councillor Bill Brown
Councillor Suzannah Clarke
Councillor John Coughlin
Councillor Liam Curran
Councillor Brenda Dacres
Councillor Amanda De Ryk
Councillor Colin Elliott
Councillor Carl Handley
Councillor Maja Hilton
Councillor Simon Hooks
Councillor Ami Ibitson
Councillor Mark Ingleby
Councillor Stella Jeffrey
Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin
Councillor Alicia Kennedy
Councillor Roy Kennedy
Councillor Helen Klier
Councillor Jim Mallory
Councillor David Michael
Councillor Jamie Milne
Councillor Hilary Moore
Councillor Pauline Morrison
Councillor John Muldoon
Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa
Councillor Crada Onuegbu
Councillor Jacq Paschoud
Councillor John Paschoud
Councillor Pat Raven
Councillor Joan Reid
Councillor Jonathan Slater
Councillor Luke Sorba



Councillor Eva Stamirowski
Councillor Alan Till
Councillor Paul Upex
Councillor James-J Walsh
Councillor Susan Wise



MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Monday, 13 July 2015 at 7.30 pm

PRESENT:  Councillors Alan Hall (Chair), Obajimi Adefiranye, Abdeslam Amrani, 
Chris Barnham, Paul Bell, Andre Bourne, Liam Curran, Brenda Dacres, Amanda De Ryk, 
Carl Handley, Simon Hooks, Ami Ibitson, Mark Ingleby, Stella Jeffrey, Alicia Kennedy, 
Roy Kennedy, Jim Mallory, Jamie Milne, Hilary Moore, Pauline Morrison, John Muldoon, 
Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, Jacq Paschoud, John Paschoud, Pat Raven, Joan Reid, 
Jonathan Slater, Luke Sorba, James-J Walsh and Susan Wise

APOLOGIES: Councillors Gareth Siddorn, Peter Bernards, David Britton, Bill Brown, 
Suzannah Clarke, Colin Elliott, Maja Hilton, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Helen Klier, 
David Michael, Eva Stamirowski, Alan Till and Paul Upex

ALSO PRESENT: Paul Aladenika (Service Group Manager, Policy Development and 
Analytical Insight), David Austin (Head of Corporate Resources), Charlotte Dale (Interim 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager), Georgina Nunney (Principal Lawyer), Graham Norton 
(Assistant Director of Operations (South East)) (London Ambulance Service), Keeley 
Smith (Borough Commander for Lewisham) (London Fire Brigade), Andrew Bell (Deputy 
Director of Finance) (London Fire Brigade), Kate Halpin (Borough Commander for 
Lewisham) (London Metropolitan Police Service) and Graham Price (Chief Inspector) 
(Metropolitan Police Service, Lewisham)

1. Minutes of the meetings held on 9 and 26 March 2015

1.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meetings held on 9 and 26 March be 
agreed as accurate records of the meetings.

2. Declarations of Interest

2.1 The following non-prejudicial declarations of interest were declared:

Councillor Pauline Morrison – Borough Member of the London Fire and 
Emergency Planning Authority
Councillor John Muldoon - Lead Governor of South London and Maudsley 
NHS Foundation Trust
Councillor Paul Bell - Governor of South London and Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust and member of the King's College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust
Councillor John Paschoud – Member of the King's College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust and the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust.

3. Public Spending in Lewisham

3.1 The Chair welcomed the witnesses from the London Ambulance Service, 
London Fire Brigade and the Metropolitan Police to the meeting.



London Ambulance Service (LAS)

3.2 Graham Norton and Andrew Bell gave evidence to the Committee and the 
following key points were noted in relation to spending figures:

 The organisation’s actual gross revenue expenditure for 2012/13 was 
£303.5m; for 2013/14 was £302.3m; and for 2014/15 was £317.7m.

 The gross budgeted revenue expenditure for 2015/16 was £325.6m.
 The actual gross capital spend for 2012/13 was £9.7m; for 2013/14 was 

£6.9m; and for 2014/15 was £15.9m. 
 The gross budgeted capital expenditure for 2015/16 was £20.7m.
 Capital investment had increased as the service was investing in its 

fleet to ensure it had the right number of vehicles that were the right 
average age. Capital funding was also sometimes rolled forwards.

 The gross budgeted revenue expenditure for 2016/17 and 2017/18 and 
the capital budgeted spend for the same years was not yet available as 
it was still being finalised.

3.3 It was noted that there had been a large reduction in staff recently (due to 
high attrition rates) and a recruitment programme was currently taking 
place. There had been a loss of qualified paramedics across the country as 
demand for paramedics had increased due to the wide range of work areas 
they were now employed in. This was presenting some performance 
challenges as demand for ambulance services was continuing to rise. In 
response to a question from a member of the Committee it was noted that 
paramedics did not receive comparable grants to nurses to cover the costs 
of training (paramedics need a paramedic science degree) but a case was 
being made to Health Education England in relation to this. 

3.4 The current recruitment programme was focussing on Australia and New 
Zealand in particular, although there was also some recruitment activity 
taking place in Dublin. Australasia was a good source of new recruits as 
there was an oversupply of paramedics, their qualifications were recognised 
here, they spoke English and they were very keen. This meant that the cost 
of the recruitment exercise was worth it and 200 new paramedics had 
recently been recruited in this way. The recruitment process in Australia and 
New Zealand was as rigorous as in the UK and all recruits were tested 
before starting work. Staff retention was a key focus of the Trust in a bid to 
reduce attrition rates.

3.5 In response to further questions from the Committee the following key 
points were noted:

 The LAS currently had no concerns about the A&E Department at 
Lewisham. Many hospitals were under pressure at the moment but 
Lewisham was still delivering and there had been fewer diversions 
recently, possibly as a result of campaigns to reduce inappropriate 999 
calls and the provision of telephone advice to turn away less appropriate 
calls.



 The 111 service was run separately from the 999 service with a 
separate control room in Beckenham although the control rooms were 
linked enabling effective triage.

3.6 RESOLVED: That performance figures would be requested from the 
London Ambulance Service including response times and staff vacancy 
information.

London Fire Brigade (LFB)

3.6 Keeley Smith gave evidence to the Committee and the following information 
was provided in relation to spending figures:

2012/13
Outturn 
(£000s) 

2013/14
Outturn 
(£000s)

2014/15
Forecast 
Outturn* 
(£000s)

2015/16
Budget 
(£000s)

2016/17
Budget 
(£000s)

2017/18
Budget 
(£000s)

Revenue 
Expenditure 

408,210 400,720 390,946 382,400 382,400 not 
available

Capital 
Expenditure

7,807 10,288 54,427 56,683 19,492 not 
available

*the 2014/15 Forecast Outturn is as reported to the Resources Committee in 
March 2015.

3.7 The following key points were noted:

 Keeley had been in post since 1 October 2014.
 Due to saving requirements 10 fire stations across London had closed 

last year with some appliances removed.
 Further savings would need to be made next year but nothing had been 

approved for 2016/17 yet. The Commissioner would be making 
recommendations and a decision was not expected until November 
2015.

 When Downham Fire Station was closed, computer modelling was 
carried out to split the ground it covered between existing stations. 
Lewisham, Eltham and Bromley Fire Stations were now covering the 
ground formally covered by Downham Fire Station and attendance times 
were better than predicted during the consultation, although they were 
sometimes outside the 6 minute target.

 A new mobilising system would be rolled out shortly which would use 
GPS to ensure that the nearest appliance was always used to respond 
to a call out. This should have a positive impact on response times.

 The Deptford fire appliance was currently being mobilised at New Cross 
and this was assisting with attendance times. 

 The LFB’s fleet was leased from Babcocks as part of a long standing 
contract whereby they supplied and promptly maintained the vehicles. At 
the time the contract was entered into, the LFB’s fleet was failing and 
expensive to maintain and this contract was felt to be the best proposal 
financially.



 It would be difficult to provide figures on the numbers of fire engines 
being sent out of borough as appliances regularly crossed borough 
boundaries and this was decided by Control on the basis of necessity.

3.8 The Committee heard that Forest Hill fire station’s second appliance was 
currently being held elsewhere in order to provide emergency fire cover 
whilst there was the possibility of industrial action. The Fire Brigade Union 
only needed to give seven days’ notice in relation to strike action and this 
was not sufficient time to fit out an alternative appliance - hence the need to 
take 13 second appliances for emergency cover. However, there had now 
been a Mayoral Direction requiring the 13 appliances from across London 
currently being held for contingency purposes, to not be returned pending 
decisions on 2016/17 savings proposals, which could include their 
permanent removal. Should such a saving be taken, modelling would be 
carried out to determine which 13 appliances should be removed based on 
impact on response times. The Committee agreed to make a referral to 
Mayor and Cabinet recommending that a full briefing on Forest Hill Station’s 
second fire appliance and the relevant Mayoral Direction, be prepared.

3.9 In response to questions from members of the Committee on this issue it 
was noted that:

 A public consultation on the loss of the Forest Hill second appliance 
was not planned as it had not yet been confirmed that the appliance 
would be permanently lost.

 The actual physical location of Forest Hill fire station’s second appliance 
could not be revealed for security reasons, but all 13 emergency cover 
appliances were being held together in South East London.

 The crew of the removed second appliance had use of a non-response 
vehicle and was engaged in other LFB activity including community 
liaison work such as fitting smoke alarms and visiting schools. They 
also still trained with the crew of the active appliance.

 Fire appliances were normally staffed by 4 or 5 crew members but 
could take 6 and the active Forest Hill appliance took 6.

 Keeley met regularly with senior officers, spoke up on behalf of the 
borough and provided her views on upcoming issues. She had been 
very vocal about wanting Forest Hill’s second appliance returned.

 Although it might be difficult to argue the case for the return of Forest 
Hill’s second appliance given that the station has managed relatively 
well for so long without it, Orpington Fire Station had been given a 
second appliance recently on the basis of response time data. In the 
event of any appliances being permanently decommissioned to save 
money, modelling would be carried out to determine which appliances 
should be removed based on impact on response times.

3.10 RESOLVED: That (a) a referral be made to Mayor and Cabinet and (b) 
relevant performance figures including response times be requested from 
the London Fire Brigade.



Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

3.11 Information on the MPS budget, provided by the Mayor's Office for Policing 
and Crime (MOPAC) was tabled at the meeting.

3.12 Kate Halpin gave evidence to the Committee and the following key points 
were noted: 

 Kate had been in post since 30 March 2015 so was relatively new but 
had previously worked in the corporate centre so had some knowledge 
of the MPS savings programme. The MPS had to save around £550m 
over the period 2012-2016 and around £800m over the period 2016-20. 
However, the first phase of savings (2012-2016) would not involve a 
reduction in police numbers as the Mayor had promised to keep 
numbers at or around the 32,000 level. Options were still being 
considered as to how to make the next round of savings (2016-2020).

 Savings had and would result from restructuring; centralising or 
regionalising the custody, criminal justice, CID, finance, HR, Rape and 
Trident services; selling some buildings (including Scotland Yard); and 
making better use of technology.

 A large part of capital expenditure was being spent on ICT to ensure 
that vehicles could, in effect, became mobile police stations and officers 
supplied with hand held devices.

 There would also be a flattening of the rank structure.
 MOPAC had set the MPS a target of reducing crime in seven priority 

categories by 20 per cent by 2016. The priority crimes were crimes felt 
to have a high impact on victims: burglary, criminal damage, robbery, 
theft from a motor vehicle, theft from a person, theft of a motor vehicle 
and violence with injury. Lewisham was a leading borough in terms of 
this challenge.

 Kate felt that Lewisham needed to focus more on targeting the right 
criminals (especially crime generating families) and on crime prevention 
(including the marking of property).

 Lewisham Police Station was co-located with the Rape, Murder and 
Trident Command.

 The South East Traffic Unit, The Territorial Support Group (TSG) and 
the Dog Support Unit were all co-located in the borough.

 The target for responding to 999 calls was 12 minutes if the need was 
‘immediate’ and 60 minutes if the need was ‘soon’ and response time 
figures for Lewisham could be provided. It was thought that targets were 
met in around 90 per cent of cases.

 Figures for staff absence were below average.
 Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) were valuable and Kate 

would fight to keep them but the numbers were going down due to 
attrition and new recruitment was on hold. No decisions had been taken 
on the future of PCSOs and there would be consultation prior to any 
decisions being taken.

3.13 Kate reported that she thought there were 670 police officers stationed in 
Lewisham at present, which was above the target of 647 by the end of 
2015. Councillor Mallory reported that figures he had obtained from the GLA 



suggested that Lewisham had 696 police officers in 2010, and 654 now 
representing a cut of 6 per cent. Lewisham had also had 118 PCSOs in 
2010, down to 46 now representing a cut of 61 per cent.

3.14 In response to questions from members of the Committee, the following 
points were noted:

 Kate would look into the impact, if any, that the reorganisation of the 
Probation Service had had on recalls.

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) was being taken very seriously and the 
police service was working closely with the eight secondary schools in 
the borough and was considering how best to engage with primary 
schools.

 Serious youth crime was down in the borough with 319 cases in 2012 
compared with 239 in 2014. However, there had been a spike last 
month which had been replicated across London and the MPS was 
looking into the reasons for this. Following the fatality in Sydenham 
High Street in June 2015, additional resources had been deployed and 
the gangs matrix reviewed.

 Targeted stop and search had a greater impact than random stop and 
search and from next year all stop and searches would be filmed by 
body worn video cameras, which should improve public confidence in 
the method.

 Most wards had one dedicated officer but the top one hundred most 
challenging wards in London had two; and five of these wards were in 
Lewisham.

 Every borough had a counter-terrorism officer including Lewisham. A 
number of officers were involved in the prevent strategy, which aimed to 
stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism, and they 
worked closely with the Council, local youth groups and local schools. 
Events had been held at Sedgehill and Deptford Green secondary 
schools to expose the reality of joining or supporting organisations such 
as Islamic State.

 The borough made best use of its vehicle fleet and sometimes 
accessed the fleets of other units based within the borough. Time and 
motion studies had been carried out to ensure the use of vehicles was 
maximised.

 Local knowledge was important to policing and there was a current 
initiative which encouraged Lewisham recruits to be based in 
Lewisham.

3.15 RESOLVED: That relevant performance figures including response times 
be requested from the Metropolitan Police Service.

4. Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet

4.1 RESOLVED: That a referral be made to the next Mayor and Cabinet meeting 
recommending that the Mayor requests a full briefing on Forest Hill Station’s 
second fire appliance and the relevant Mayoral Direction. 



The meeting ended at 9.30 pm

Chair: 
----------------------------------------------------

Date:
----------------------------------------------------



MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC SPENDING IN 
LEWISHAM WORKING GROUP

Tuesday, 22 September 2015 at 7.15 pm

PRESENT:  Councillors Liam Curran, Brenda Dacres, Alan Hall, Carl Handley, 
Jim Mallory, Jamie Milne, Hilary Moore, John Muldoon and Gareth Siddorn 

APOLOGIES: Councillor Pauline Morrison

ALSO PRESENT: David Austin (Head of Corporate Resources), Charlotte Dale (Interim 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager) and Barrie Neal (Head of Corporate Policy and 
Governance)

1. Minutes of the meetings held on 7 July and 28 July 2015

1.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meetings held on 7 and 28 July be 
signed as an accurate record.

2. Declaration of Interests

2.1 The following non-prejudicial interests were declared:

Councillor John Muldoon - the Lead Governor of the South London and 
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. 
Councillor Hall -  a governor at both the South London and Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust and the King’s College NHS Foundation Trust; a Board 
Member of Phoenix Community Housing; and chair of the Bellingham 
Health Forum. 

3. Public Spending in Lewisham: Draft report

3.1 The Chair introduced the draft report and a list of potential 
recommendations was circulated to members of the working group. The 
draft recommendations were agreed subject to two amendments and an 
additional recommendation. A draft conclusion was also circulated and 
agreed. The working group felt that the review had been a focussed and 
useful piece of work and looked forward to receiving a response to their 
recommendations from the Council and other participating organisations.

3.2 RESOLVED: That the draft conclusion be agreed and added to the report 
and that the following recommendations be agreed:

The Council

1. This review has highlighted both the steep reductions in spending being 
made by a wide range of organisations spending public money in Lewisham 
and the potential impact they may have on services to Lewisham residents. 
When agreeing its own budget and any proposals for savings, the Council 



2

must take into account the impact of the savings being made by other 
organisations and how these link to its own programme of expenditure 
reduction.

2. The Council and the other organisations that took part in this review should 
provide the following financial information to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on an annual basis (at the July meeting) in order to enable 
meaningful monitoring and comparison:

- Actual gross revenue expenditure and gross capital spend for the last 
three complete financial years

- Gross budgeted revenue expenditure and gross budgeted capital 
expenditure for the current financial year and following two years.
(Recommendation for contributing organisations in addition to the 

Council)

3. The Council needs to make sure it fully understands the complex public 
finances of the NHS and healthcare delivery when considering the changes 
that will be put forward as part of the Our Healthier South East London 
Strategy.

4. The formal partnership arrangements between the Mayor, Executive 
Members and Officers should be reviewed to ensure that they are robust 
enough to recognise the potential conflicts and solutions required to 
address the scale of the challenges that this review has identified.

5. The Council should reiterate its support for public consultation where major 
service changes are under consideration to ensure public confidence in our 
public services especially emergency services.

6. The Council should review the Housing Strategy to ensure proposed 
legislative, financial and regional policy changes are fully reflected.

7. If proposals for devolution in London are accepted by the Government, the 
Mayor and Executive Members should share their proposals with Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as soon as possible to facilitate constructive 
scrutiny and the most effective constitutional arrangements.

Business Panel

8. Business Panel is asked to consider the overall scrutiny work programme in 
light of the review findings, with a view to considering whether further work 
should be carried out; and request that the relevant select committees 
incorporate this work into their work programmes as a matter of priority.

London Ambulance Service (LAS)

9. The performance figures for Lewisham (Category A calls) are below target 
and below the figures being achieved in neighbouring boroughs including 
Southwark, Lambeth and Greenwich. The LAS should focus its attention on 



3

understanding and addressing the reasons behind this discrepancy, and 
report their findings to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

10. In 2014, police vehicles were used on 39 occasions to transport patients to 
hospital in Lewisham and 13 times so far this year (up to 21 August 2015). 
This puts an unnecessary strain on the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 
and the LAS should look into the reasons behind this, consider ways in 
which the impact on the MPS can be reduced and report their findings to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

London Fire Brigade (LFB)

11. The Mayoral Direction requiring the 13 appliances from across London 
currently being held for contingency purposes, to not be returned pending 
decisions on 2016/17 savings proposals, which could include their 
permanent removal, is of grave concern. The Mayor has already been 
asked to request a full briefing on Forest Hill Station’s second fire appliance 
and the relevant Mayoral Direction, from the London Fire Brigade, to be 
shared with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. (Recommendation for 
the Mayor)

12. In 2014/15 and in 2015/16 (to date) the six minute target for getting a first 
appliance to an incident has not been met in the Bellingham, Downham and 
Grove Park wards of Lewisham. The LFB should focus its attention on 
understanding and addressing the reasons behind this failure. This should 
include considering any impact caused by the removal of Forest Hill’s 
second appliance and the closure of Downham Fire Station; and 
considering what mitigating action might be taken to improve attendance 
times in these areas. The findings should be reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

13. Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) are valuable to the 
Community. However recruitment is currently on hold and the number of 
PCSOs in Lewisham is going down due to natural attrition.  In light of the 
cuts over the last five years, plans to potentially abolish the PCSOs in safer 
neighbourhood teams are of particular concern and the Mayor is asked to 
request a full briefing on the future of PCSOs in Lewisham from the MPS. It 
is expected that the Council will be fully consulted prior to any decisions 
being taken on this issue. (Recommendation for the Mayor)

14. The Metropolitan Police Service Commissioner has publically stated that 
the projected £800m of savings scheduled for the MPS over the next four 
years may put public safety at risk. The Mayor is asked to request a full 
briefing on any modelling that has been done to date to assess the likely 
impact that the savings will have on the borough of Lewisham. 
(Recommendation for the Mayor)

15. As soon as specific savings proposals are developed, the Borough 
Commander is asked to share these with the Council, highlighting the 



4

specific impact on the borough. The briefing should be shared with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Goldsmiths

16. Higher Education Institutions offering “high teaching quality” will be able to 
increase their tuition fees in line with inflation from 2017-18. Goldsmiths is 
asked to share any plans to increase its fees with the Council at the earliest 
opportunity, together with information on any schemes it operates to 
encourage students from deprived backgrounds to apply, including the 
excellence scholarships available for students from Lewisham.

17. The Council should develop a closer working relationship with Goldsmiths 
University, for example around community development issues.

Lewisham Southwark College

18. An Ofsted rating of 4 (inadequate) is not good enough for the approximately 
740 Lewisham 16-18 year olds studying at the College. However, the 
establishment of a new senior management team and the recent Ofsted 
monitoring visit which revealed improvements across all areas is 
heartening. The College needs to focus on achieving at least a Grade 3 
when it is next inspected. 

19. Plans to rationalise the number of campuses in Lewisham should be shared 
with the Council at the earliest opportunity.

20. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should convene an Inquiry into post-
16 education. (Recommendation for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee)

4. Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet

4.1 RESOLVED: That the report and recommendations be received at full 
Council on 23 September 2015 and provided to Mayor and Cabinet for a 
response on 21 October 2015.

The meeting ended at 8.20 pm

Chair: 
----------------------------------------------------

Date:
----------------------------------------------------



Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Title Declaration of interests

Contributor Chief Executive Item 3

Class Part 1 (Open) Date 26 October 2015

Declaration of interests

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda.

1. Personal interests

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct:

(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union).

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works.

(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.  

(g) Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough; and 



(b) either

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner. 

3. Other registerable interests

The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:-

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 
were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25

4. Non registerable interests

Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends). 

5. Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation

(a) Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000 

(b) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 



the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 
consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies.

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly.

(d) If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.  

(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer.

6. Sensitive information 

There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

7. Exempt categories

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:-

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 
or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor; 

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members 
(e) Ceremonial honours for members
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)



Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Title Devolution

Contributor Head of Corporate Policy and Governance Item 5

Class Part 1 (open) 26 October 2015

1. Purpose

1.1 This report provides Members with background information about devolution. It 
highlights practical considerations for Lewisham and indicates the emerging timeframe 
for changes in London. It should be noted that this is a rapidly developing area of 
policy – and that the implications of the latest announcements (on business rates, for 
example) are not sufficiently detailed enough to allow for a full analysis of their 
implications locally.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the report and to direct questions to officers in 
attendance at the meeting on 26 October.

3. Policy context

3.1 Government is putting in place measures to enable the sharing of powers and 
responsibilities between national and local government. The Local Democracy, 
Economic Development and Construction Act (2009) enabled the creation of 
‘combined authorities’ formed of voluntary groupings of local authorities to join up 
approaches on strategic issues such as transport, housing, regeneration and 
economic development.

3.2 The Localism Act (2011) gave local authorities a general power of competence, which 
broadened the range of options available for local authorities to drive improvement. 
The provisions of the Act also increased the powers of the Mayor of London over 
regeneration, policing and planning.

3.3 The Local Government Finance Act (2012) enabled local authorities to retain a share 
of the business rates and associated growth locally, as well as passing the 
responsibility for council tax reduction schemes to local areas.

3.4 The Cities and Local Government Devolution Bill (2015-16) will give further impetus to 
the development of combined authorities. The Bill is currently on its passage through 
the legislative process. It will enable local areas to take on a range of additional 
responsibilities, some of which will be granted in exchange for agreeing the post of a 
directly elected Mayor to take on accountability for devolved powers across a grouping 
of authorities. London boroughs are not permitted to enter into combined authority 
arrangements.



3.5 The Chancellor announced on 5 October 2015 that from 2020 local authorities would 
be able to retain business rates and that Government planned to end the revenue 
support grant system.

3.6 The Mayor of London and London Councils have developed a shared vision for 
devolution. The ‘London Proposition’ (2015) puts forward London’s offers to central 
government in terms of the efficiencies and growth it could create and the resources 
and responsibilities London authorities will need to bring about this change.

3.7 The London Assembly’s cross party devolution working group has also published a 
report (A New Agreement for London, 2015) on transfer of powers from central 
government to authorities in London. It makes the case for further fiscal devolution to 
London, as well as increased powers of scrutiny for the London Assembly.

3.8 Lewisham has a Sustainable Communities Strategy (2008-2020), which outlines 
Lewisham’s ambition for its communities to be:

 Ambitious and achieving – where people are inspired and supported to fulfil their 
potential

 Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial behaviour and 
abuse

 Empowered and responsible – where people are actively involved in their local 
area and contribute to supportive communities

 Clean, green and liveable – where people live in high quality housing and can care 
for and enjoy their environment

 Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being

 Dynamic and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities and 
town centres, well connected to London and beyond.

3.9 The Council also has ten corporate priorities. The issue of devolution is most closely 
associated with the priorities: community leadership and empowerment and inspiring 
efficiency, effectiveness and equity.

3.10 The Lewisham Future Programme is the Council’s organisational approach to meeting 
the financial pressures placed on it by central government. The Council is now in the 
sixth year of an expected ten year long period of resource reduction. In the period 
2010 to 2015, the Council made savings of over £120m. It is anticipated that there will 
be a requirement to identify £45m of savings over the next two years to 2017/18.

4. Devolution

4.1 Scotland’s referendum debate and the resulting discussion about the relationship 
between local, regional and national government has added momentum to calls for 
devolution of powers by other areas of the UK. Most notably, the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority has negotiated devolved powers over spending on transport, 
strategic planning, business support, housing investment, employment support as well 
as oversight of health and social care integration. The agreement with government 
means that the combined authority will be required to adopt a directly elected mayor, 
who will be accountable for these new areas of responsibility.



4.2 The following areas are also in the process of developing devolution deals, following 
agreement in principle from government:

 Cornwall Council
 Sheffield City Region
 West Yorkshire Combined Authority.

4.3 The London Assembly’s cross party joint working group on devolution was set up in 
2013 to consider the potential for fiscal devolution and to explore the possible 
mechanisms for governance of devolved resources. Its remit was broadened in 2014 
to examine the case for devolution of taxes and spending to London more broadly, 
including the scope of changes to the relationship between the Greater London 
Authority (GLA) and London’s boroughs.

4.4 It recommended that, following on from the success of the GLA arrangements in 
London, Government should commit to further fiscal devolution, including the 
devolution of property taxes and business rates. The case is made that the processes 
being put in place to bring fiscal devolution to Scotland and Wales could also be used 
to bring further autonomy to London. In addition, the working group recommended that 
London should have greater power over:

 skills and employment support
 suburban rail (by expanding the scope of Transport for London (TfL))
 public health (including the appointment of a London Health Commissioner).

4.5 It also recommended that future consideration should be given to:

 The potential for further integration of health and social care budgets, based on 
learning from the Greater Manchester Combined Authority

 Possible reforms to the criminal justice system in order to hold all parts of the 
system to account, as with the Metropolitan Police.

4.6 All UK local authorities were invited to submit devolution bids to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) by the end of the summer. 38 authorities1,
 including London, put forward bids for the devolution of powers. London’s bid, ‘The 
London Proposition’ makes the case for increased freedoms and flexibilities in order to 
bring about significant change in the delivery of strategic services. The Proposition 
sets out six objectives:

1. Large scale mobilisation of the long-term unemployed into jobs
2. A transformation of London’s skills system to deliver in-demand skills from the best 

performing providers
3. An environment in London for the best entrepreneurs, innovators and SME owners 

to grow their business
4. Lasting reforms to the policing and criminal justice system to secure for the future a 

safe city that brings business and investment to Britain
5. Faster reform of health and social care services

1September devolution bids: http://tinyurl.com/qzy9alk 

http://tinyurl.com/qzy9alk


6. Significant and sustainable home building across all types of tenure on a London 
wide scale, and a reduction in the costs on the public finances of homelessness 
and high cost housing.

4.7 The Proposition also states that in order to underpin the reforms: ‘London’s elected 
leaders and mayors at borough and London level will establish new pan-London 
governance arrangements to provide oversight over areas of newly devolved 
responsibilities’ (The London Proposition 2015, p5). Government is due to make an 
announcement on devolution deals as part of the spending review statement in 
November.

4.8 London boroughs are not permitted to enter into combined authority arrangements, 
however, a number of groupings of London boroughs have already begun to develop 
partnership arrangements to advocate for areas within London and to join up 
approaches in areas of common interest. They focus primarily on transport, 
employment support, work & skills, economic development and planning & 
regeneration:

 The North East London Strategic Alliance2

Barking & Dagenham, Enfield, Havering, Newham, Redbridge and Waltham 
Forest
The eight borough sub-regional partnership also includes:
Greenwich, Tower Hamlets

 The South London Partnership3

Bromley, Croydon, Kingston upon Thames, Merton, Richmond upon Thames, 
Sutton and Wandsworth

 West London Alliance4:
Barnet, Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, Harrow, Hillingdon, and Hounslow.

 Central London Forward5:
Camden, City of London, Islington, Kensington and Chelsea, Lambeth, 
Southwark, Westminster, Wandsworth

4.9 Each of the partnerships has begun exploring the potential for collaboration in key 
areas (both geographically and in terms of public services) in order to focus the 
benefits of devolution on sub-regional areas. Some have made specific bids for 
infrastructure funding, whilst others are joining up their approaches to skills 
development and business support through pilot projects. The proposal in the London 
Proposition is that the city-wide bid to Government will empower these borough 
groupings to focus activity on areas of mutual interest.

4.10 The London Proposition would also put in place new decision-making arrangements 
for devolved responsibilities at city level:

‘All areas of activity currently under the authority of the either the London Mayor, or 
London boroughs will remain separate from these partnership arrangement and 

2 NELSA: http://tinyurl.com/nsjol9d
3 The South London Partnership: http://tinyurl.com/qasbfwf
4 West London Alliance: http://tinyurl.com/qhbg2dk
5 Central London Forward: http://tinyurl.com/3xnukun

http://tinyurl.com/nsjol9d
http://tinyurl.com/qasbfwf
http://tinyurl.com/qhbg2dk
http://tinyurl.com/3xnukun


decision making on these matters will remain sovereign to each individual body’ (The 
London Proposition 2015, p6).

4.11 It is proposed that the 32 London Boroughs, the City of London and the Mayor of 
London be represented in a ‘London Congress’. The Congress would oversee the use 
of newly devolved powers. Decisions would be made by the Congress Executive, 
which would be formed of the Executive Committee of London Councils and the Mayor 
of London. Scrutiny for decisions made by the Congress would be carried out by the 
London Assembly for the London Mayor and by the scrutiny bodies of local authorities 
for borough executives.

4.12 The Mayor’s London Finance Commission (2012) recommended that a range of taxes 
(including business rates) be devolved to London. The Local Government Finance Act 
(2012) put in place measures to return a proportion of growth in business rates to local 
areas, above a predefined baseline. In London, a slice of the growth in business rates 
collected by boroughs is also paid to the GLA. The system includes a safety net to 
protect authorities from serious falls in revenue, as well as a system on tariffs and top-
ups6 to balance funding between areas with uneven concentrations of businesses. 
Under exiting arrangements, the GLA is also able to agree a business rate 
supplement to pay for major infrastructure improvements (such as Crossrail).

4.13 Government’s recent announcement7 that local authorities will be able to retain 100 
per cent of business rate revenue from 2020 was accompanied by the expectation that 
local government will also be required to take on additional (and as yet unknown) 
responsibilities. This will be combined with the withdrawal of the revenue support 
grant. The details of the new system have not yet been announced, however, it is 
likely that the implications for Lewisham will be significant – due to levels of service 
demand driven by demographic change and the borough’s historically low business 
base. Local authorities will be able to reduce business rates, but they will only be able 
to increase them with the agreement of businesses - and only for spending on 
infrastructure.

5. Timescales

5.1 The Chancellor is due to provide more details of devolution deals in his autumn 
statement at the end of November 2015. It is anticipated that permission will be given 
for the creation of new combined authorities with elected mayors to oversee their new 
functions. Local areas will also be expected to support the delivery of the 
Government’s on-going plans for deficit reduction and the sustained consolidation of 
public services. The Chancellor’s announcement will mark a significant stage in the 
devolution process. Nonetheless, changes in different areas are gathering momentum 
at an uneven pace, with differing and localised areas of focus.

5.2 The London Proposition puts forward a range of changes that are considered 
necessary to enable London to continue to continue to thrive. The majority of these 
are not accompanied by strictly defined timescales, however, there is clearly a sense 
of urgency associated with a number of the changes; in particular, the Proposition 

6 DCLG, business rate retention, a step by step guide: http://tinyurl.com/om4w72e
7 Treasury announcement on business rate retention: http://tinyurl.com/ppmyarr

http://tinyurl.com/om4w72e
http://tinyurl.com/ppmyarr


raises the opportunity to carry out some pilot work in the autumn of 2015. Other key 
dates are set out below:

 September 2015: submissions of devolution bids by to the Chancellor
It is anticipated that the Chancellor will make a further announcements as part of 
the autumn statement in November 2015.

 The London Proposition sets out the ambition to create a London Skills Steering 
Group and develop three pilot projects in autumn 2015.

 London mayoral election in May 2016
 The Proposition puts forward a bid for the devolution of skills funding to the Mayor 

of London by 2017 as well as devolution of all business support funding and 
programmes to the Mayor from 2017/18.

 The Proposition also highlights changes to the facilities management 
arrangements for the Department of Work and Pensions in 2018, which might 
create opportunities for co-location.

 The London Assembly’s devolution working group put forward the case for 
suburban rail services to be run by TfL. It identified the Southeastern franchise in 
2018 as one possible option for devolution.

 From 2020, local authorities will keep the business rates they collect and 
Government will move to end the revenue support grant.

6. Legal implications

6.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendation in this report. However, there are likely to be legal implications 
arising from the changes that have been identified, these will need to be considered in 
due course.

7. Financial implications

7.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendation in this report; however, there will be implications arising from the 
changes that have been identified. These will need to be considered in due course.

8. Further implications

8.1 There are no specific equalities, sustainability or crime and disorder implications 
arising from the implementation of the recommendation in this report.

Appendices

A: Mayor of London/London Councils: The London Proposition
B: London Assembly Devolution Working Group: A New Agreement for London
C: Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group: final report (conclusion only)

For further information about this report contact Timothy Andrew, Principal Officer, Policy 
Service Design and Analysis on 020 8 314 7916



THE LONDON PROPOSITION



 
 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk                                                                   London Councils 
More London                                                                                            59½ Southwark Street 
London SE1 2AA                                                                                      London SE1 0AL 
Switchboard: 020 7983 4000                                                                    Switchboard: 020 7934 9999 
Email: mayor@london.gov.uk                                                                 Email: info@londoncouncils.gov.uk 
 
    

  
Rt Hon George Osborne MP 
First Secretary of State  
Chancellor of the Exchequer  
HM Treasury Date: 04/09/15 
1 Horse Guards Road 
London SW1A 2HQ  
 
Rt Hon Greg Clark MP 
Secretary of State 
Department for Communities and Local Government 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear George and Greg, 
 
Devolution and Public Service Reform in London 
 
We wrote to you in July setting out the thoughts of London’s Government – the Mayor and 
the boroughs – in respect of further devolution and public service reform in the capital. 
 
Since then, and partly in response to points raised by your officials, we have further developed 
our work on a joint London Proposition. We know that you have announced that you expect to 
receive such submissions by the end of today. The London Proposition is attached as a platform 
for further joint discussion amongst our respective officials and politically. 
 
We look forward to discussing this further with you in the coming weeks. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Boris Johnson                                                                    Mayor Jules Pipe    
Mayor of London                                                                     Chair, London Councils 
 
Enc. 



1 
 

The London Proposition  
 
 
 
Introduction  2 

Governing in Partnership  6 

Employment and Complex Dependency  8 

Skills 15 

Enterprise Support  27 

Crime and Justice 37 

Health and Care  43 

Housing  55 

Borough Groupings and Sub Regional Working 62 

Conclusion  64 

Appendix     A: Employment: ‘Local hubs’ – improving resident experiences and  
employment outcomes through co-location and integration 

66 

Appendix     B: Employment - Local Employment Support System Diagrams 69 

Appendix     C: Employment - Detailed “Asks” Of Government 72 

Appendix     D: Skills - London’s Economy 77 

Appendix     E: Skills - The current post-16 skills and education landscape  83 

Appendix     F: Skills - Evidence from the LEP Skills Inquiry 87 

Appendix     G: Skills- Approach for a devolved Skills system in London 90 

 
  



2 
 

The London Proposition  

Strengthening the engine of the nation’s growth to boost national productivity.  
 
Boosting growth and productivity across the nation are the stand out economic issues of this 
Parliament.  London is key to this challenge and this paper sets out how London’s elected 
leaders and mayors at borough and London level intend to work together to deliver reforms 
that will enable the Government to achieve the national policy goals of: 

• Internationally competitive growth in productivity;  

• Jobs and homes for working families; 

• Efficient public services that tackle complex dependency at its root causes and avoid 
the massive public expenditure cost of failure. 

 
London is the most productive region in the country and inner London has a GVA per hour 
worked that is 42% above the UK average.1  Businesses which are headquartered in 
London account for between 5 per cent and 22 per cent of employment in each of the other 
62 cities in the UK. Since 2008, firms headquartered in London have increased the number 
of people they employ in their branches in 49 of 62 cities outside of the capital.2       
 
London leads growth across the whole country and must provide the engine that raises 
productivity nationally.  However, without reform the pursuit of these goals will result in both 
a drop in the UK’s international competitiveness and ballooning costs to deal with 
homelessness, unemployment and low skills that will eclipse the £12bn of welfare savings 
identified in Budget 2015.  
 
The complexity and scale of the challenges facing London are unique and only an ambitious 
new settlement across all tiers of Government will provide a sustainable solution.    
 
Rates of entrenched unemployment – particularly caused by poor physical and mental health 
– and low skills are unacceptably high for London to be an internationally competitive city.  In 
2013 London had 30,000 skill shortage vacancies3.  This is denting confidence in the 
capital’s economy and contributing to the flat lining in rates of productivity - two-thirds of 
firms report difficulty in recruiting highly skilled people, including specialists in IT/technology 
(20%), creative (14%) and finance and engineering (12%).4     

Complex dependency, driven by the often interrelated issues of poor physical and mental 
health, unemployment, re-offending and poor educational attainment, is having massive 
public expenditure consequences.  An analysis of London’s 2,093 high risk / prolific 
offenders shows that they were  responsible for 53,267 offences at a total cost of £163m 

                                                
1 ONS, Sub-regional Productivity, February 2015  
2 Centre for Cities (2014), Cities Outlook 2014, pp.20-21 
3 UKCES, ‘UK Commission’s Employer Skills Survey 2013’, January 2014 
4 CBI/KPMG London Business Survey September 2014 



3 
 

while it is estimated that the 430,000 unemployed people in London5  are costing the  tax 
payer £4bn6 and the economy approximately £6bn in lost economic output a year.   

The twin strains of managing the consequences of failure along with continued reductions in 
overall public spending7 are creating acute pressures and severely limiting London’s 
capacity to meet the demands created by the capital’s population growth.  The 
consequences of this are far reaching – for instance, London faces a shortfall of 78,275 
primary school places and 34,835 secondary school places by 20208  

These pressures manifest themselves most severely in chronic shortage of housing which is 
deeply damaging to communities and is undermining London’s attractiveness to business 
with half of all employers saying they would consider leaving if house prices and 
rents in London continue to rise at present rates.  London has the assets to tackle this – 
for example, the NHS alone has an estimated £1.5bn of surplus land and property in the 
capital – but we are failing, quickly and efficiently, to realise the full potential of those assets 
to deliver economic and social benefits to our communities.  It is taking too long both to 
realise the capital receipts from these surplus land and property assets, or to release these 
assets for redevelopment. 

London’s offer  
This paper sets out a series on inter-related reforms that London Government wishes to 
deliver to provide a sustainable solution to tackling these deep seated challenges to unlock 
the full growth potential of the capital and, in doing so, achieve:  
 

1. Large scale mobilisation of the long term unemployed into jobs, ensuring that all 
of London’s communities are able to share in its growth and contributing to the goal 
of the UK having the highest employment rate in the G7 
 

2. A transformation of London’s skills system to deliver in-demand skills from the 
best performing providers driving up investment from individuals and employers in 
professional, digital and technical training and enabling Londoners to access the 
basic and higher level skills they need to compete in London’s thriving jobs market. 

 
3. An environment in London for the best entrepreneurs, innovators and SME 

owners to grow their business supported by excellent, accessible advice, high 
quality tailored services, supported by bespoke digital tools and targeted 
engagement. 
 

4. Lasting reforms to the policing and criminal justice system to secure for the 
future a safe city that brings business and investment to Britain.    

 

                                                
5 Over 120,000 residents (2.1% of the London’s working age population) are claiming Jobseekers Allowance 15% of total 
number JSA claimants in the UK and over 314,000 residents (5.5% of London’s working age population) are claiming 
Employment and Support Allowance & Incapacity Benefits. This represents 13% of total ESA & Incapacity Benefit claimants in 
the UK.  
6 Source: http://neweconomymanchester.com/stories/832-unit_cost_database (uprated figures based on 2012/13 ones 
7 Recent analysis from the Institute of Fiscal Studies (IFS)7 has shown that London boroughs have seen the largest cuts to 
service spending per person since 2010  
8 Do the Maths: London’s School Place Challenge, September 2015, London Councils  

http://neweconomymanchester.com/stories/832-unit_cost_database


4 
 

5. Faster reform of health and social care services, building on the proposals of the 
London Health Commission, to deliver swifter improvements in the health of 
Londoners and faster reductions on the cost pressures on London public services. 
 

6. Significant and sustainable home building across all types of tenure on a 
London wide scale, and a reduction in the costs on the public finances of 
homelessness and high cost housing, contributing to the creation of an effective 
land and housing market for London, the South East and the UK as a whole that 
ensures the goal of homeownership goes with the grain of increasing the overall 
supply of housing rather than severely undermining it.  
 

In return, London Government is asking for a package of freedoms and flexibilities that will 
enable these reforms and put them on a sustainable financial footing for the future.  We are 
keen to explore the development of a self-financing growth and reform model to help finance 
the transition costs and which could potentially provide a mechanism that will enable London 
to capture the upside of growth and re-invest it on a revolving basis into reforming local 
services which, in turn, will create the conditions for more productive and prosperous local 
communities. 
 
This paper presents propositions across six themes, each of them interrelated: Employment 
and Complex Dependency; Skills; Enterprise Support; Crime & Justice; Health; Housing.  
Each section is structured to present both London’s core devolution proposition and 
London’s offers to Government.      
 
Together these propositions provide an integrated package of proposals that should be seen 
as a whole system, with each element supporting integrated working at a local level, and 
providing a platform upon which authorities and groups of authorities can bring services and 
interventions together to deliver effective outcomes in their localities: 
 

• Tackling complex dependency and avoiding the cost of failure through an 
integrated package of reform that would look to both prevent demand developing in 
the first place – by ensuring that Londoners have the skills to compete in an 
internationally completive labour market – and to dramatically reduce the cost of 
failure where it does occur by ensuring the resource of local public services – from 
GPs and Jobcentres to the Police and councils – is used efficiently to provide the 
right support, in the right way and at the right time to address the interrelated 
problems of unemployment, poor mental and physical health, low skills and the risk 
of re-offending. 
 

• Mobilising a highly skilled, highly productive labour force through delivering a   
comprehensive package of employment support programmes that provide quicker, 
easier access to the range of help needed for people to find work and to have the 
chance to progress, including those with poor physical and mental health, and a new 
skills system for London that puts employers in the driving seat and prioritises 
increased productivity, sustainable employment outcomes and progression in work.   
 



5 
 

• Tackling barriers to increasing the supply of housing across all types of tenure 
to create prosperous, mixed communities that can drive productivity, support 
enterprise and share in the capital’s wealth - through delivering a comprehensive 
package of reforms to public and private land assembly, levers over planning and 
financing, and the Temporary Accommodation regime to achieve a step increase in 
home building which can be sustained over many years.   

 
The proposition has been designed as a platform upon which voluntary groupings of 
authorities can build and it should be recognised that these partnerships have further 
ambitions in relation to the growth, reform and development in their local areas.  
 
 
Together, the reforms will ensure that London’s economy, public services and the £93bn of 
public spending in the capital work in support of raising productivity and contributing in a 
meaningful and substantial way to reducing public sector net debt and putting spending 
reductions on a sustainable footing.  Without them, these national policy goals will be put at 
serious risk with far reaching consequences for productivity and public finances.   
 
To underpin these reforms, London’s elected leaders and mayors at borough and London 
level will establish new pan-London governance arrangements to provide oversight over 
areas of newly devolved responsibilities.     
 
 

 
 
 
  



6 
 

Governing London in Partnership 
 
Governing in partnership will require new decision making arrangements which will only 
have oversight over areas of newly devolved responsibilities. It will need to take account of 
the governance arrangements agreed with Government for specific functional areas (i.e. 
skills, housing, health etc.) considered in the following paragraphs 
 
All areas of activity currently under the authority of either the London Mayor, or London 
boroughs will remain separate from these partnership arrangements and decision making on 
these matters will remain sovereign to each individual body. 
 
This pan-London partnership will be delivered through a structure based on the London 
Congress and the Congress Executive:  

• The Congress would have strategic oversight for newly devolved responsibilities 
across Greater London. 

• The membership of the Congress will be the 32 London boroughs, the City of London 
and the Mayor of London. 

o Congress will meet twice yearly to agree overall budgets, business plans and 
to review outcomes; 

o Decisions by Congress will require the assent of both the Mayor of London 
and also London borough Leaders in accordance with the principles set out 
below. 

• The Congress Executive will provide oversight for areas of devolved responsibility on 
behalf of Congress.  

• The Congress Executive will be comprised of the members of the Executive 
Committee of London Councils and the Mayor of London. 

o The rules for selecting the members of London Councils’ Executive 
Committee will remain as they are currently; 

• It is expected that decisions of the Congress Executive would normally be on a 
consensual basis.  

o Should any formal decision be required by the Congress Executive, then it 
would need the support of both 80% of the London Councils’ Executive 
Committee members and also of the London Mayor. 

• Some matters may be defined as reserved matters. Decisions on reserved matters 
could not be made by the Congress Executive and would instead be passed to the 
full Congress for decision. 

• Some of those issues where a matter for decision has been defined as a reserved 
matter for the full Congress may in addition be further specified as requiring a higher 
threshold for agreement.  

o This threshold will be 26 of the 33 authorities represented on London 
Councils Leaders Committee. The London Mayor will also have to agree to 
these proposals before they become the policy of the Congress. 

• It will be for the London Mayor and London borough Leaders to define which matters 
have this higher threshold. However, it is primarily to be reserved for use when 
agreeing the framework for the operation of specific newly devolved public service 
responsibilities. 

 



7 
 

 
Clearly this pan-London governance system will need to be balanced by the establishment 
of effective and appropriate scrutiny arrangements. Borough arrangements are already in 
place to scrutinise outcomes in local areas. The London Assembly has a similarly critical role 
in providing scrutiny of the Mayor of London. By extension, the Assembly would be reviewing 
the Mayor’s actions in respect of newly devolved functions; and for the purposes of this duty, 
they have the power to investigate any matter which they consider to be of importance to 
Greater London. It will be important to recognise this aspect of London’s governance.   
 
In some areas borough partnerships will be the preferred operational leadership for 
newly devolved responsibilities. These partnerships may vary depending upon the 
service or policy area and boroughs themselves would be responsible for agreeing 
decision-making machinery.  
 
It will clearly be important that the governance arrangements meet the standards of 
accountability that Government will set in respect of processes and funding.  The proposal is 
therefore to utilise voluntary joint committee arrangements formed under Section 101 of the 
1972 Local Government Act.  We would need the Government’s support to ensure:  
 

• That such voluntary committees are considered capable by Government 
Departments of receiving appropriate delegations and funding as part of a devolved 
settlement in specific service areas. 

• That voting rules do not preclude the protection of minority interests (i.e. 50% + 1, 
would not provide protection between boroughs or between boroughs and the 
Mayor). 

• That such joint committees remain capable of being entered into and being left by 
individual participating authorities rather than by external direction.  
 

Such committees must be recognised as having been formed under their members' own 
constitutional arrangements and as being able to determine their operations, decision-
making and other processes voluntarily. 

 
 
  



8 
 

Employment and Complex Dependency 
 
Strategic Context  
 
Strong employment growth over the last two years has led to substantial reductions in the 
number of people claiming Jobseekers Allowance, with the claimant count now back to 
historically low, pre-recession levels. With cyclical joblessness receding, the stand-out labour 
market priority in London for the coming years is to tackle long term unemployment and 
structural worklessness9. Evidence and experience suggests that this will not reduce simply 
as a result of a more buoyant economy. 
 
This poses a major challenge for London, where a significant minority of citizens remain 
locked out from the social and economic benefits of work, while often also facing a wider 
range of complex needs. Moreover, the resulting high costs and high demand continues to 
fall on overstretched public services and puts further upward pressure on the benefits bill; all 
over a period of further planned reductions in public spending (including in the area of 
working age welfare). 
 
In this context, London’s political leaders seek a partnership with central government to 
spread the benefits of employment, while addressing the root causes of complex 
dependency. We want to work with the government to deliver on its manifesto commitments 
to halve the disability employment gap and reduce welfare expenditure through increasing 
employment, while also fulfilling the previous commitment to co-commission the next phase 
of the Work Programme with London.  
 
London’s Core Employment Support Devolution Propositions  
 
Our aspiration is to use a partnership between central and local government in London to 
shape a different and better system of employment support for disadvantaged people. We 
also want to use the opportunities of devolution to drive greater efficiency and value for 
money from public resources dedicated to employment support and related services (while 
aiming to reduce long term demand for such services and future expenditure). This is 
essential given the government’s framework for the Spending Review. 
 
We want to focus our efforts in particular on those groups – such as ESA claimants and 
others with complex needs – where there is either no national offer or where national 
programmes have been less effective. Therefore, to address worklessness and increase the 
employment rate in London, it will be essential to design employment support services which 
can be positive and effective for disadvantaged people and develop new and better ways to 
engage them. This will require central and local government to work together to deliver 

                                                
9 The number of people in work in London has risen substantially, around 1.2 million, since the early 1990s (from 
3.0 million to 4.2 million). However, over this same period, the number of economically inactive residents has also 
gone up by around 300,000 (from 1.0 million to 1.3 million). There are 900,000 working age economically inactive 
Londoners, excluding students. 
 



9 
 

significant changes to the culture and content of the employment system, including greater 
overall investment and meaningful integration of services around the needs of individuals. 
 
As part of a devolution deal, London is prepared to make a significant investment, 
through cash and services, to achieve this goal. In return, we would expect to co-design 
and co-commission a new employment system with a financing arrangement that shares the 
proceeds of success with local government in London. To maximise both local contributions 
and local impact, we suggest the Treasury pilots an ‘invest to save’ proposition in London, 
which would establish a mechanism for recycling investment into reducing worklessness and 
complex dependency over the longer term. 
 
Our propositions for devolution in this area are organised around two related objectives: 

A. Integrating and enhancing the support provided to out of work residents by national 
and local government through the joint development of ‘local hubs’ as part of the 
transition to a new welfare system under Universal Credit;  
 

B. Improving employment support for the most disadvantaged residents, where extra 
investment and more integrated services are needed to secure better employment 
outcomes and deliver significant reductions in welfare expenditure. 

 
A: Integrated ‘Local Hubs’ Under Universal Credit 
 
The joint development of co-located ‘local hubs’ can offer customers an integrated ‘front 
door’ to JobcentrePlus support and other employment and skills-related local support, forged 
alongside the implementation of Universal Credit. Building on the USDL pilots10, such ‘local 
hubs’ would improve the service experience and employment prospects for local residents 
(including DWP customers), by providing quicker, easier access to the range of help needed 
to find and sustain work. It would also enable greater collaboration among frontline staff 
working across different services or agencies. In addition, the approach to co-location 
required to establish ‘local hubs’ would deliver reduced estate and facilities management 
costs for DWP.  
 
Appendix A provides greater detail on how co-location and integration could drive improved 
experiences and outcomes, as a starting point for developing a framework service model for 
‘local hubs’. This would have the following key features: 
 
STRUCTURE: FUNCTIONS: 
Single front door to local employment support – 
co-locating frontline DWP/JCP services and 
other, relevant local provision. 

Upfront diagnostic and triage – including the 
Claimant Commitment. 

Integrated employment support teams – involving 
JCP Work Coaches, local authority employment 
coaches, and others from local partners, such as 
the VCS. 

Supported ‘self-help’ for mainstream jobseekers 
(including use of digital channels under UC). 

Close and formal links to relevant wider services Rapid signposting or referral to training, health 

                                                
10 There are three USDL pilots in London. Islington; Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark; Westminster 
and Kensington and Chelsea. The pilots aim to deliver learning about the best ways of preparing 
claimants for UC implementation, by bringing together advice on employment, housing, financial and 
digital inclusion for welfare claimants who require intensive support. They can therefore inform the 
development of ‘local hubs’ in London.  



10 
 

and support, ideally with co-located link worker to 
provide light-touch help and facilitate referrals. 

services (including drugs & alcohol support), 
housing assistance, debt advice or digital support 
plus other relevant local services.  

Strategic and coordinated links to local employers 
– including to source opportunities for work 
experience, volunteering, work trials etc. 

Light-touch, practical in-work support for those at 
risk of becoming unemployed. 
Single point of access for employers to engage 
with employment support programmes. 
Links to Section 106 Agreements and Community 
Infrastructure Levy job opportunities. 

Local partnership forum for joint decision making 
and problem solving (e.g. on issues of data 
sharing).  

Early engagement / intervention for those with 
health conditions (e.g. sick leave and ESA 
assessment phase). 

No change in employment status or management 
chains for those involved. 

Referral where necessary to specialist support / 
intensive employment support programme(s). 

 
Overall, the aim would be to establish a new ‘front end’ for a single local employment 
system, tailored to the particular needs and circumstances of areas of London and drawing 
on the strengths of both local and national government. As part of this, ‘local hubs’ would 
aim to reduce demand for more specialist (and expensive) employment support provision, by 
intervening early and providing integrated, wrap around support to help people to stay in 
work, return to work quickly and progress into better paid jobs, including those with a health 
condition. 
 
B: Improved Employment Support for the Most Disadvantaged Residents 
 
This will be achieved through central and local government jointly designing and 
commissioning employment support for disadvantaged residents in London, on a sub-
regional basis reflecting local priorities. This would use the framework of devolution to 
achieve extra investment and meaningful integration of support around an agreed cohort, 
drawing in funding and expertise from across key national programmes and local areas. In 
addition to promoting sustained employment outcomes and wider reductions in complex 
dependency, this would also aim to reduce duplication of services, make efficient use of 
resources and overcome sector boundaries. In addition, financial incentives and 
performance transparency would ensure a focus on employment outcomes for the cohort, 
while enabling the rewards of success to be re-invested in further rounds of support.  
 
Drawing on discussions with DWP and other Whitehall colleagues to date, we suggest there 
are two models for how central and local government could work together to achieve these 
objectives. These options depend significantly on key outstanding policy and funding 
decisions in relation to Work Programme Plus, such as cohort, volumes and pricing (so 
specific numbers and examples should be taken as illustrative). The options are based on 
the current suite of out of work benefits, though of course would need to be compatible with 
Universal Credit as it is fully rolled-out. 
 
In the first model, the local contributions to employment support would be matched by DWP 
DEL to create a ‘joint pot’ which would be used to finance a sub-regional employment 
programme supporting a cohort of disadvantaged residents ‘carved out’ from Work 
Programme Plus. Attempts should also be made through this model to pool other national 
funding streams focused on the same cohort within this programme. Work Programme Plus 
and the sub-regional employment programme would operate in parallel, but across the same 



11 
 

geography, receiving referrals from the ‘local hubs’ in their patch. The outlines of this model 
are set out below: 
 
MODEL 1: PARALLEL EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMMES (referral from ‘local hubs’) 

Work Programme Plus Sub-regional employment programme 
Supporting long term JSA claimants (over 12 
months), plus perhaps some early access 
groups. 

Supporting a cohort ‘carved out’ from Work 
Programme Plus (e.g. ESA + more complex 
JSA groups). 

Goal – sustained employment outcomes. Goal – sustained employment + reduced 
complex dependency (related to substance 
misuse, homelessness, and long term poor 
health). 

Funded by DWP DEL. Funded by ‘joint pot’ of DWP DEL + matched 
local contributions (and any other national 
funding stream for cohort), to achieve a higher 
unit price.  

Commissioned and procured by DWP. Commissioned jointly between DWP and the 
sub-region; procured by the sub-region. 

Prime provider, ‘black box’. Intensive 1-to-1 job coaching + integration of 
wider support within the programme (including 
a proportion of devolved adult skills budget and 
potentially ESF). Plus service level 
agreements, or access protocols, with other 
local public services outside the programme. 

Operating across agreed sub-regional 
geographies. 

Operating across agreed sub-regional 
geographies. 

Payment by results for provider. Outcome funded, plus ensuring support for all 
participants (and piloting an AME:DEL 
financing element to incentivise over-
performance). 

Financial return to HMT from lower benefit 
payments and higher tax/NI receipts. 

Financial return from lower benefit payments 
and higher tax/NI receipts shared between 
HMT and local area. 

 
In the second model, there would be a single specialist employment programme for 
disadvantaged residents in each of London’s sub-regions. Local contributions would be 
pooled with DWP DEL (for Work Programme Plus) to finance the programme, which would 
be co-designed and co-commissioned between DWP and sub-regions. Under this model the 
same attempts should be made to pool and integrate other national funding streams focused 
on the agreed cohort within such a programme.  
 
The key difference in this second model is that ‘local hubs’ – with JobcentrePlus at their 
heart – would be responsible for supporting (non-complex) JSA claimants for longer 
(perhaps for up to 18 months). For those out of work over six or nine months, more 
dedicated Work Coach time should be provided, alongside access to ‘spot purchased’ 
additional provision. Such an approach would reduce referrals to more expensive 
programme provision, give ‘local hubs’ and JobcentrePlus a clear remit around early 
intervention and prevention of long term unemployment, and enable resources to be focused 
on more disadvantaged groups (while avoiding the complexities of two programmes).  
 
This approach would also ‘go with the grain’ of demand for employment support in London, 
which is increasingly among those on health-related benefits and those with no obligations to 
engage in support (e.g. ESA assessment phase and support group, and non-claimant 



12 
 

unemployed). The current Work Programme cohorts have either significantly declined (in the 
case of long term JSA) or have been squeezed by other factors (in the case of ESA WRAG) 
since 2011.  
 
There is, therefore, a significant prize from re-designing the local employment system in 
ways that could drive greater engagement among these so-called ‘non-mandatory’ groups, 
who are outside the scope of DWP programmes and have historically volunteered for such 
programmes in very small numbers. Local government, with its local partners, have existing 
connections and relationships with such residents that could be drawn on to improve rates of 
engagement and employment outcomes among those groups who now dominate the 
unemployed and workless cohort. 
 
The key differences between Model 1 and Model 2 are summarised below:  
 
MODEL 2: INTENSIVE ‘LOCAL HUBS’ SUPPORT + SINGLE SUB-REGIONAL EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMME 

 
• Instead of referring JSA claimants at 12 months duration, JobcentrePlus (as part of ‘local 

hubs’) would support them for longer, perhaps until the 18 month point.  
• This would include more intensive (though still relatively low cost) support from the six or nine 

month point, via dedicated Work Coach time and access to ‘spot purchased’ additional 
provision  

• Such an approach would aim to focus resources on more disadvantaged groups – while 
embedding a remit for JobcentrePlus and ‘local hubs’ focused on early intervention and 
prevention. 

• Funding for the sub-regional employment programme would come from a ‘joint pot’ of DWP 
Work Programme Plus DEL for the sub-region and local contributions (plus any funding from 
other national programmes focused on the same cohorts which could be pulled in). 

• Referral to the sub-regional employment programme would be at (say) the 18 month point for 
JSA claims, in addition to ESA WRAG and JSA claimants with complex needs who would be 
given earlier access.  

• Efforts would also be made to drive higher levels of engagement and better employment 
outcomes among non-mandatory groups. 

 
Beyond this, the design of the sub-regional employment programme would be as described in 
Model 1. 
 
APPENDIX B sets out how each of the two models described above could operate, 
alongside ‘local hubs’ as part of a single local employment system in London’s sub-regions. 
It also includes a schema for how a financing model for a sub-regional employment 
programme for disadvantaged residents could operate. To unlock local contributions, it 
would be vital for the funding and financing arrangement to be structured as an investment 
proposition, with the prospect of a return from success, in just the same way as applies to 
central government and contracted providers in this area. 
 
 
Key ‘Asks’ Of Government 
 
To achieve the two objectives outlined above – through a reformed local employment system 
– London has five headline ‘asks’ of government (further details are included at Annex C):  
 

1. DWP to work with London to develop a model of ‘local hubs’, integrating 
JobcentrePlus Work Coaches and other local employed-related services, to 



13 
 

maximise the potential of estate co-locations and Universal Credit to improve 
experiences and outcomes for residents.  
 

2. DWP to co-design and co-commission with London’s sub-regions an employment 
programme for a cohort of disadvantaged residents, which tests the impact of more 
investment and greater integration for this group, jointly funded by central and local 
government 
 

3. Other government departments – in particular DoH, CLG and BIS – to promote 
employment outcomes themselves and work with London to pool funding and 
integrate services for an agreed cohort of disadvantaged residents, through a single, 
sub-regional employment programme, as well as revisiting relevant national statutory 
duties and eligibility criteria which may inhibit effective targeted delivery of integrated 
services.   

 
4. HMT to agree to test an ‘invest to save’ element of financing as part of an 

employment programme for disadvantaged groups in London’s sub-regions, to 
incentivise high levels of performance and maximise local contributions as an 
investment proposition.  

 
5. DWP to align the contract package areas (CPAs) for all future contracted 

employment programmes, including Work Programme Plus, with London’s four sub-
regions, and shift JobcentrePlus districts in the capital to match the same 
geographies. 

 
London’s ‘Offers’ 
 
As part of a devolution deal, London is committed to playing an active role in tackling 
worklessness and complex dependency in the capital over the course of the next spending 
review period.  
 
The range of unknowns and outstanding Ministerial decisions in relation to future 
employment support prevent London from being able to specify at this stage what local 
contributions might be possible, or the monetised value of such contributions. Individual 
boroughs, the sub-regions and the GLA are currently considering the type and level of inputs 
that could be available, depending on what they would be contributing to and on what terms. 
However, our starting point is a clear commitment to make a significant contribution 
that combines direct cash and dedicated services. Given the considerable pressure on 
local government finances, the former would only be available where a deal could be 
constructed as an investment proposition, with the potential to deliver a return.  
 
In relation to co-location and integration – we are committed to working with DWP to develop 
a framework for integrating the ‘front door’ to local employment-related services around the 
Universal Credit target operating model, with the aim of improving customer experiences and 
employment outcomes. As part of this collaboration, London boroughs will identify potential 
sites for such co-located ‘local hubs’, in time to be considered as part of DWP’s new estate 
and facilities management arrangements from April 2018. 
 
In relation to employment support for disadvantaged groups – we are committed to working 
with Ministers and officials across Whitehall (especially DWP, CLG, DoH and HMT) to 



14 
 

develop a new model for supporting a disadvantaged cohort into sustainable employment, in 
line with the timeframe for contracting Work Programme Plus for delivery to start in summer 
2017. As part of this endeavour, London is prepared to invest financially and to share 
responsibility and accountability for programme performance (in return for co-design, co-
commissioning and rewards for success). This is particularly important for people with 
multiple needs who may not meet the threshold for any specialist service, but when looked 
at holistically their support needs, vulnerabilities and the risks they present are often greater 
than those who do qualify for specialist support.  For example, people with Personality 
Disorder – of which there are an estimated 26,900 people in London11  may not qualify for 
Care Programme Approach – the system used by the NHS to asses, plan and co-ordinate 
services for people with mental health needs.  Similarly, homeless individuals who have not 
been verified as sleeping rough may not be eligible for most supported homeless 
hostels.  The silos created by nationally determined criteria create a major barrier to 
providing the right support at the right time and in the right way to systematically tackle the 
causes of complex dependency.    
 
This joint work will also need to encompass instances in which nationally set criteria or 
statutory duties inhibit the ability of local areas to redesign support services to target those 
cohorts agreed with Government as being in priority need and representing a high cost 
across the public sector.  
 
Over and above these asks and offers, London would also be keen to explore other, 
innovative opportunities for securing additional investment in employment support, such as 
via joint commissioning and pooled budgets with local CCGs (where employment outcomes 
support improved well-being and reduced demand for health services). Such a model could 
be supported by a national Better Care Fund-style pot to test joint health and employment 
activity (run through the new joint DWP/DoH unit). 
 
In conclusion, as the spending review process develops, London stands ready to work with 
the government to pursue our shared goal of reducing worklessness and complex 
dependency. 
  

                                                
11 The London mental Health Report, 2014, GLA 



15 
 

A Devolved and Reformed Skills System for London  
 
Strategic Context 
 
London is a thriving global city with a strong, growing economy, and growing population. The 
economic success of the capital has been driven by an increasingly connected and global 
economy specialising in financial, professional and technical services. This in turn has 
created strong demand for highly skilled, highly productive labour, which is expected to 
continue to rise at a faster rate than in the rest of the UK.  London’s population levels are 
also rising significantly. The working age population is projected to increase from 5.7 million 
in 2011 to over 6.6 million by 2036.  This includes a growing 16 to 18 year old population, 
which is set to expand to 323,600 by 2032.  In order to meet this demand and with 
decreasing national funding available for skills, we need to maximise the efficiency and 
responsiveness of the skills system to enable Londoners to compete successfully for the 
capital’s jobs. 
 
Despite the capital’s economic success, productivity has remained relatively static since 
2008 (as across the UK) and businesses cite skills shortage vacancies as contributing to this 
issue12. At the same time, relatively high proportions of Londoners are unable to access the 
employment opportunities on their doorsteps, resulting in higher rates of unemployment and 
economic inactivity. There are also more households in poverty than in the rest of the UK, 
even among those in work13. Indeed, London is the only area of the UK where there are 
more LHA claimants that are in work than out of work. 

Whilst standards of education in London’s schools and universities rank as some of the best 
in the country (and in the world), the overall success rates of some of London’s further 
education colleges lag the rest of the country.  London has seen a dramatic increase in its 
Key Stage 4 performance over recent years. The percentage of young people achieving five 
or more A* to C grades at GCSE is higher than in any other region in the country.  The 
proportion of young people achieving level 3 by 19 has also risen significantly over time and 
is 6% above the national average.   56% of young Londoners went to a Higher Education 
Institution (HEI) compared to 48% nationally.  

The London FE sector also faces specific pressures in London not felt elsewhere in the 
country, for example half of the country’s ESOL provision is delivered here (see Appendix E) 
and in spite of the capital’s growing demand for higher level skills, around two thirds of 
provision delivered by further education colleges in the capital is at level two or 
below. Whilst the majority of London’s colleges are Ofsted rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’, 
around a third of London’s 39 colleges are rated as ‘requiring improvement’ or ‘inadequate’. 
With considerable and continuous efforts by the Mayor, London’s boroughs and the LEP to 

                                                
12 The 2013 UKCES Employer Skills Survey reports 30,000 skill shortage vacancies in London, of which almost 
half (46%) were in high skilled jobs and 12% in skilled trades jobs, (53% of all vacancies in this group). Around 
half of affected employers experiencing loss of business to competition and/or delays in developing new 
products as a result.  
13 London’s unemployment rate is 6.7% compared to UK average 5.6% [Source: GLA Labour Market Update, 
August 2015].  28% of London households are living in poverty compared to UK average of. 21%.. 57% of adults 
and children in poverty are in working families [Source: London Poverty Profile]. 

 



16 
 

promote apprenticeships, and sustained improvement in apprenticeship starts, London’s 
apprenticeship performance also lags most of the rest of the country.  

 
At least £1.6bn14 of public sector funding was invested in skills development in London in 
2014/15 – including funding from the Skills Funding Agency (SFA), Education Funding 
Agency (EFA), European Social Fund, DWP and local authorities, to support 16-19 year 
olds, adult learners and other Londoners in receipt of benefits and employment support 
including basic and vocational skills development.  But this significant investment is not 
being used as effectively as it could because of system failures including: 

• Information failures:  
o A lack of timely, accurate, accessible labour market information undermines 

providers’ ability to tailor their offer to business and learners’ ability to make informed 
decisions about their learning; 

o Limited destinations and outcomes data undermines learners’ and employers’ ability 
to  see the value of investing in learning including the courses and providers will best 
meet their needs; 

• Misaligned incentives:  
o Market regulations and fixed funding models restrict providers’ ability to innovate; 
o Funding structures incentivise delivery of qualifications, not employment or 

progression; 
• Coordination and Engagement Failures:  

o Silo funding streams result in fragmentation and potential for duplication of skills 
provision; 

o A disconnect between employment and skills systems leads to a lack of coherence in 
progression pathways.  
 

London Government (the Mayor and London’s boroughs) and the London Enterprise Panel 
(LEP) are ambitious about tackling these problems and reforming London’s post-16 skills 
and education system in order to drive up quality, responsiveness and efficiency.    As 
budgets reduce and London’s population increases, we believe London Government has a 
crucial role to play in ensuring that public investment in skills and employment support in the 
capital is streamlined, prioritised for areas of greatest need, focussed on addressing market 
failures, and used to further leverage private investment.   

To maintain and improve London’s position as a world leading city, we need appropriate 
levels of funding, drawn from both the public and private sector, and provision to meet 
economic demand and the necessary powers locally to deliver reform. This is to ensure that 
Londoners have access to a first-class education system which provides a clear line of sight 
to employment and that London’s employers have access to a suitable and sustainable 
pipeline of skilled, productive labour. We aim to ensure that:  

• Learners have the information they need to make informed choices about their learning, 
and have access to coherent skills development pathways that enable them to enter and 
progress in work;  

                                                
14 Includes £604,396,631 SFA funding allocated to London Providers, £992,349,206 allocated for 16-18 education in London, 
approx. £20m estimated DWP spend on Work Programme in London, plus approx. £55m invested by Local Authorities in skills 
and employment support (source CESI, Right Skills for the Right Jobs, December 2012). 



17 
 

• Employers are able to articulate their needs, and have access to outcomes data that 
shows that providers are responding to those needs, so that they are incentivised to 
invest in the skills system;  

• Providers understand what the labour market needs, and are incentivised and supported 
to innovate and respond to those needs; 

• London government has oversight of the skills system and is able to hold providers to 
account for delivering outcomes for London’s learners and businesses, while driving 
efficiencies by aligning and pooling budgets and services.   
  

Outline of our aims, objectives and goals  

By 2020, London Government’s ambitions for the skills system are to ensure: 
• All skills and education provision in London is Ofsted rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’; 
• All London’s learners and employees understand the skills needed by London’s 

employers and are supported and motivated to acquire them; 
• All low paid, low skilled and workless Londoners have access to targeted learning 

focused on enabling them to move into or to progress in sustainable employment; 
• All Londoners are equipped with basic skills for employment with increases in learners 

achieving 5 A-C GCSEs (including in English and Maths);  
• A significant increase from current levels (71%)15 of learners achieving level 3 and above 

qualifications and progressing into work, apprenticeships and/ or higher education;  
• A significant increase in overall success rates for all learners and a significant reduction 

in the current rate of drop-out16 between 16 and 18 for those studying level 3 
qualifications;  

• A significant reduction in young people aged 16-24 who are not in education, 
employment or training (NEET), reaching near full participation for 16-18 year olds in all 
of London’s boroughs; 

• A doubling of the number of good quality higher apprenticeships with significant 
increases in overall success rates. 

 
Our strategic objectives are: 
 

i. To boost economic growth and employment, and reduce welfare dependency, by 
focusing investment in skills that will increase productivity and progression into and 
within work. By 2020 we would seek to: 

• Increase productivity - breaking the static trend since 2008.  
• Boost rates of economic activity - addressing London’s lower than average position 
• Reach near-full employment - enabling all Londoners to access our thriving jobs 

market 
• Continue to boost wages - to enable Londoners to meet the cost of living in the capital 
 

                                                
15 London Councils, Young People In London, Evidence Base 2014 
16 Mayor’s Annual Education Report (2014) reports the 17+ dropout rate from level 3 programmes across 
London is 39%. This drop out was found to be primarily at the end of Year 12, particularly for vocationally 
focused courses.  In addition, just under a quarter of key stage 5 students drop out of their studies before the 
age of 18. 



18 
 

ii. To increase the efficiency and effectiveness of declining public sector skills investment 
by bringing budgets and powers closer to the point of use. We will aim to drive: 

• Better demand information and a clearer articulation of London’s skills needs and 
priorities through an intelligence-led strategy for skills drawing on improved borough 
and regional level timely, accurate LMI. We will champion and improve subject and 
pedagogical expertise in the vocational education sector, ensuring a self-improving world 
class system that is better able to anticipate and respond to the long term needs of 
industry.  

• Greater investment from employers and learners in professional and technical 
education at level 3 and above through sharing of better intelligence and improved 
incentives to invest 

• Greater savings through integration and alignment of funding to improve and 
strengthen support for Londoners through a more joined-up approach between 
employment and skills support.   

 
London’s Core Skills Devolution Propositions  
 
The Mayor of London and the Chancellor of the Exchequer, emphasised the importance of 
skills as a driver for growth when they announced “…a skills deal which would result in the 
devolution of the Apprenticeship Grant to Employers and a remit to work with government to 
reshape skills provision in London”. Subsequently, the Chancellor announced that “the 
government is devolving further powers to the Mayor of London, including over 
planning and skills” in the 2015 budget.  We welcome the government’s productivity plan, 
which invites strong local areas and employers to take a leading role in establishing a post-
16 skills system that is responsive to local economic priorities and to participate in the 
reshaping and re-commissioning of local provision. 

We want to make significant structural change to the skills system and funding 
mechanisms currently in place to ensure alignment to our jobs and growth agenda.  Skills 
will be focused on driving economic growth through increased productivity, sustainable 
employment outcomes and progression in work.  On that basis and in response to this 
mandate, the Mayor and London’s boroughs working closely with the London Enterprise 
Panel (LEP) have developed this proposal on how a devolved skills system for London could 
more effectively meet London’s complex labour market needs.   
 
London Government has established a set of key principles of a reformed and devolved 
post-16 skills and education landscape on which our proposal should be based. We have 
consulted widely on these principles with business and provider representatives through the 
LEP Skills Inquiry, sub-regional LEP engagement events, and other workshops and 
conferences, and they have received broad support across the spectrum. Further details of 
the LEP Skills Inquiry are provided in appendix 3.   
 
The key principles are: 

a) Labour market-led. Consumer choice will be shaped by high quality labour market 
intelligence that triangulates the needs of individuals, employers and local economies 
including impartial insights on provider performance.  



19 
 

b) Shared responsibility. Employers and individuals should invest where they derive the 
greatest private returns. Government investment will focus on market failures and to 
champion and improve subject and pedagogical expertise in the vocational education 
sector, ensuring a self-improving world class system that is better able to anticipate and 
respond to the long term needs of industry. 

c) Local Accountability. Decision-making on skills within London will take place at the 
most appropriate geographical level. A reformed system would provide greater oversight 
and accountability of providers, with a clear market stewardship role for London 
Government, but the institutional autonomy of providers would be retained. 

d) Outcome focussed. Priority will shift to outcome measures that are quantifiable in the 
labour market such as jobs, earnings and progression to higher skills and better paid 
work that boosts business growth by improving the bottom line. Funding incentives will 
be sensitively designed to deliver outcomes without financially destabilising the sector or 
dis-incentivising innovation. 

e) Agile and integrated system. New ways of working will mitigate the impact of 
reductions in public subsidies by promoting alignment and integration with other 
services.   

 
The key elements of the proposal and the devolved powers and funding sought are: 
 
Devolved and protected budgets for London:  
• Devolve adult skills funding from the Skills Funding Agency to London (approx. 

£400m p/annum) by 2017, including the Adult Skills Budget (ASB) with protected funds 
(including ESOL, English, Maths), Adult Community Learning, and 19+ discretionary 
learner support.  This should include devolved administrative resources for a London 
Skills Agency to commission, manage and deliver devolved funds accountable to the 
Mayor and sub-regional borough groupings, as well as a pump priming fund to support 
the transformation of skills services. It should also include flexibilities to determine 
entitlements, pricing and set outcomes.  

• Devolve and protect London’s share of Advanced Learning Loans and Bursary funds 
based on need (£76m+) with flexibilities on how this is used locally. 

• Ensure a proportionate return from the apprenticeships levy paid for by London’s large 
businesses so that sufficient funds are available to deliver in-demand industry-led 
technical and professional courses leading to further growth in apprenticeships 
(particularly at higher levels). 

• Protect London’s share of 16-19 funding (approx. £1billion) to meet future economic 
demand for level 3+ skills and a growing 16-19 population.  

• Deliver a coherent and integrated careers offer for London through London Ambitions 
– London’s strategy for careers advice and guidance for young people and which moving 
forward, we aspire to include adults in also. This will require devolving existing centrally 
managed programmes with the relevant budgets, in particular the Careers and 
Enterprise Company, the Inspiration Agenda, Jobcentre Plus Advisers in schools and the 
National Careers Service. 

 
Devolved powers of authority and accountability: 
• A transfer of relevant powers from the Secretary of State to the Mayor of London 

from the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 to enable removal of all or any of the 



20 
 

members of governing bodies, appoint new members where there are vacancies and 
give directions to colleges/ institutions where poor performance persists. 

• Devolved levers and powers for approval to the Mayor to ensure new strategic and 
capital investment decisions for post-16 skills and education provision in London 
are made jointly with government at London level to better respond to the capital’s 
economic and strategic priorities. 

• A Skills Commissioner for London, subsuming the functions of the FE Commissioner 
within a broader strategic role. 

 
Open data: 
• Move to an ‘open by default’ position on all data relating to qualifications, destinations 

and outcomes from education and training in London, except where there are genuine 
confidentiality and privacy issues. 

• Better measure the impact of investment in skills including requiring the gathering and 
publishing of destinations data (at the London, borough and provider level) enabled by 
data sharing by HMRC and DWP. 

 
London’s ‘Offers’  

Through a devolution deal with central government, London Government seeks to deliver: 

• Skills strategies for London informed by timely demand-side data to plan for future skills 
needs;  

• A streamlined, resilient and responsive skills sector with greater specialisation;  
• Excellence in professional and technical education with a strong Apprenticeships offer; 
• A London Entitlement for basic skills equipping Londoners to compete in the labour 

market; 
• A sustainable and coherent careers offer for London. 
 
To achieve this London will continue to work with central government to develop and agree 
the detail of our proposals for reforming and devolving the skills system over the coming 
months. Immediate next steps include: 

• For London and Central government to agree to protect SFA and EFA allocations 
for London for 2016/17 based on an assessment of London’s needs and priorities, 
including population increases and migration and agree to withhold finalisation of 
multi-year funding settlements until the outcome of the area based reviews are 
understood. 

• To begin the process of Area Based Reviews for London. Central government to 
commit dedicated resource and access to data to London Government to develop the 
detailed approach and economic analysis to help inform ABRs. 

• To agree to devolved powers including (i) a transfer of relevant powers from 
the Secretary of State to the Mayor of London (ii) Devolved levers and powers for 
approval to the Mayor to ensure new capital investment decisions for post-16 
skills and education provision in London are made jointly with government. 

• London Government and Central Government to work jointly to develop the detailed 
model, business case and transition plan for a devolved skills model for 
London. This will include a comprehensive cost benefit analysis that establishes 
a shared baseline of the current investment in skills in London comparing it to an 
assessment through our proposed model.  



21 
 

 

 

Future skills strategies for London  

London Government will develop skills strategies at the regional and sub-regional level 
based on strong intelligence about demand for future skills needs, encompassing both 
demand for basic and low-level skills, and the higher-level professional and technical skills in 
demand by London’s employers.  Data and intelligence to support decisions for investment 
in skills is currently limited. With devolved powers and funding to invest in skills, London 
Government will have greater incentive to gather timely, accurate, granular Labour Market 
Information and use this to inform our investment strategy. By making this information 
publicly available in an accessible way, we will also support providers, learners and 
employers to make informed choices.  

• London government will invest in developing an on-line data platform that presents 
‘real time vacancy data’ by scraping information on online job postings to accurately 
inform users of the current demand for jobs by occupation.     

• London Councils will work with London boroughs to develop a standardised approach 
to draw together local labour market intelligence (e.g. planning data, intelligence from 
employers) to inform sub-regional and pan-London strategies.  

• The Greater London Authority will build on the regional labour market information that 
it currently hosts on the London Datastore as well as Skills Match to present a coherent 
and accessible picture of current and future labour and skills demands to providers and 
learners. 

 
London will develop a London Skills Strategy and Sub-Regional Commissioning 
Strategies on the basis of this intelligence as well as data from DfE and DWP on low-level 
and ESOL skills needs, and analysis by UKCES and sector skills councils on professional 
and technical skills needs. London government will hold providers to account for delivering 
the priorities set out in these strategies through: 
• Agreeing collective outcome agreements with providers at a sub-regional level, and 

individual provider outcome agreements17 at an institutional level.  
• Working with Ofsted within the regional inspection framework to ensure that inspection 

criteria take into account providers’ responsiveness to the local labour market.  
• Working with the Skills Commissioner for London including strengthening local 

authorities’ role through joint working with the London Skills Agency and sub-regional 
skills and employment boards to address poor performance against sub-regional skills 
strategies. 

 
Delivering a streamlined, resilient and responsive skills sector 

Government has set out its approach to establishing a fit-for-purpose further education 
sector via Area Based Reviews (ABRs). London’s Mayor and borough leaders will work 

                                                
17 Initially individual outcome agreements would be with FE colleges only, to make this system manageable. All 
providers would be expected to show how they are contributing towards the collective outcome agreements. 
This includes Adult and Community Learning Services.  



22 
 

collaboratively with Government and the skills sector to use this process to develop and 
deliver our vision for a post-16 skills and education landscape in London focused on meeting 
business and local economic need as well as to encourage longer term entrepreneurship 
and innovation. London Government is committed to leading the review process, if provided 
with the tools and levers necessary to ensure the reviews are effective. In London, we 
propose that the reviews should: 

• Cover the full breadth of public and private providers delivering 16+ skills and 
education;  

• Be undertaken sub-regionally, overseen by sub-regional steering boards to support the 
process and facilitate implementation of the recommendations; 

• Be overseen by a London-wide steering group to ensure the reviews deliver a London-
wide vision and give consideration to provision in boroughs adjacent to Greater London 
and to provision crossing sub-regional areas; 

• Be advised by an independent Skills Commissioner for London to help shape the area 
based reviews and to provide strategic expertise for the future skills landscape.  
 

 

 

 

To ensure that London has the levers it needs to re-shape the landscape successfully and 
deliver the recommendations of the reviews, leadership of the ABRs should be accompanied 
by:  

• The sharing of current FE sector financial and performance information;  
• Resources to inform and undertake a strategic economic assessment of the current and 

future skills landscape and to undertake reviews; 
• Transfer of statutory powers from the Secretary of State to the Mayor to enable the 

removal of members of governing bodies, appoint new members and give directions 
where poor performance persists; 

• A pot of development funding to help implement changes including curricula 
development. 

 
London government considers ABRs as an important part of the process of necessary 
reform to the skills system in London but not as the conclusion. Rather the ABRs can only be 
effectively implemented as part of broader devolution to London including the transfer of 
both powers and funding from central government, to support an integrated and strategic 
approach to investment in post 16 skills provision. The review process should be 
complementary to London’s proposals for devolution and reform and should actively facilitate 
the implementation of this.   
 
Excellence in professional and technical education – including a London 
Apprenticeships Offer 

London is a leading global hub for business, talent and creativity. If the capital is to maintain 
its current strong position, we need to ensure that businesses can access the technically 
capable workers they need. Jobs growth is expected to focus on higher level occupations. 
Professional, associate professional and technical, managerial, director level and senior 



23 
 

official jobs are expected to increase by around one-fifth by 2022. Correspondingly, demand 
for higher-level qualifications (QCF levels 4+) is expected to increase by about one-third.  

Greater employer investment and ownership in developing skills will be key to meeting this 
demand. While London employers cite skills gaps and skills shortage vacancies as 
hampering their productivity and growth, evidence from UKCES’ 2013 Employer Skills 
Survey suggests that their engagement and investment in skills is in decline.   
 
A strong Apprenticeships offer for London 
 
London Government recognises the important role that the introduction of the Apprenticeship 
Levy will play in encouraging and enabling London businesses to engage in meeting 
London’s high demand for professional and technical skills. As a high proportion (21%) of 
UK businesses employing 250 or more employees are based in London – accounting for 
30% of total UK turnover - the region is likely to make a significant contribution to the levy.  
Against this, London has delivered fewer apprenticeships than most other areas in the 
country. If this trend continues, there is a risk that London will not derive a proportionate 
benefit (in terms of apprenticeship starts) from its levy contribution.  
 
SMEs in London are responsible for 50% of all London based employees and 43% of 
London’s turnover and will therefore also play a vital role in delivering London’s contribution 
to meeting the government’s 3 million Apprenticeships target. Research by Ofsted18 found 
that training providers find it difficult to encourage SMEs to offer apprenticeship and work 
experience opportunities. SMEs believe that arranging work experience and recruiting 
apprentices is too bureaucratic, and many also express concern over the employability of 
learners and their preparedness for the world of work.  
 
Given the challenges outlined, we propose that with a devolved proportionate return in 
funding of the Apprenticeship levy, we will deliver: 
• Capacity building activity for London’s SMEs including a London-based Small 

Business Service to support with recruiting apprentices. This will include creating more 
higher-level apprenticeships. 

• Interventions focused on pre-apprenticeship support for prospective apprenticeship 
candidates furthest from the workplace and who are not eligible for traineeships. 

• Subsidising apprenticeship training and providing an ‘uplift’ for SMEs taking on 
apprentices. 

 
In return, London will continue to offer travel-card discounts to apprentices (currently at 30%) 
and lead campaign activity working with industry, the London Enterprise Panel, schools, 
post-16 education providers and London’s boroughs to promote and create new 
opportunities. However, increasing apprenticeships alone will not meet London’s demand for 
highly skilled employees.  London Government proposes to further incentivise employer and 
learner investment in professional and technical skills development through: 
• Creating a skills innovation fund, funded by London’s contribution to the 

apprenticeship levy. Employers and representative employer bodies could directly bid 
into the fund to create and develop new and innovative solutions to deliver priority skills 
provision.  

• Incentivised loans that are part-subsidised for young people aged 19-24 undertaking 
courses at Level 3 and above for in-demand professional and technical courses in key 
London sectors.  

• Better data on the impact of learner participation to help inform prospective learners 
of the benefits and outcomes of undertaking skills courses.  Stronger open data from 

                                                
18 Engaging small and medium enterprises in apprenticeships, Ofsted Jan 2015 



24 
 

government is needed including destinations data produced by HMRC at the London, 
borough and provider level. 

  
A London Entitlement for basic skills to ensure Londoners can compete in the labour 
market 

A robust adult skills and employment support offer in London is critical to the capital’s 
continued success, and to boosting productivity. At present, many low-skilled Londoners 
experience multiple barriers to getting, keeping and progressing in work.  Separate funding 
streams and agency silos result in high levels of fragmentation between low-level skills 
provision and other national and local services that support low-skilled residents to move into 
and progress in employment.  This can lead to residents not receiving the most effective 
support to find and progress in work.  

Our solution will see funding devolved to the Mayor and groups of boroughs acting in 
tandem through sub-regional partnerships to tackle low skills. Aligning skills funding with 
other resources and services at the local level will help to deliver wrap-around support that 
successfully removes the complexity of barriers that many unemployed and economically 
inactive Londoners face. To achieve this London Government: 

• Seeks a devolved and protected budget settlement for adult skills proportionate 
to London’s skills needs, including provision for ESOL and community learning. This 
will be used to deliver a London-led strategy on basic skills, part of our London 
Skills Strategy, including a “London entitlement” to basic skills; 

• Will maximise this devolved budget by matching it with elements of London’s 
European Social Fund (ESF) allocation at the regional level; 

• Will allocate a portion of the devolved ASB to sub-regional employment and skills 
boards, to integrate with local budgets to commission skills support that directly 
helps unemployed and economically inactive residents into work, including joined up 
commissioning of skills with devolved or co-commissioned DWP employment support 
programmes.  
 

Deliver a sustainable and coherent careers offer for London with relevant budgets 
devolved 

The London Ambitions19 strategy, which has been developed jointly between London 
Councils, the GLA and LEP sets out London’s position with regards to a careers offer for 
London and has established a firm footing with education, training and business leaders 
across the capital.  The first phase of London Ambitions is focussed on addressing the well-
rehearsed weaknesses in the careers offer for young people. But we will build on this and 
the GLA, boroughs’ and LEP’s current extensive work and investment in careers support to 
develop the vision and action plan for a truly world-class all-age careers offer for all 
Londoners, working with schools, colleges and other stakeholders. We therefore seek the 
devolution of existing centrally managed programmes with the relevant budgets, so that we 
can:   

• better connect education and training with the workplace, ensuring more employers 
offer high quality experiences of work and that more recruit apprentices; 

                                                
19 London Ambitions: shaping a successful careers offer for all young Londoners:  
https://lep.london/sites/default/files/documents/publication/London%20Ambitions%20Careers%20Offer.pdf  

https://lep.london/sites/default/files/documents/publication/London%20Ambitions%20Careers%20Offer.pdf


25 
 

• improve access to good quality career development support, particularly 
personalised guidance for the most vulnerable young people and adults; 

• improve the use of labour market intelligence, including better tracking and use of 
destination measures; 

• deliver far less fragmented, more sustainable and more coherent career development 
support for young people and adults; 

• focus on returns on investment to demonstrate impact and show accountability to 
London’s resident and business populations. 

 
Skills Governance 
 
The Mayor has statutory responsibility for economic development and wealth creation in 
London and London’s boroughs have responsibility for economic well-being locally.   The 
Mayor already has authority and powers over significant aspects of London’s economic 
development and regeneration.  This is in addition to significant powers and capacities 
relating to housing investment, planning, transport and inward investment.  The missing 
piece in this economic development function is the lack of clear skills funding powers.  
London’s boroughs also have a strong functional role in economic development, combining 
their responsibilities for planning and regeneration with a strategic role in brokering 
responsive local employment and skills systems that enable local residents to take 
advantage of growth. Boroughs are strongly committed to working in partnership with each 
other across wider functional economic areas in order to exercise this role more effectively 
and enable integration of employment and skills activity at scale.  
 
London’s Mayor and borough Leaders have been working closely together for some time to 
agree the appropriate levels of governance and broad direction of travel for the additional 
powers and funds sought for skills.  This pan-London partnership will be delivered through a 
governance structure which combines accountability to the London Mayor with leadership 
from the Mayor and the Boroughs through the Congress, informed by advice from the 
London LEP. There is also a substantial role for London borough leaders working through 
London’s sub-regional grouping of boroughs to deliver a reformed skills system.  The 
governance structure will evolve and be further defined following negotiation with the 
government and as the transfer of powers become clearer.  
 
London Government has agreed on a set of interim arrangements for skills, forming part of 
an overall package of devolution to London government over which London Congress will 
have oversight. A skills devolution steering group co-chaired by a Deputy Mayor and a 
Borough Leader and comprising members from GLA, boroughs and the LEP has been set 
up to advise on and oversee progress on London’s skills devolution proposal. This will be 
expanded to include representation from the FE sector and will continue to oversee 
development of the London Skills Strategy and transition to new arrangements. 
 
To complement this, commencing in the autumn of 2015, the London Mayor will create a 
London Skills Steering Group to take forward the area based reviews. The group will be led 
and chaired by the Mayor with a nominated borough leader as Deputy Chair. Other 
representatives will include the LEP, other borough Leaders, central government, education 
and independent learning providers, employer representative groups, relevant FE and 
Regional School Commissioners plus a representative of learners.  The area based reviews 
will be undertaken on a sub-regional basis reporting into and operating within the strategic 
framework set by the London Skills Steering Group. 
 
In the longer term, London’s governance arrangements will need to respond to powers that 
are devolved.   The administrative function (currently held by the Skills Funding Agency for 
adult skills funding and apprenticeships) will be accountable to the Mayor and borough 



26 
 

leaders (through sub-regional groupings of boroughs) with devolved resources (a London 
Skills Agency) to manage the transactional costs of future adult skills.  London government 
will produce a funding statement for adult skills to provide a consistent set of regional 
priorities for the funding criteria, entitlements and outcomes. Sub-regional groupings of 
boroughs will be responsible for leading and developing the commissioning priorities for 
adult skills funding sub-regionally with skills providers accountable to borough leaders to 
deliver those strategies.  The sub-regions will also set the approaches to integrate and pool 
funds where possible and the appropriate commissioning approach. 
 
 
  



27 
 

Enterprise Support Proposals for London  
   
 

Strategic Context  
 
London government works hard to make the capital the best place to do business in the 
world and both the GLA and London Boroughs have daily interaction with the business 
community.  There is an opportunity for London government, working with the LEP and 
private sector partners, to become more closely involved with the delivery of business 
support services in the capital. We believe there are significant merits to this approach 
including: 
 

• Stimulating innovation in service provision and tailoring support in line with 
London’s specific priorities identified by the LEP.  
 

• Securing greater private sector leverage and participation from new partners.  
London is home to the world’s biggest professional and financial services firms as 
well as over 40 higher education institutions that are also invested in SME business 
growth. 

• Aligning London’s European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) programme 
with devolved business support activity including innovation, SMEs, sectorial 
programmes to scale up activity. 
 

• Making the most of London’s brand and global networks using the London brand 
as collateral and creating a seamless global economic development network, 
connecting cities across the world to increase trade and investment.  
 

• Taking a considered look at who does what best at which spatial scale and to 
organising flexibly according to the most appropriate approach for each sector or 
activity - as we have done with life sciences where we work across the Greater South 
East through Med City, and for employment initiatives where we work at the sub 
regional level.    
 

Our ambition in London is to: 
 

1) Provide an excellent business advice signposting service available to all 
businesses through the London Growth Hub. 
 

2) Deliver high quality, tailored services that support the continued growth of London’s 
innovative globally competitive sectors and sub sectors, through support for 
innovation and internationalisation.  We propose this will be delivered through a 
joint Trade and Investment Plan for London and additional investment in science, 
technology and innovation.  
 

3) Continuously improve the foundations of productivity including targeted London 
action on skills, finance and workspaces taken forward through new models of 
engagement of business in the adult skills system, leverage of the LEP’s Co-



28 
 

Investment Fund and the mapping of all possible options for SME workspace in the 
capital.   

 
The proposals in this document respond to the call from government for cities to propose 
areas where there would be benefits from further devolution.  It also builds on the track 
record the LEP has demonstrated in delivery in these areas and the LEP’s priorities, 
developed through extensive consultation with the business community. 
 
Our proposals are based on an understanding of market failure and informed by evaluation 
evidence that supports the case that public investment is effective, efficient and provides 
value for money. GLA Economics has undertaken research to support the development of 
our proposals on business support which is attached.  The GLA Economics paper provides a 
comprehensive understanding of the current business support landscape, considers the 
areas of business need, the rationale for public intervention and the gaps that the public 
sector could address. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
London’s core enterprise support devolution propositions 
 
 
The Mayor, London Boroughs and the London Enterprise Panel are seeking:  
 
• Co-funding to develop, expand and maintain the London Growth Hub for the next 5 

years with a focus on targeting services to businesses which contribute most to 
London’s productivity;   

• Joint Mayor/SoS sign-off of the business plan for the Business Growth Service 
(including MAS);  

• From 2017/2018, devolution of all business support funding and programmes to the 
Mayor, to deliver and potentially match with the European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF). 

• The Mayor to lead on a Trade and Investment Plan for London; ‘dual key’ arrangements 
(Mayor and Trade Minister) for the sign off of the UKTI London regional services in 
advance of full devolution to London;  

• A £150m London Innovation Investment Fund, to complement our proposals on skills 
and business support devolution, to help drive forward growth sectors in London and 
contribute to the Government’s goal of raising UK productivity. The London Innovation 
Investment Fund would include the devolution of some capital and revenue funds from 
Innovate UK and other national programmes to invest in catalytic projects working with 
London’s knowledge base to support high value sectors. 
 
 
 



29 
 

1. Business Advice and Signposting Service  
 
The variety of business support services available to firms in London is huge and complex. 
The public sector offers over 50 national and regional initiatives, and many more at a local 
and sub-regional level, often commissioned or delivered by London boroughs. Over 70 
private sector business organisations also offer a variety of business support services across 
London, and firms tap into other support from a wide range of private sector sources, 
ranging from membership organisations to accelerator workspaces, from banks to 
accountants.  
 
According to the London Business Survey (2014, GLAE/ONS) four out of ten London SMEs 
are using GOV.UK and over half of these say they seldom use it. Accountants and auditors 
were identified by SMEs as the most trusted and used source of advice. Devolution of 
business support services to London can ensure that private and public sector business 
support is well connected, is delivered at the most appropriate geographical level and avoids 
duplication of services, as well as creating opportunity to use   established patterns of 
business behaviour such as SMEs seeking advice of accountants, as a channel  to promote 
our services.  
 
To deliver excellent business advice and signposting we propose: 
 

1.1  The further development of the London Growth Hub for which we seek  
funding from HMG 

1.2  Joint sign off of the business plan for the Business Growth Service 
incorporating the Manufacturing Service in London until 17/18 and 
subsequent devolution of all business support funding and 
programmes to London from 2017/2018. 

1.3 We would like HMG to co fund pilots of new approaches to business 
support in the capital with a focus on ‘scale up’ companies and 
London’s manufacturing sector  

 
1.1 The London Growth Hub  
 
The London Growth Hub was launched in March 2015 and we have commissioned the 
design and development of the second phase.. Our ambition for investing in the London 
Growth Hub is to develop the most highly regarded and trusted go-to-place for information 
on business support in London. 
 
London’s business support landscape is incredibly complex. There are hundreds of public 
and private providers, the quality of services varies and users’ experiences are very 
different. Through bringing together all business support provision under one single portal, 
we aim to ensure advice and service provision is of good quality.  
London’s Growth Hub will provide information by using a range of different digital tools. 
Businesses will be able to search information on funding streams and advice sources, with 
information tailored to each individual business’s needs, reflecting location, size, sector, 
growth stage and other key factors that will be identified during development. Virtual support 
and signposting will be linked to physical services and action (e.g. workspace providers) and 
the national telephone and online support provided by BIS will be fully integrated.  



30 
 

 
In phase three of the Growth Hub we will be developing the site as the main sign posting tool 
for face-to-face advice in London. This will include a range of private and public sector 
providers (i.e. ICAEW, British Library, City Library, Enterprise Nation etc.) 

We will explore the possibility of getting sponsorship for the Growth Hub.  This is possible 
when the London brand is visible and there is rich content on the site. Examples of this 
include tech.london – a platform signposting tech businesses to support and resources 
available in London – the result of collaboration between the GLA and Gust, sponsored by 
IBM. We are seeking investment from government so that we can appoint a dedicated 
team to project manage and curate the content on the hub, signposting to successful 
London support provision and programmes. For the hub to be successful it is critical 
that it is up to date, comprehensive and engaging which requires substantial ongoing 
investment in rich content.   

1.2 Business Growth Service 
 
We understand that HMG could devolve the nationally procured Business Growth Service in 
2017/18.  London’s challenges can be different to other regions and to ensure needs 
are addressed we are seeking joint sign off the business plans of the Service with 
government from 2016/2017.   
From 2017/2018  we are seeking the devolution of all business support funding and 
programmes to the Mayor. 
 
New approaches to Business Support pilot pilots  
 
1.3 Business support pilots  

We would request funding to develop and implement two pilots for programme 
activities that address London specific opportunities and will support London’s 
growing SMEs.  
 
London Scale Up programme 
 
Our work to date suggests that there are around 1,800 high growth companies in London at 
any one time. Based on Sherry Coutu’s report (www.scaleupreport.org) London will aim to 
develop a range of pilot projects that focus on the six areas recommended in her report: 
 

1. Targeting, supporting, promoting and reporting on scale-up gap closure 
2. Accessing talent 
3. Developing scale-up leadership 
4. Increasing customer sales at home and abroad 
5. Financing scale ups 
6. Accessing infrastructure 

 
 
This programme pilot would support a small, but targeted, micro/small businesses to provide 
them with very intense support to scale them up, providing them and with the leadership 
skills to allow them grow.  

http://www.scaleupreport.org/


31 
 

   
London Manufacturing programme 
 
The LEP’s SME Working Group is in the process of commissioning research on London’s 
Industrial Estates and Industrial Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) to identify their 
contribution to London’s economy. Anecdotal evidence indicates many Industrial Estates are 
at full capacity and many businesses in non-industrial areas are moving there as they cannot 
afford the cost of premises in other parts of London.  
Industrial Estates play an important role in London’s economy and the research aims to 
provide the necessary evidence base for developing a business support programme for 
manufacturing companies that will allow them to grow and export.   
 
Once the research is completed, at the end of 2015, the LEP would like to develop a pilot 
programme that will provide business support to manufacturing companies based in 
Industrial Estates.  

1. Innovation and Internationalisation  
 
We want to grow world beating globally competitive clusters and sectors that drive UK 
productivity through competing with the best in the world. Exporters are more productive and 
build London’s brand overseas which assist in attracting investors, who are more likely to 
export and are more productive – a virtuous circle.  Combined with our world beating 
universities and financial services sector we can purposively continue to build world beating 
clusters and sectors in the capital.  
 
We are seeking a London Innovation Investment Fund, to help drive forward growth sectors 
in London and contribute to the Government’s goal of raising UK productivity. The London 
Innovation Investment Fund would include the devolution of some capital and revenue funds 
to invest in catalytic projects working with London’s knowledge base to support high value 
sectors.  
 
Over the past four years London government and the LEP have put London and the UK 
centre stage on the global investment map for science, technology and innovation. Through 
a close working relationship with London’s research base, MedCity has been established, 
which is successfully positioning London and the Greater South East as a world leading 
region for life science research, development, manufacturing and commercialisation.  
 
In the last few years London has become the world capital of financial technology. 
Moreover London has the potential to be a world leader in digital health, ed tech, ad tech, 
and clean tech reflecting the convergence of the capital’s unique competitive strengths.  
 
To drive innovation and international competitiveness in the capital, to achieve the 
step change required to meet the government’s 2020 exports target and start to tackle 
the productivity challenge, we propose 
 

a) The Mayor to lead on A Trade and Investment Plan for London working with the LEP 
and London boroughs setting a vision and providing guidance to L&P and UKTI. 
Business assistance for foreign direct investment is devolved to the Mayor and we 



32 
 

are now seeking a ‘dual key arrangement’ where the mayor and trade minister sign 
off the UKTI business plan.  We seek devolution of the UKTI regional service in the 
longer term. 

b) In the coming two years the LEP will pilot new approaches to trade and investment.  
c) A London Innovation fund for which we are seeking funding.  

 
We believe that in taking forward these proposals we could leverage significant additional 
private sector funding into trade support at least doubling the number of London companies 
substantially assisted to export each year at no additional cost.  We believe by adopting a 
joint trade and investment plan attracting new partners we could deliver an additional ‘city’ 
contribution to the government’s 2020 export target.   
 
2.1 A Trade and Investment Plan for London  
 
Business support for foreign direct investors is already devolved in London and delivered by 
London & Partners. There are significant gains from bringing trade and export services 
together, which is a model frequently used in cities internationally,  
We propose that the London Enterprise Panel chaired by the Mayor, guided by the 
Economic Development Plan, should set a Trade and Investment Strategy for London 
and in advance of devolution and full integration of services the Mayor and UKTI 
Minister should jointly sign off the UKTI delivery plan in London.  
 
There is now an opportunity to bring together trade and investment with a joint vision and 
strategy for London led by the LEP. The FDI and exports operational plans will require 
distinct delivery approaches, that for now should remain the responsibility of the tasked 
bodies i.e. L&P and UKTI, but this could be coordinated through an overarching vision and 
strategy. Further devolution of exports work would enable London to produce a joined up 
strategy and delivery plan that would focus on an increase in productivity and increase 
London’s contribution to both the £1 trillion in exports and £1 trillion in FDI stock. 
 
The model of further devolution to London government and the LEP setting a strategy will 
improve delivery and performance through:   
 

i) The purposive development of London’s sectors and clusters through an 
integrated approach to strategy, through the development of a Trade and 
Investment Strategy, and delivery led by London government and the LEP. 
Where appropriate, delivery could include co-location and joint L&P/UKTI project 
teams. 

 
 

ii) A business/client focused approach.. A single strategy and joint teams ensure 
a smooth customer journey. Inward investors have a greater propensity to export 
than domestic businesses, investors use London as a launch pad to EMEA 
markets, through integrating trade and investment we can provide a seamless 
service. Working directly with business and reacting on business intelligence will 
allow London to capitalise on many more opportunities.  

 



33 
 

iii) As a global city trade and investment is conducted city to city via a network 
of global cities and regional hubs. Both exports and investment can be 
boosted by city based relationships complementing UKTI’s national Embassy 
approach.. 

 
iv) Through a partnership approach, London institutions can step up and deliver 

more relevant and better quality programmes. This will include working closely 
with universities, learned societies, corporates which will have direct access to 
their supply chains.    

 
v) Using the London brand and adopting a clear market segmentation approach 

there is also an opportunity to attract more private investment to the local 
London export system. The Mayor can also raise the profile of exporting to 
improve reach, marketing and communication as well as contribute London 
assets to marketing campaigns.  

 
We propose the London Enterprise Panel considers and gives guidance in Autumn each 
year, including any sector or priority segments, projects or activity the LEP would like to see 
taken forward in investment plans. It would also identify how this integrates with wider 
London activity on skills, cluster/sector development, infrastructure. The Mayor now 
proposes a dual key approach to signing off the UKTI London delivery plan alongside the 
Secretary of State. 

 
 
2.2 Piloting new trade and investment approaches 
 
We believe that joining up the various stakeholders and delivery organisations in London is 
the best way to create the necessary step change to increase London’s contribution toward 
hitting the £1 trillion export target. The planned next phase of the Mayor’s Export 
Programme, led by L&P, is a model for levering private sector expertise and resources, 
including the London Chamber of Commerce, backed by ERDF to deliver a bespoke service 
for exporters with the specific objective of increasing export sales and creating jobs. The 
London LEP is the right organisation to convene this work and to oversee a plan to generate 
innovation in internationalisation support.  

      

2.3 London Innovation Fund 
 
We are seeking investment from HMG in London innovation to support and develop 
London’s world beating business clusters and complement internationalisation strategies. 
London’s growth and competiveness is being hampered by the lack of long term funding that 
is required to support the London government and the LEP’s strategic role in driving the 
competitiveness of innovative, high value sectors.  Devolution of funding streams would also 
support a more strategic deployment of London’s European Regional Development Fund.  
 
London’s innovation landscape is complex – funding is dispersed, as the availability of 
different levels and types of support from numerous bodies leads to increasing confusion 
amongst businesses, large and small, as to the support available.  This complex landscape 



34 
 

could be better coordinated, promoted and delivered with greater impact to maximise 
London’s potential. We are seeking an innovation pot, overseen by the LEP to tackle the 
market failures that are holding London’s competitiveness back - principally information and 
coordination market failures – reflecting the scale and depth of London’s wider innovation 
ecosystem.   
 
There is a clear need to join up policy across different areas in addition to internationalisation 
– from skills provision to infrastructure spending and employment and skills support. A 
decentralised innovation budget would enable London to make connections across a range 
of delivery areas, avoiding duplication and enabling efficiencies.  
 
The Innovation Fund could be used to support programmes that articulate some of London’s 
key policy challenges as market opportunities for innovative entrepreneurs to solve, a key 
aim of the Mayor’s Smart London Plan.  
 
London is the ideal city to act as a test bed for new approaches to the devolution of 
innovation related budgets and policy levers for future years and could form the basis of a 
discussion on science and technology in London with government as indicated in the 
Budget.  London is an innovation leader in science and technology and has a strong, 
experienced city-wide government. London is therefore now able to lead new 
approaches to innovation policy that will maximise national growth, replicable across 
other UK cities. London is well placed, drawing on the expertise of the LEP, strong 
partnerships with business and the research base, and relationships with national 
bodies. 
 
If London is to maintain its global standing, and drive growth across the UK, amidst fierce 
international competition – the capital needs to be able to support this with budgets and 
policy levers that many of our competitor global cities already have.  The Government’s 
recent ‘Fixing the Foundations’ report suggested that to retain the country’s position of 
international excellence in science we need to increase strategic focus.  The government 
has made the commitment to make the UK the best place in Europe to innovate and help 
create the ideas that help grow a business, the following proposals will help to achieve this 
ambition. 
 
A devolved London Innovation Fund is therefore a necessary complement to the devolution 
of skills and business support set out in the document.  
 
We are seeking government investment in the following: 
 
Capital funding to support the development of innovation infrastructure, matched with 
private sector contributions, to boost the expansion and translational capacity of London’s 
research base –.  
 
We seeking revenue support to enhance London’s collaboration with other LEPs, 
helping for example to join up supply chains nationally, maximising the added value of UK 
wide clusters and smart specialisation..  
 



35 
 

We need to better link London’s research base, and other public assets such as the 
NHS, to industry domestically and globally; and strengthen the marketing of our research 
excellence to attract inward investment. The Mayor has started to do this for life sciences, 
through the establishment of MedCity. London now needs to do this for all of London’s 
technology sectors.  
 
London could, for example, benefit from a pan-London technology transfer office for 
science and technology to enable businesses to more easily access the innovation 
emerging from London’s world class universities. 
 
London would also benefit from a dedicated London challenge fund, which could be 
managed by the LEP to identify London specific challenges, and articulate them as market 
opportunities to enable the development of innovative products and services through public 
procurement. There is a huge untapped opportunity to do this across the education 
technology sector, for example, working with London’s HEIs.  
 
 

2. Fixing the Foundations of Productivity – Local approaches  
 
The LEP will continue its work of the last four years supporting businesses through 
continuing to address fundamental factors where these are best addressed at the local level. 
In many instances policy is best undertaken at the national level but in responding to 
particularly local challenges and opportunities, the London Enterprise panel has been and 
will continue to be particularly interested in Skills, Finance and Property.  
 
Skills 
 
The LEP’s work in this area will deliver the aspirations set out by Government to deliver ‘a 
highly skilled workforce, with employers in the driving seat’. The LEP has consistently 
invested in apprenticeships in the capital and shares the Government’s ambition to achieve 
high quality vocational skills routes to employment. Its work will also help to respond to the 
wider devolution asks that London government is proposing to ensure that London’s future 
skills system better meets the capital’s economic needs. 
 
In the market for adult skills, there can be mismatches in employers’ skills demands and 
what training providers offer. This can result in mismatches in skills, qualifications and 
training that leads to delays and difficulties in filling job vacancies, and sub-optimal levels of 
investment in training. We believe this can be addressed by better information, coordination 
and new models for small firms to invest and share risk in training and employment.   
 
In parallel with this document, we are submitting proposals to Government on skills 
devolution in London, in line with the Government’s commitment to devolve further powers 
on skills to the Mayor. Our proposals include an important role at the sub-regional as well as 
pan-London level. Furthermore we see important linkages between these two sets of 
proposals. Hence in a more devolved skills system, we would build in new models of 
business engagement, investment and assistance in skills training. We would seek to work 



36 
 

in partnership with the London chambers, sector skills councils, BIDs, and leading employers 
who are investing in growing a talented workforce in London.   
 
 
Finance 
  
The Mayor’s London Co Investment Fund is leveraging equity funding into early stage 
growth firms as they emerge from private accelerators, incubators and support programmes. 
There is a healthy deal pipeline in place, with over 640 business plans having been 
submitted through the website. Fourteen investments to date have leveraged an average 4.3 
multiple from the private sector. The fund, delivered by Capital Enterprise, is helping start-
ups to access up to £1m in finance over the next three years and is expected to invest in 
more than 150 early stage businesses. We estimate this will accelerate the creation of at 
least 2,600 new jobs in London’s early stage Science, Digital and Technology businesses.   
 
Devolving business support services and developing the London Growth Hub, will support 
referral to Funds such as this supporting early stage firms in seeking equity finance or 
building capabilities from this investment. This local knowledge and link to business supports 
the GLA and LEP to make sound proposals to institutions such as the European Investment 
Bank for additional investment.  
 
Property 
  
Through the LEP’s SME Working Group, and in partnership with Local Authorities, we are 
looking to build on our existing workspace map to create an interactive map and network of 
public sector spaces that have the potential of becoming workspaces or business premises 
for SMEs. Due to a variety of reasons, London stock of affordable space for SMEs, and 
particular grow-on space, has diminished considerably. LEP members have been clear that 
the position in London threatens our globally competitive clusters and sectors through 
reducing their ability to derive benefits of agglomeration.  The interactive map and network 
will aim to connect businesses with public sector organisations that have under used or 
empty spaces.   
 
We would aim to establish, develop and manage a network of local authority and other 
public sector spaces that could be converted into workspace and move on space. The 
network, to be managed by GLA officials, will be kept up to date on a regular basis and will 
permit the exchange of information between workspace providers looking to develop new 
spaces and businesses looking to re-locate to larger premises.  
 
 
  



37 
 

Crime & Justice  
 
Strategic Context  
 
By devolving further budgetary, performance and commissioning responsibilities to London 
(the Mayor and boroughs), we can drive improvements in the key public services that work 
to keep London safe while making the savings required of us in smarter, more effective and 
more joined up ways. 
 
 
Public safety drives economic growth in London.  It is the foundation of social well-being and 
is the vital underpinning of London as a successful city. Everything we want to see flourish – 
family life, public spaces, the businesses that we depend upon and, crucially, the culture and 
environment that our children grow up in – requires a basis of civic order. The reputation of 
London as a safe city and a stable place to invest and grow depends upon an effective 
response to the range of crime and disorder challenges that we encounter. 
 
The challenge 

 
• London is currently responsible for approximately 25% of all crime in England and 

Wales and its population continues to grow faster than the rest of the country. 
 

• Crime is falling but reoffending for both youth and adults are increasing; in 2014, 64% 
of proven offences by young people were reoffences; adult reoffending in London 
has risen to 25.1% 

 
• Reoffending is a failure demand on the system and attracts significant social and 

economic costs. e.g. analysis of London’s 2,093 high risk / prolific offenders shows 
that they were  responsible for 53,267 offences at a total cost of £163m  

 
• The number of defendants in court is reducing, but timeliness through the courts is 

slowing.  Court cases in London took, on average, 165 days from offence to 
completion in 2014.  We know that 15% of trials are ineffective and there are now 
9000 outstanding cases yet to be processed through the Crown Courts.    
  

• Demand on emergency services is increasing and there is an inconsistency in 
resource, capability and performance across services. 

 
Alongside this, all partners face significant budget reductions over the next five years, whilst 
demand increases.  A recent study of the Criminal Justice System commissioned by the MoJ 
and HMT in collaboration with MOPAC estimates that the total spend on Criminal Justice in 
London is £3.3bn. Analysis also indicates that by 2020, budgets across criminal justice 
agencies may collectively need to reduce by as much as 40%. 
 
The only way that the various agencies in the CJS will be able to make the savings required, 
whilst also making improvements to services for the public, is to radically rethink the way 



38 
 

they are delivered. This will require significant integration across the system - thereby 
reducing duplication and inefficiency - and much closer performance management and 
oversight, on behalf of the public.  
 
It is recognised that strategic leadership has helped tackle issues that matter locally and 
across London. The convening power of the Mayor is undisputed and has already made 
some progress in these areas, but we are reaching limits. The need for greater efficiency 
whilst improving outcomes is clear and this proposal offers London specific solutions to 
these issues in a sustainable and positive manner. 
 
To achieve these ambitions would require: 
 

1. London wide oversight and / or commissioning of Criminal Justice System elements 
 

2. Devolution of crime related budgets to a single pooled fund at London level 
 

3. Integration of emergency services where possible 
 
Achievement of this would allow London to offer central government the savings required, 
whilst ensuring the best possible services for Londoners.   
 
London government (the Mayor and Boroughs) already has proven success in this area. 
Over the last 3 years, the Mayor’s London Crime Reduction Board has effectively:  

 
1) Set strategic priorities and provided strategic oversight of key issues in 

London- for example the refreshed partnership strategy ‘Strategic Ambitions for 
Gangs and Serious Youth Violence’ was launched in 2014 and a reducing 
reoffending board bringing together agencies has been critical in creating a voice and 
setting key expectations for London in relation to Transforming Rehabilitation.          

 
2) Levered more investment into London - Successes include £600k Victims’ 

Competed Fund to invest in support for victims of gang violence at all major trauma 
centres and £800k Home Office Innovation Fund to provide specialist training to 
8,000 frontline professionals across London so they can spot the signs of mental 
illness and emotional trauma among vulnerable victims.  
 

3) Pursued innovative joint delivery and co-commissioning arrangements – A pan 
London gang exit model is currently being co-commissioned by MOPAC, the London 
CRC and Local Authorities. In addition, the LCRB have overseen engagement with 
MTC Novo and agreed a structured engagement plan to:  

• Pursue joint investment opportunities in relation to tackling reoffending e.g. a 
focus on females and 18-25s 

• Drive a more ambitious and innovative approach to reducing reoffending in 
London  

 
 
 
 



39 
 

 
London’s Core Crime & Justice Devolution Propositions  
 
As outlined above, City Hall and Local Authorities, working together via the London Crime 
Reduction Board, have already shown practical successes in this area but need Central 
Government to devolve further powers to ensure that we can deliver more. Central 
Government is requested to: 

 
1. Give London Government responsibility to co-ordinate, commission, convene 

and co-design across the criminal justice system in London.  
 

Using similar mechanisms that it currently has for Policing, the Mayor’s Office could 
deliver the improvements and savings for youth justice in the community, the court 
service and prosecution, whilst delivering valuable oversight to probation services 
and the Community Rehabilitation Company contract that strengthens integration with 
the London wide system. 
 
In order to further this proposal, MOPAC has been working with HMT and McKinsey 
to cost elements of the Criminal Justice System in London, with a view to identifying 
efficiencies and where resources can be best placed. This work supports the ongoing 
work of MOPAC in bringing together CJS partners in London that has delivered 
combined efforts in stabilising court timeliness and implementing successful pilots in 
Local Justice Areas. 

 
This analysis highlights the following: 

 
• CJ in London does not function as a true ‘system’ – spend delivers activities and 

outputs at an agency rather than a system level 
• Re-offending activity accounts for £2,251m of criminal justice spend in London – 

69% of total spend representing significant demand on the system 
• There is potential to streamline and improve case management flows between 

agencies and into both the Magistrates and Crown Courts.   
• There is potential to realise efficiencies in back office activities and expenditure 

across agencies (Back office expenditure accounts for 26%) 
• Achieving just a 15% reduction in back office costs across all agencies would 

yield £330m in annual cost savings for the CJ system in London. 
 
Youth Justice Example 

 
At a meeting between the Mayor and Minister of Justice in June 2015, support was 
given to identifying potential for devolving Youth Justice to London as a first stage.  
 
This leads on from work earlier in the year, at the Youth Justice roundtable that 
MOPAC and the YJB jointly facilitated, where partners started to work together to 
drive an improved strategic response focused on: 

 



40 
 

• Targeted prevention – collectively focusing activities on those most at risk of 
offending; 

 
• A whole system approach to reducing youth reoffending - targeting those 

most at risk of reoffending regardless of whether they are managed in the 
community or custody; and  

 
• Joint commissioning and collective investment- reducing duplication, 

addressing gaps in provision and making best use of resources across partners. 
 
The London Youth Justice Context 
 

• Crime is falling (21% reduction in last 7 years) but reoffending for both youth and 
adults are increasing (in 2014, 64% of proven offences by young people were 
reoffences) 

• London’s youth population is projected is expected to increase by a further 9% by 
2024 (and has already increased by 10% over the last 10 years) 

• There has been a reduction in reoffending of youths leaving custody but the 
challenge is the remaining more complex cohort who have a higher rate of re-
offences per offender. 

• Those who have received a youth community penalty also have a high 
reoffending rate and commit the most re-offences ( 32% of the total re-offences) 

• Levels of first time entrants in London are 128% higher than the second largest 
police area  

• There are 32 individual YOTs in London each with separate funding, 
management and premises; 

• The Youth Justice Board grant formula to London Boroughs is based on 
population and deprivation and there is no relationship to reoffending and 
outcomes;  

• This is set against a backdrop of funding reductions to both YOT allocations and 
wider Local Authority contributions at a local level. 

 
Youth Justice spend in London is c.£91million (including £14m YJB funding for YOTs). 
Given the challenging financial context it is timely to not only reflect on the positive 
progress to reduce youth reoffending that has been made in London but also to consider 
the approach to youth justice arrangements to ensure the continued delivery of value for 
money and outcomes.  
 
With Youth Justice community resources devolved to from the Youth Justice Board to 
London government, we can invest alongside other funding streams to maximise value 
for money and targeted delivery. London government could work with partners to devise 
a new funding allocation formula for London, based on need, risk and required 
outcomes. This will have a direct impact on further reductions in the secure estate. We 
request that savings are made back in to prevention, furthering the drive to reduce first 
time entrants and demand management on the whole system. We believe this can be 
achieved whilst continuing to adhere to national standards and guidelines and 
complementing the work of HMIP. 



41 
 

 
2. Devolve existing crime prevention resources, along with the Preventing Violent 

Extremism and crime related health budgets, into a London pooled fund.   
 
Central government has, in recent years, devolved certain commissioning 
responsibilities down to the London level (such as the community safety fund and 
victims commissioning and budget) whilst others have remained at a national level, 
such as Prevent and the commissioning of the court based witness services.   

 
Prevent funding is provided directly from the Home Office to Local Authorities and is 
run as a bidding process each year. Local Authority Leaders and Chief Executives 
are now calling for greater involvement in Prevent work across London and for less 
bureaucracy at the local level to enable an improved focus on delivering outcomes. 
The London Crime Reduction Board has already set up the first Contest Board for the 
region, signaling its intent to further its support of the Contest strategy as a priority. 
This board is driving improvements to commissioning of Prevent work, for example 
building the first London region CTLP that works across boroughs. 

 
MOPAC assumed responsibility of some but not all Victims commissioning in 
October 2014. Elements such as the court based witness service have been retained 
at centrally and recently re-commissioned.  This makes it challenging to join up and 
drive whole system approaches to supporting witnesses and victims in the criminal 
justice system. 

 
Freedoms and flexibility in health, especially giving a regional and local aspect to 
national mandate and commissioning frameworks, would allow for multiple budgets to 
be strengthened and supported by closer integration and maximising resources. 

 
This approach builds on best practice developed under the Troubled Families 
Programme. 
 
Transferring the commissioning responsibility and funding of these funding 
streams to a London level would drive improved outcomes and deliver far 
better value, whilst reducing risk for central government. 
 

3. Enable London to integrate emergency services, starting with MPS and LFB 
control room services to allow smarter deployment of emergency services and to 
achieve back office efficiencies and savings. 
 

• £4.2 billion is currently spent on bluelight services (Police £3.5bn, fire 
£400m and ambulance £300m) across the capital.   

• Demand on police emergency response is increasing; response performance 
is increasing 

• Demand on London Fire Brigade is falling (21k fires attended 2013/14 
compared to 27k 2011/12) 

• Demand on London Ambulance Service (LAS) is increasing: emergency calls 
received (1.7m during 2013/14) and incidents attended (1.09m). 



42 
 

• There are multiple police forces operating in London and we should seek to 
achieve shared capacity and overheads wherever possible (especially with 
the British Transport Police) in order to reduce duplication, governance costs 
and the potential for unnecessary cost. 
 

London’s ‘Offers’  
 
These proposals would enable London government to collaborate with national criminal 
justice partners to: 
 

I. Systematically drive down and manage demand on the whole criminal justice system 
in London including collective action to grip offenders and drive down reoffending 
across the capital; 

 
II. Develop a truly integrated approach to criminal justice in tough times, delivering the 

projected reductions in spending across the system whilst minimising the loss of 
frontline services and preventing a crippling loss of confidence in the safety of the 
capital; 

 
III. Deliver more effective local responses to crime and violent extremism through 

integration of services, building on best practice developed under the Troubled 
Families Programme, including Payment by Results; 

 
IV. Deliver  efficiencies of scale, deployment, back office and property over time, whilst 

ensuring adherence to national standards and guidance; 
 

V. Reinvest administrative savings in prevention to further reduce demand, improve 
lives and reduce long term dependency. 

 
These proposals have widespread support across London and have been led by current 
governance systems, specifically the London Crime Reduction Board. High level 
engagement with ministers and government departments has seen positive responses to the 
principles put forward. 
 
 
  



43 
 

Health and Care  
 
Strategic Context 

This section sets out the broad model for reform of health and care in London that has been 
agreed in principle by London boroughs, CCGs, the Mayor, PHE and NHS England.  It 
provides a common platform for collaborating to transform outcomes for Londoners and 
address the sustainability of the health and care system in the capital.   

There is commitment across local government and the NHS in London to make progress on 
reform and transformation within existing powers and responsibilities.  But both the ability 
and incentives to address long-standing, complex challenges will be significantly constrained 
without clear steps by government and national NHS bodies to devolve funding and powers, 
and to provide freedoms and flexibilities to support new ways of working and a strategic 
focus on driving transformative change.    

We therefore want to use the CSR to establish a framework for supporting reform of health 
and care across London throughout the next Parliament.  This framework seeks immediate 
agreement to some national changes, while others would be unlocked as detailed proposals 
are developed at different levels in London. 

There is agreement between all London partners that the scale, complexity and history of 
health and care issues in the capital mean a single, city-wide approach to reform will not be 
successful.  There is also consensus that London’s model of reform must address the whole 
health and care system – to enable a rebalancing towards prevention, early intervention; 
supporting independence and wellbeing, as well as addressing the future sustainability of 
health and care services. 

This needs to be developed on three geographical levels:  local, sub-regional and regional.  
A principle of subsidiarity underpins this ensuring decisions are made at the most 
appropriate level.  But there is recognition, including politically, that hospital service 
transformation will require collaboration across sub-regional footprints and the linkages 
between locally led out of hospital transformation and sub-regionally co-ordinated hospital 
network transformation will need to be strong. 

The increased focus on prevention and public health will require action not only by NHS and 
local authority care services, but also by other parts of local and regional government and 
agencies across a range of areas including employment support, housing and offender 
management. 

There is an ever strengthening track record of collaboration between local government and 
the NHS in London.  But it is recognised that our model of reform will require this to evolve to 
a new level.  Therefore pilots will be set up before the CSR is finalised, through which, sub-
regionally and locally, detailed reform proposals and collaborative structures through which 
to deliver these, will be worked up.   

 



44 
 

 

Background 

London’s population is growing at a faster rate than any other region in England and is 
transient, accounting for 37% of the nation’s short-term residents. The capital also has a 7% 
higher poverty rate than the rest of England and a substantial inequality gap in healthy life 
expectancy between boroughs. London also has particularly high and growing populations of 
both under 25s, where investment in prevention could have significant impact, and over 80 
year olds, the biggest users of health and care services.   

The unique nature of London’s population, the growing health risk factors and organisational 
challenges will put unprecedented pressure on the health and care system over the coming 
years. The NHS in London faces a £4.76bn affordability gap between forecast funding levels 
and the expected rise in demand for healthcare by 2020/2120. In a similar time horizon 
London local government faces a potential funding gap of close to £3.4 billion, of which 
£1.14bn would be experienced by adult social care. 

Lifestyle risk factors are stimulating an increase in health and care demand. London has the 
highest rate of childhood obesity of any peer global city with consequences for the high 
proportion of the health budget spent on associated illnesses. Intervention on smoking is 
thought to be an opportunity to not only address the 8,400 lives lost to smoking each year 
but also reduce the £1.9-£2.8bn currently spent on smoking related illness.  

London’s Health Care system has some significant and enduring challenges: 

• the variable quality of primary care in the capital and particularly in the inner city 
• the poor health of the population in some areas of London 
• the over reliance on hospitals for the delivery of health care 
• the  different patterns of hospitalisation between different areas of the capital and in        

comparison nationally 
• the concentration of hospital services in inner-city areas with higher population growth 

and demand for services in outer London 

There are significant opportunities to radically transform the health and care landscape. 
Currently a fraction of the budget is spent on prevention and self -management initiatives 
despite significant opportunities to be achieved from proactively addressing worsening risk 
factors. Bringing health and social care together provides an opportunity to deliver an 
integrated system that much better meets the population’s varying needs. 

                                                
20 £1.74bn Commissioner challenge defined as the difference between available funding and 
spending based on ‘unconstrained demand’ and rising cost of provision 
£3.02bn Provider challenge defined as current deficits, impact on commissioners constraining 
demand, price changes from tariff changes and rising cost of provision 
£1.74bn London share as announced by the new Conservative government in May 2015. Funding to 
be directed at transformation. 
NOTE: If tariff efficiencies of 4% were to be delivered, this affordability gap reduces to £1.74bn. 
However this is dependent on productivity increases within the system. The majority of providers have 
opted for ETO tariff prices which include a 3.5% efficiency. 
 



45 
 

There is a strong history of collaboration and joint working across health and care and 
political leadership across London.  At local level Health & Well Being Boards are growing in 
maturity and effectiveness and aspire to develop further to fulfil the full strategic 
commissioning role envisaged in their creation. At a pan-London level political leadership 
includes the London Health Board, previously the London Health Improvement Board, which 
from its inception in 2011 has been chaired by the Mayor of London with representation from 
elected borough leaders, the NHS and Public Health.  

A Shared Vision for Health And Care In London 

Nationally the NHS published the Five Year Forward View in October 2014 setting out a 
shared vision of how health services need to change, in order to sustainably address three 
widening gaps, in health and wellbeing, care and quality, and funding and efficiency. 
Building on the Five Year Forward View and the collective high level vision for health and 
care in London established through the London Health Commission, Better Health for 
London:  Next Steps21 was published in March 2015.  

This followed a year long journey that started with a conversation with Londoners, through 
engagement of more than 14000 Londoners at tailored events and through online 
discussions. The process encouraged collaboration between the organisations that influence 
health and care; including Local Government, NHS England, Public Health England, 
London’s healthcare commissioners and providers, patient representatives, the voluntary 
sector and industry.   

The recommendations set out directly address issues relating to how to affect the change, 
such as funding, workforce, information sharing, estates and leadership.  

The partners of the London Health Board; London Councils, London CCGs, the Mayor, NHS 
England and Public Health England have committed to 10 joint aspirations to help London 
become the healthiest World City.  

                                                
21 http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/health-and-adult-services/health/better-health-
london-next-steps-plan  

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/health-and-adult-services/health/better-health-london-next-steps-plan
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/health-and-adult-services/health/better-health-london-next-steps-plan


46 
 

 

 
Opportunities and Benefits Of Devolution In Meeting These Ambitions 

Our goal is to secure improved care across the spectrum of health and care services, 
reducing hospitalisation through proactive, co-ordinated and personalised care that is 
effectively linked up with wider services to help people maintain their independence, dignity 
and wellbeing.  When Londoners need acute or emergency physical or mental care they 
should all be able to access consistently world class services, seven days a week.  But they 
should be just as confident about being able to access consistently high quality support to 
address lower level health issues and manage ongoing conditions to minimise the impact on 
their wider lives and families.   

 Aspiration 2020 Ambition 

 

1. Give all London’s children a healthy, happy start to 
life 

Ensure that all children are school-ready by age 5  
Achieve a 10% reduction in the proportion of children obese by Year 6 
and reverse the trend in those who are overweight 

 

2. Get London fitter with better food, more exercise 
and healthier living  

Help all Londoners to be active and eat healthily, with 70% of 
Londoners achieving recommended activity levels 

 

3. Make work a healthy place to be in London Gain one million working days in London through an improvement in 
health and a reduction in sickness absence 

 

4. Help Londoners to kick unhealthy habits Reduce smoking rates in adults to 13% - in line with the lowest major 
global city and reduce the impact of other unhealthy habits 

 

5. Care for the most mentally ill in London so they live 
longer, healthier lives 

Reduce the gap in life expectancy between adults with severe and 
enduring mental illness and the rest of the population by 5% 

 

6. Enable Londoners to do more to look after 
themselves 

Increase the proportion of people who feel supported to manage 
their long-term condition to the top quartile nationally 

 

7. Ensure that every Londoner is able to see a GP 
when they need to & at a time that suits them 

Transform general practice in London so Londoners have access to 
their GP teams 8am-8pm, and primary care is delivered in modern 
purpose-built/designed facilities 

 

8. Create the best health and care services of any 
world city, throughout London and on every day 

Work towards having the lowest death rates for the top three killers 
Close the gap in care between those admitted to hospital on 
weekdays and at weekends 

 

9. Fully engage and involve Londoners in the future 
health of their city 

Achieve 10 basis point improvements in poll data 

 

10. Put London at the centre of the global revolution in 
digital health 

Create 50,000 new jobs in the digital health sector & ensure that 
innovations help Londoners to stay healthy and manage their 
conditions 

 



47 
 

Achieving this integration of services across providers can be significantly accelerated as a 
result of the opportunity presented by devolution: 

Benefit Outcomes Additional opportunity from devolution 

Addressing the 
health and 
wellbeing gap  

• All children are school-ready 
by age of 5 

• Reduction in proportion of 
obese children  

• Increased proportion of 
Londoners achieving 
recommended activity levels 

• Reduction in workplace 
sickness and associated 
absence 

• Reduction in smoking rates 
to level of lowest global city 

• Ability to strengthen and support actions 
taken by many Health and Wellbeing Boards 
by working in partnership across the health 
and care system and by other industries and 
sectors. 

• Opportunity to embed health promotion and 
prevention throughout health and care 
services, and develop new partnerships 
between the public, third and business 
sectors to promote health in innovative 
settings across London 

• Strengthening strategic alliances e.g. on 
illegal tobacco 

Addressing the 
care and quality 
gap 

• Reduction in gap in life 
expectancy for adults with 
severe & enduring mental 
illness 

• Public supported to self-
manage long-term conditions 

• Public able to access care in 
the right place at the right 
time 

• Reduction in the gap in 
outcomes for weekend vs 
weekday admissions 

• Integration of health and care budgets in a 
place to maximise potential for new models 
of care and reducing the reliance on 
hospitals. 

• Build on examples of local collaboration 
pilots to provide early intervention and re-
ablement services rather than a crisis based 
system 

• Enable investment in partnership working 
between primary care and local services to 
coordinate care around the needs of patients 

• Enable investment in partnership working 
between primary care, social care and the 
community sector to roll-out integrated 
personal commissioning 

• Use transformation funding to invest in fit for 
purpose facilities for the provision of health 
and care services 

Addressing the 
funding and 
efficiency gap 

• Improved value delivered 
within available health and 
care funding 

• Allows for increased investment in out of 
hospital settings to deliver care in the most 
appropriate settings for the patient 

• Integrates services improving patient flow 
through the system and associated 
productivity 

 

  



48 
 

London’s Devolution Proposition  for Reforming Health And Care 
Services 

Our model of reform to achieve this recognises that collaboration and new ways of working 
will be needed between commissioners, providers, patients, carers and wider partners at 
multiple levels.  

We are committed to ensuring wide ranging engagement to support development of this 
model. Political leadership and oversight at the borough level through Health and Well Being 
Boards and at the pan-London level through the London Health Board will need to develop; 
further strengthening its connections to all London partners. New leadership and 
collaboration capability at the sub-regional level will also be required.  

We recognise the ultimate accountability of existing statutory organisations to parliament and 
electorates. In our model, geographies would be accountable for upholding national 
standards, delivering statutory requirements including, but not limited to, the NHS 
Constitution and would have to account to the Chief Executive of NHS England for the 
financial performance of the NHS within the local geography. We are committed to this 
accountability and upholding national standards and requirements.  

Our model will be developed on three geographical levels:  local, sub-regional and pan-
London.  A principle of subsidiarity underpins this ensuring decisions are made at the most 
appropriate level.  There is recognition that acute service transformation will require 
collaboration across sub-regional footprints and place based budgets will support the 
linkages between locally led out of hospital transformation and sub-regionally co-ordinated 
hospital network transformation. Core components of the London approach across the three 
geographical levels for action will include: 

Locally: 

• joint multi-year local integration planning, supporting Health and Well Being Board 
strategies, to secure increased prevention, early intervention, personalisation and 
integrated out of hospital health and care services – and alignment of provider plans 

• full pooling and joint commissioning of NHS, social care and public health 
commissioning budgets through s75 agreements 

• local public asset plans and scheme development to secure facilities to deliver 
accessible, multi-purpose, integrated out of hospital services 

Sub-regionally: 

• Delivery of local Health and Well Being Board aspirations through accountable 
strategic partnerships based on joint committees established to lead transformation 
at sub-regional scale 

• joint health and care strategies to develop new models of care across acute, primary 
and social care settings 

• joint commissioning to secure delivery of sub-regional plans that are clinically and 
financially sustainable for all parts of the health and care system within the 
geography 



49 
 

• sub-regional estate plans and scheme development to unlock redevelopment of un- 
or under-used NHS estate, aligned with local public asset planning 

Pan-London: 

• The London Health Board, chaired by the Mayor of London, will provide political 
leadership, oversight and support for the London strategy including delivery of the 
ambitions of Better Health for London and commitment to the vision set out in the 
Five Year Forward View 

• A pan-London joint executive committee, accounting to the London Health Board and 
with ability to act on behalf of regional and local partners to agree strategic priorities 
and to create frameworks that support devolved working at all levels  

• Partnerships for strategic estate planning, allied to the London Land Commission and 
sub-regional strategies  

• Workforce planning and skills development to match the pace of health system 
transformation 

• Collaboration to develop city level public health improvement actions, including both 
regulatory and fiscal interventions 

• Development of London wide financial and other frameworks, such as new payment 
models, for use at sub-regional and local level.  

To deliver this strategy, three types of action and agreement will be required: 

1. Action by London: London will build on its record of collaboration and joint working 
by developing the leadership and delivery arrangements that are required at local, 
sub-regional and pan-London levels. This will include the swift setting up of pilot 
collaborations at local and sub-regional levels; 

2. Devolution Unlocked as London Becomes Ready: Agreement is needed between 
London government and its NHS partners on the one hand, and Government and the 
NHS at national level on the other, on a menu of new devolved flexibilities, 
opportunities and authority that would become available to London and parts of 
London upon the development of robust joint governance, strategies and delivery 
arrangements. 

3. Requirements of NHS and Government: Agreement is also needed on a set of 
reforms to unlock health improvement and system transformation as part of the CSR 
decision-making process. This requires action by the NHS, Department of Health and 
other government departments including CLG  

We describe the detail of these three tasks in the next section. 

 

  



50 
 

London’s Devolution ‘Offers’:  

Actions and Agreements Sought 

Action by London 

London Leadership: collaborative transformation 

Partners recognise that a number of immediate actions will need to be taken to maximise the 
opportunity afforded by the shared model described. Implementation of this model would 
require: 

• Partners would rapidly establish the governance by which a pan-London joint 
committee can act on behalf of regional and local partners, account to London’s 
political leadership and meet the statutory requirements of the NHS.  

• This is expected to result in the development of a MoU similar to the spirit of the 
Manchester MoU to be published in autumn 2015, but reflecting London’s larger 
population and need for sub-regional working in addition to  pan-London and local 
levels 

• Immediate contribution of resources, capacity and capability from each of the parties 
to deliver a joint business case and plan across boroughs, the GLA, NHS England, 
PHE, CCGs and Providers. This would include an articulation of the benefits to be 
achieved and a plan for their realisation. 

• Development of a business plan and associated business case for delivering 
sustainable transformation through the use of devolved funding to be completed by 
summer 2016 

London Pilots: collaborative transformation 
London boroughs have embraced their new public health roles and are innovating to find 
better ways of engaging with their communities on health and healthy lifestyles, improving 
public health services, using their regulatory powers to shape healthier places, making links 
with other services to impact on wider determinants of health and helping embed more 
preventative approaches into mainstream service planning.  They are collaborating to spread 
best practice and work together on common challenges.  This includes collaborative 
commissioning, often supported by PHE London, both through boroughs working together in 
small numbers and through pan-London approaches to HIV Prevention and the impending 
commissioning of sexual health services. Many of these collaborations are supported 
regionally by the Mayor’s public health-related initiatives such are London healthy schools, 
TfL’s huge investment in cycling and its health transport plan, and a pan London community 
sports programme, amongst others.  

We will continue to build on our existing platforms, including by increasing collaboration on 
prevention between local government, regional government, PHE and the NHS and by 
mainstreaming prevention into integrated health and care.   

To create a platform for the swifter transformation described in our proposals London will 
build on this record of collaboration by developing a range of pilot collaborations at both local 



51 
 

level for boroughs and CCGs through Health and Well Being Boards and at sub-regional 
level: 

• at least one Borough/CCG level fully integrated strategy where care, public health 
and CCG budgets are fully shared; 

• at least one sub-regional collaboration across health and local government able 
to develop a full service transformation strategy; 

• at least one sub-regional collaboration producing a strategy to transform the 
health and care estate and release resources from under-used estate to support 
investment. 

 

These partnerships will be identified during the autumn of 2015 working up their plans in the 
months afterwards. As their strategies are established these partnerships should be able to 
draw down a range of further powers from a menu agreed with government as part of the 
CSR London proposition process.   
 
Devolution Unlocked as London Becomes Ready  

This menu of devolution opportunities to be unlocked subject to certain conditions should 
include the following proposals: 
 
1. Supporting local integration: subject to the approval of joint local multi-year integration 

plans to transform prevention and out of hospital services, underpinned by pooling of 
budgets, s75 agreements and robust collaborative delivery mechanisms with clear 
provider engagement: 

 
• full devolution of primary care 

commissioning to Borough/CCG level 
• transformation funding 
• the ability to adopt new payment models 

and vary national contracts, within a 
regionally developed framework 

• a streamlined single performance 
management approach for NHS spend  

 
2. Supporting sub-regional transformation: 

subject to the establishment of local 
government/NHS sub-regional partnerships with 
a robust business case for transformation of 
their local health economy and clear governance 
and implementation structures: 

 
• NHS England specialised 

commissioning budgets suitable for 
managing at the sub-regional level 

• transformation funding 

Case study: 
King’s Health Partners and 
Southwark and Lambeth Integrated 
Care are working to improve 
education, prevention, care outcomes 
and patient experience across the 
care system. One project, TALK, 
gives GPs access to 24/7 consultant 
geriatrician advice and aims to reduce 
the burden on urgent care. 56% of 
calls have resulted in planned rapid 
access appointments, preventing 
admissions 

Case study: 
In Greenwich, teams of nurses, social 
workers, occupational therapists and 
physiotherapists jointly respond to 
community emergencies.  Immediate 
intervention has avoided over 2,000 
patient admissions and saved over 
£1m in social care spend 



52 
 

• the ability to draw down new payment models and variations to national contracts 
from a menu of regionally developed alternatives  

• a role in decision-making on ‘cash support’ for providers 
 

3. Supporting sub-regional estates strategy: subject to agreement of a sub-regional 
estates business plan and establishment of robust governance mechanisms: 

 
• access to NHS capital on the basis of a joint capital strategy between London 

partners, as is currently being discussed in Manchester  
• power to make capital funding decisions up to a threshold within their envelope 
• make variations in capital charges and the capital tariffs to unlock redevelopment 

of under-utilised NHS estate 
• Devolved authority to make joint decisions on disposal of NHS estate in line with 

the sub-regional capital strategy and NHS accounting officer requirements 
• Right to retain the uplift in the value of NHS disposals created through increases 

in land value that result from the joint capital strategy (allied to pan-London 
governance to ensure retained income will address need in all parts of London). 
 

4. Supporting pan-London health and care system transformation: subject to the 
establishment of appropriate joint NHS England, CCG and London government 
structures: 

 
• NHS England commissioning budgets 

and responsibilities that are not suitable 
or for holding at sub-regional level or 
local levels 

• a joint role in decision-making on ‘cash 
support’ for trusts subject to clear and 
robust plans that link the support to 
financial recovery and strategic change, 
with applications being submitted from 
the London system to DH 

• a role in jointly developing a tariff with NHS England that reflects the cost of NHS 
services in London and ensure partners have full involvement in proposals to 
vary the national tariff 

• powers and national resources for developing payment and contracting models 
• An integrated approach to workforce strategy across London with devolved 

authority for joint design of co-commissioning training to London level and 
consideration of devolution of HEE budgets consistent with government’s wider 
demand led approach to skills provision 

• making best use of London’s share of available improvement resource and 
funding e.g. NHS IQ 

 
5. Supporting pan-London estates strategy: subject to the establishment of suitable joint 

NHS and London government governance and management arrangements, aligned with 
the London Land Commission: 

 

Case study: 
A London Prevention Board has been 
established involving local authorities, 
CCGs, NHS England, Public Health 
England and the GLA, which is 
shaping up proposals for collaborative 
innovation and work with wider 
partners to accelerate progress on 
key population health priorities for the 

it l   



53 
 

• Protection of London’s share of the NHS capital budget for planning purposes as 
described under “Requirements on NHS and Government” below (estimated to 
be around £1.2 – 1.4 billion per annum for NHS Trusts and primary care estates)  

• Power to make capital funding decisions up to the London budget 
• London Land Commission (LLC) to have “right of first refusal” on land assembly 

and disposal in order to increase value in estate disposals with an allied 
expectation that sub-regional capital strategies are aligned to the wider LLC 
strategic plans 

6. Supporting pan-London public health improvement: subject to the establishment of 
suitable joint GLA and local government governance and management arrangements: 
 

• The ability to raise the minimum age for purchasing tobacco, alcohol and other 
harmful substances. 

• The ability to use fiscal measures to reduce the purchasing of tobacco, alcohol 
and other harmful substances. 

• Power for the Mayor to make health improvement interventions to complement 
his statutory health inequality duty and functional responsibilities for transport, 
housing, planning, environment and economic strategy. 

Clear joint mechanisms between the government, national NHS bodies and London partners 
should also be established to work through the detail of conditional devolution.  This route 
should also be prepared to consider further potential devolution or delegation proposals for 
any level that arise through the development of detailed transformation business cases. 

Requirements of NHS and Government  

To enable and incentivise partners across London to make accelerate progress on health 
and care reform in London, we are seeking agreement through the CSR to the following 
measures: 

1. Financial Levers: 
• Agreement to future years financial allocations and planning assumptions to give 

visibility and assurance of funding over a 3 – 5 year period. 
• London’s share of all national NHS transformation funding devolved, ring-fencing 

London’s share of the £8 billion additional NHS funding [estimated to be £1.74bn] 
and delegation of London’s share [£38m-£45m per annum] of the £750 million 
Primary Care Infrastructure Fund subject to a clear agreement on expenditure 
accountability 

• Agreement to develop a joint capital strategy between NHS England, CCGs and 
London partners, with joint decision-making and full visibility of the capital budget.  

• Access to NHS capital based on the joint capital strategy and agreed for a 5 year 
period with the capital strategy being refreshed every two years. 

 
2. Regulatory and Service Levers: 

• Full involvement in decisions about provider performance by London partners 
and the relevant regulatory bodies and delivery of a financial envelope for 
providers. This to include a commitment to explore with the DH, NHS England 



54 
 

and NHS Improvement a mechanism for devolving the approval of cash support 
linked to financial recovery and strategic change with applications being 
submitted from the London system to the DH. 

• A process for agreeing with government, NHS England and NHS Improvement 
how provider regulation in London can better contribute to whole system 
transformation ambitions  

• Agreement by NHS England and Monitor to arrangements where London 
partners have full involvement in proposals to vary and otherwise reach local 
agreements related to the national tariff in order to develop innovative payment 
mechanisms that support the delivery of new models of care.  

• Agreement from NHS England and NHS Improvement to consider a single joint 
appointment across both organisations for activities across London. 

• Agreement to streamlining national programmes and devolving NHS England 
decision-making and powers to the regional level as much as possible. 

 
3. Public Health Issues Involving other Government Departments: 

• Agreement to devolve the Work Programme Plus to enable integration of 
employment support and health, and strengthen the focus on employment outcomes 
in the NHS mandate (see Chapter 2) 

• Make health a key consideration in the National Planning Policy Framework (Section 
2 – Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres) to strengthen local authorities’ ability to 
reflect health issues in their local plans. 

• Update Planning Policy Guidance, reflecting examples of case law, to embed health 
and wellbeing eg establishing exclusion zones around infant, children or young 
person facilities for fast food, alcohol, betting and payday loan outlets. 

• Ensure consistency of approaches by Planning Inspectors to appeals against refusal 
of permissions on public health grounds. 

• Make health a fifth licensing objective to enable councils to take public health issues 
into account when making licensing decisions. 

• Amend the Late Night Levy so that the charges are put into a pool under the joint 
control of the local authority and police, to increase the incentive for areas to use 
these powers because they will be able to determine locally the appropriate balance 
of spending on prevention and policing. 

• Additional regulatory powers for London boroughs and the London Mayor including: 
o Give councils power to determine permitted development rights – to enable 

them to balance local considerations, which would enable them to consider 
health alongside growth and other factors. 

o Give councils the power to set regular review periods for alcohol licences. 
o Give councils the power to vary business rates, to enable them to consider 

health implications alongside growth and other local factors, eg to incentivise 
the provision of healthy food options. 

o Agreement to continue to work with London partners to develop additional 
powers as required 

 

  



55 
 

Housing 
 
Strategic Context  
 
Driven by decades in which housing supply has failed to meet London’s growing population, 
the capital now faces a critical shortage of homes across all tenures – a challenge that 
poses a unique and persistent threat to the capital’s desirability as a place to do business 
and live.  
 
Without a dramatic increase in home building sustained over many years London faces the 
prospect of an embedded and dysfunctional housing market that continues to act as a costly 
and inefficient drag on London’s economic productivity and its contribution to national 
prosperity. 
 
We recognise the government’s desire to increase home ownership through the introduction 
of starter homes; we also recognise its desire to extend to housing association tenants the 
same opportunities of home ownership that local authority tenants have and that it intends to 
finance this through the sale of high-value council properties. Councils are already taking 
forward their ambitions to expand affordable homes ownership through estate regeneration. 
 
We believe, however, that this policy, allied to restrictions to HRA borrowing and changes in 
the Housing Revenue Account, creates significant new risks for London’s housing supply 
pipeline and requires an approach tailored to the capital. In particular, it will be crucial to 
ensure that these proposals support, rather than undermine, additional new housing supply. 
 
Addressing this risk is a key priority for London government and work is currently ongoing to 
develop and agree a sustainable way forward. That will be the subject of discussion between 
London government and ministers in the run up to the proposed Housing Bill. London 
Government will be guided by the following agreed principles in pursuing this discussion: 
 

• the importance of supporting the delivery of new homes across all tenures, including 
a net increase in affordable housing 

• the importance of supporting London’s social mix in every borough 
• the importance of allowing housing funds generated in the city to be reinvested in 

London to help tackle the growing housing crisis here. 

We are committed and will work as London government with ministers and officials at DCLG 
and HMT to explore the scope for a proposition in London that reflects these principles, 
which is based on genuine joint governance of any ring fenced funding that London has to 
invest in re-supply and which takes account of the need to mitigate against potential 
increases in temporary accommodation and the welfare bill flowing from these policies. 
In addition, this proposition also focuses upon a number of smaller scale interventions and 
flexibilities the government can agree that would address long-standing barriers to greater 
housing delivery in London. These are set out below and cover proposals under the 
following areas: 
 
 



56 
 

• Land assembly to accelerate building 
• Planning levers for faster development 
• Financial levers for greater home building 
• Tackling pressures in temporary accommodation 

In exchange for agreement on these proposals London government would negotiate 
increased aggregate delivery targets for London facilitated by new commitments to deliver at 
scale and pace across London. 
 

London’s Housing Offer 

 
With the powers, funds and freedoms set out below London government will be able to 
achieve an increase in home building that better meets the scale of demand facing the 
capital. In addition, we will be in a position to pursue new strategic goals that will include: 
 
1. The Mayor and London boroughs working together to create  small site framework 

panels specifically to prepare land for development by SMEs 
 

2. London boroughs making a commitment to deliver estate improvement and renewal, 
through pro-active use of their borough led asset management plans on their existing 
estate 

 
3. Enhancing the speed and consistency of development agreements 

 
4. Accelerating the speed of land assembly 

 
 
 

London’s Housing Proposition 
 

Land Assembly to Accelerate Building 
 
1. Surplus public sector land should be transferred to London government for 

development whenever possible using OJEU compliant processes and either the 
London Development Panel or new small site framework panels. 

The London Development Panel is a land procurement panel responsible for establishing 
a framework agreement between 25 developers that enables public land owners to 
award individual contracts without initiating an expensive procurement process for each 
separate offer. Since the Panel was established in May 2013 it has saved time and 
money, increasing housing delivery and spurring economic growth. Transferring surplus 
public sector land to London government and brokering development through the panels 
would maximise delivery and reduce overheads. 
 



57 
 

As part of London’s offer we propose to establish  small sites panels. This would play to 
borough strengths and provide similar opportunities for efficiency and increased delivery 
as the London Development Panel, but would focus on fast-tracking small sites through 
to smaller developers that might otherwise be overlooked. Research by the NHBC 
Foundation has suggested small house builders have made a significant contribution to 
housing delivery, but have not recovered from the recent recession. The Small Sites 
Panels would help support their return to growth, and aligned with the recommendation 
below, increase the ability of London boroughs to work with developers to increase 
delivery within their areas. 
 
 
 

2. London boroughs should be given the power to direct the release of public land 
and buildings. 

In support of the London Land Commission and in line with the Elphicke-House review 
London boroughs should be have a central role in directing the release and procurement 
of public land within their areas to ensure it is used to meet local priorities.  
London local authorities are well positioned to co-ordinate the use of public land in their 
areas as they are accountable to local residents, possess strong knowledge of local 
challenges and opportunities and are increasingly looking to maximise revenue income 
and community benefits over the long run.  
The London Land Commission should work closely with boroughs to develop a strategy 
for the release of public land in their area to make sure it helps deliver local priorities 
around housing and supporting infrastructure. The Mayor’s Housing Zones initiative has 
demonstrated the value of London boroughs playing a more active role in developing 
and taking forward a housing delivery for their areas. Processes around the release of 
public land should be aligned with this approach to maximise local innovation and 
housing outcomes. 
 

3. Private and public sector land holdings should be more transparent and be 
published in an online registry of land ownership, prices, planning permissions 
and all options held on all land in the Greater London Area. 

The lack of available information on land ownership hinders London boroughs in 
preparing plans to maximise housing delivery. A significant proportion of land controlled 
by or accessible to house builders is not directly owned, but bought on ‘option’, in 
anticipation that it may be granted planning permission for development in the medium 
term. While option agreements vary in complexity, they are usually based on exclusivity 
between the developer and the landowner.  
A 2008 study by the Office of Fair Trading found that the ‘vast majority’ of land held by 
developers was held on option in ‘strategic’ land banks, where there is no planning 
permission or any immediate prospect of permission being granted. However, the 
precise extent of land options held by developers is not clear, because there is no 
requirement for them to be declared. Uncertainty and lack of market information both 
slows transactions and land assembly as well as distorting prices. 
Greater transparency will assist decision-makers in identifying sites that have been 
optioned for long-term development and negotiating with developers in order to speed up 



58 
 

delivery. This will also facilitate negotiation on viability assessments and planning 
obligations. 
 

4. Government should simplify Compulsory Purchase Order processes and review 
and reform ‘rights of light’ arrangements. 

While the government’s recent consultation on reforming Compulsory Purchase Orders 
contained proposals that have the potential to add greater transparency to this process 
we believe that based on our experience of the Mayor’s Housing Zones initiative more 
could be done to facilitate land acquisition on major sites.  
Government should commit to joint development of an improved Compulsory Purchase 
Orders system for London that accelerates the speed of decision making while protecting 
the rights of private land owners. The issue of pricing should also be addressed to 
ensure swifter agreement. 
 
 

5. Government should create a power for London government to levy a tax or other 
financial penalty on unused or underused land to encourage sites to come forward 
for development more swiftly. 

As proposed by the London Finance Commission, a tax on undeveloped land could be 
designed to incentivise landowners to work with a developer willing and able to build or 
sell homes swiftly. This could be used on a targeted at specific cases of non-building 
land owners as a mechanism of unblocking land supply. 

Planning Levers for Faster Development 
 
1. Government should provide London boroughs with full freedom over planning 

fees 

Our findings indicate a projected net shortfall in funding in borough development control 
budgets of approximately £40 million between 2012/13 and 2014/15. This shortfall is 
driven by a fee structure set nationally that has failed to keep pace with rising costs or 
provide the flexibility for local authorities to properly account for an application’s 
complexity. Based on our research we estimate that only 66 per cent of borough 
planning services are currently covered by fees from applicants. 
Under-resourcing impacts on the ability of borough planning departments to deliver a 
service that meets the expectations of developers. In 2010 delays in processing planning 
applications cost developers in London £80 million. Improving borough planning services 
by covering shortfalls in fees would improve decision-making times and save developers 
money. Based on data from 2010, we estimate reducing the average length of planning 
applications to 13 weeks could save developers £64 million. 
This could be achieved by amending Sections 303 and 333(2A) of the Town and County 
Planning Act 1990. 

2. The Secretary of State should be removed from any call in of borough planning 
decisions whenever those decisions are in favour of development 

While the power of call-in by the Secretary of State has been used sparingly in London in 
recent years both the threat and reality of such determinations occurring before planning 
approval can be granted adds to uncertainty and delay. 



59 
 

In particular, the current criteria for statutory referral include: green belt development; 
large retail office or leisure uses outside town centres; development affecting the setting 
of a World Heritage Site; and, development leading to the loss of a playing field. We 
believe these and other such matters can be decided in London, either locally or jointly 
by London boroughs and the Mayor.  
 

3. Introduce a time-limit on the period allowed for advice to be given by non-housing 
statutory agencies to avoid delays to planning approvals for home building 

While public agencies that have been asked by a local authority to consider the specific 
impacts of a development proposal – such as environmental impacts – are required to 
give a substantial response in 21 days, if they fail to do so then they may still have an 
opportunity to influence the planning process if the decision is called in either by the 
Mayor or the Secretary of State. 
Therefore, in order to ensure consistency between the evidence considered prior to 
planning approval being granted and evidence considered in the event of a planning 
decision being called in, we propose that if an agency fails to respond within the initial 
timeframe for comment prior to call-in then they should lose the ability to further influence 
the planning process. 

4. Introduce a more transparent approach to viability tests across London – 
underpinned by a standardised approach for London agreed by the Mayor and 
London boroughs, to ensure faster and sustainable decision making. 

The additional weight given to viability in the National Planning Policy Framework has 
increased the pressure on affordable housing contributions by unduly prioritising 
developer profit margins and increasing the complexity of planning negotiations. As a 
consequence, significant developments are being agreed based on a site-by-site 
assessment of viability that fails to meet wider planning objectives around sustainability 
and affordability. 
Furthermore, assumptions on land value within the viability assessment process and the 
introduction of a right to request a review of S106 planning obligations, with the ability for 
a developer to appeal to the Secretary of State if this request is refused weakens the 
ability of local authorities to negotiate robustly with applicants and adds delays to the 
planning process. 
We believe the government should review current guidance on viability and support the 
introduction of a transparent and rigorous approach to viability assessments in the 
capital by London boroughs. 

Financial Levers for Greater Home Building 
 
1. Increase flexibility in the use of capital funds by boroughs to secure broader 

social and physical infrastructure where this will unlock increased housing 
development as part of wider regeneration of local areas 

Currently, unless specific consent is given by the Secretary of State, capital funds 
generated by disposals outside of receipts arising from local authority right to buy must 
spent on affordable housing, regeneration or the payment of housing debt. 
London boroughs are best placed to make decisions about how best to deliver a 
sustainable increase in housing delivery within their area. They should be freed from the 



60 
 

requirement to request permission from the Secretary of State and allowed to use capital 
funds flexibly to meet local needs. 
 

2. Reform right to buy for council homes, so that all funds are retained and can be 
used fully flexibly to deliver more homes for Londoners.  

 
At a minimum this flexibility would include: 

• Use of receipts for home building outside the Housing Revenue Account 
• Use of receipts in combination with any other grant funding 
• Use of receipts for related work leading to housing delivery 
• Removal of the 30 per cent rule so that councils might have full flexibility of 

receipt use 
• Removal of the three year time limit to ensure supply pipelines can be 

constructed 
• Retention of 100% of receipts by London local authorities 

A recent survey of 25 London boroughs indicated that in the three years since the right to 
buy discount was increased in 2012 approximately 6,470 homes have been sold under 
this scheme, generating £705 million after deductions. With these receipts London 
boroughs have proposed building 3,090 homes at a cost of £673 million, but because of 
the 30 per cent limit, boroughs can only commit £202 million, leaving a funding gap of 
additional £471 million.  
 
Due to caps on local authority borrowing and restrictions on combining receipts with 
affordable housing grant this is in an investment gap that has yet to be bridged. In 
addition, the three year time limit on the use of receipts, means that resources must be 
committed rapidly to new build. This undermines the development of a long term 
strategic approach to delivery by preventing investment more ambitious estate 
regeneration and the construction of supply pipelines through cross-subsidy and land 
assembly initiatives. 
 

3. Commit to a 10 year capital settlement; so allowing more cost effective 
programming and delivery of homes 

Current and historic capital funding arrangements for affordable housing delivery in 
London have resulted in an undue focus on short-term priorities delivered through a 
variety of funding streams with different criteria, conditions and objectives. This 
fragmented and bureaucratic approach increases funding complexity and risks national 
policy and investment decisions overriding the requirements and sensitivities of London’s 
housing market.  
 
The government should agree a long term capital settlement with London, setting broad 
outcomes, but allowing London government to determine where investment should be 
made in order to meet those outcomes, for example in enabling infrastructure that 
supports private sector development. 



61 
 

 

 

Tackling Pressures in Temporary Accommodation 
 
1. The government should create a biddable housing challenge and transformation 

fund to encourage and support innovation in tackling the pressures of temporary 
accommodation in the capital 

Between March 2011 and March 2015 the number of households in temporary 
accommodation in London rose from 35,850 to 48,240. This growing pressure has seen 
borough expenditure on homelessness rise from £559 million in 2010/11 to £617 million 
in 2013/14 – an increase of almost 10 per cent during a period when core funding for 
London local government reduced by nearly 25 percent in real terms. 
  
With temporary accommodation subsidy frozen at 90 per cent of the relevant January 
2011 Local Housing Allowance rate, plus an additional fixed management fee of £40, the 
gap between income and expenditure has grown significantly – from covering costs in 
2009/10 to a gap of £63 million across London in 2013/14. Boroughs have attempted to 
bridge the gap by increasing contributions from their general funds and by use of 
Discretionary Housing Payments, yet it is clear that this is not a sustainable solution. 
Discussion on the current arrangements for temporary accommodation nominations will 
be required. 
 
We believe innovative approaches developed at a local level have the potential to make 
a significant impact at scale across London. This would generate savings to both DWP 
and borough temporary accommodation budgets. However, in light of the exceptional 
financial pressure placed on homelessness budgets and local authority resources 
generally there is a risk these approaches will fail to secure sufficient resource to 
demonstrate their potential. Therefore we propose the creation of a challenge and 
transformation fund to incentivise their development and implementation.  



62 
 

Borough Groupings and Sub-Regional Working 
 
 

Voluntary groupings of authorities will clearly be critical to delivering the proposed reforms, 
with the critical mass that borough groupings bring to the proposals.  The proposition has 
been designed as a platform upon which these groups of authorities can build and it should 
be recognised that these partnerships have further ambitions in relation to the growth, reform 
and development of their local areas.  
 
The Local London partnership consists of eight boroughs in north and east London and 
builds upon the strong existing partnerships of the Growth Boroughs and North East London 
Strategic Alliance. These boroughs have come together across party lines to establish 
programmes of work in six policy areas - business growth, community safety, education and 
skills, employment, health and social care and housing. The group has established a shared 
set of principles and vision for devolution where there is a clear and compelling case for 
greater effectiveness and efficiency. Cross-borough working groups are developing 
proposals which seek to unlock the potential of the area, which is home to major economic 
hubs including Canary Wharf and London’s Enterprise Zone and the location of significant 
developments such as the Greenwich Peninsula, London Riverside, Meridian Water and 
Royal Docks. The priority for the group is to identify where collaboration and greater powers 
can bring benefits for residents and drive further growth for the benefit of the country; from 
increasing employment outcomes, to boosting housing supply, to accelerating the health and 
social care prevention and integration agendas.   
 
The South London Partnership has ambitious plans to deliver growth which can be unlocked 
with the right financial interventions and policy mechanisms. South London’s significant 
growth potential is underlined by the contribution made to the South London economy - 
and the overall London-wide economy - by high value start-ups in the technology, 
research, scientific and business sectors and the clear potential to attract new SMEs. The 
partnership’s Growth Prospectus sets out a number of important asks to support its 
ambitions, including fiscal incentives to support enterprise development and growth, as 
well as devolution of skills and training.  The SLP work exemplifies  how housing growth 
could be accelerated – making a significant contribution to London’s pressing need for more 
homes – if their infrastructure and other asks are met.  The partnership is also prioritising the 
transport infrastructure needed to unlock and support growth, such as the Tramlink upgrade 
and extension. Plans for the London Cancer Hub in Sutton, centre on developing a world-
leading campus specialising in cancer research, diagnosis, treatment, education and 
biotech commercialisation, will provide a major boost to London’s life sciences sector. 
 
 
The West London Partnership has set out a vision for the area as a thriving and prosperous 
area, with highly profitable businesses investing in West London with successful residents 
and resilient communities. Their vision is to achieve a step change in partnership with 
business and industry; to increase small business start-up and survival rates; to remove the 
skills gap and to support low-paid residents in work; to radically improve success rates for 
employment programmes for residents with all young people in education, employment or 
training; to  deliver an ambitious housing programme; exploit the opportunities for town 



63 
 

centres to become economic hubs.  The West London Alliance is working with partners on 
helping residents with mental health challenges back into work and co‑commissioning local 
employment interventions with JCP and early learning from this initiative has  informed the 
overall  proposition. 
 
Central London’s boroughs are working together through Central London Forward to 
transform the sub-region and to continue to make a sizeable contribution to the London and 
UK economy. The partnership developed Working Capital, an innovative employment 
support programme for the hardest to help groups agreed with Government as part of the 
London Growth Deal in 2014 and are keen to move forward agreements in the Growth Deal 
on co-commissioning of the successor to the current Work Programme.   Central London 
Forward is looking to continue to make a case for wider devolution of powers including: 

• Pursuing further devolution of employment support to tackle long-term 
unemployment and complex dependency to boost productivity and reduce the 
associated  excessive welfare costs,  including piloting a new model of finance 
aimed at freeing up funding currently trapped in welfare expenditure to invest to 
save;   

• Developing a sub-regional architecture for adult skills to  create a more responsive 
skills system for individuals and employers;  

• Creating the optimal conditions to boost housing supply in London by working 
collaboratively with Government, the Mayor and other London boroughs to ensure 
the needs of a growing and international competitive city are maintained and can 
continue to drive long-term growth;  

• Re-stating the benefits of fiscal devolution to London over the long-term and in the 
short-term test the feasibility of smaller tax raising powers that can contribute 
additional yields, such as the case for a Hotel Levy, and demonstrating London’s 
ability to use the proceeds of yields to invest in future growth initiatives. 

 
 

 
 

  



64 
 

Conclusion 
 

 
Our proposition is built around a self-financing growth and reform model which will provide 
the foundations for more productive and prosperous local communities. Delivery will, 
however, require a package of freedoms and flexibilities that will enable these reforms and 
put them on a sustainable financial footing for the future.   
 
We are therefore keen to work closely with Government to agree a package which will 
deliver:  

 
• Large scale mobilisation of the long term unemployed into jobs. 
• A transformation of London’s skills system to deliver in-demand skills. 
• Lasting reforms to London’s policing and criminal justice system  
• Faster reform and integration of health and social care services. 
• A coherent package of business support services. 
• Delivery of significant and sustainable home building across all types 

of tenure on a London wide scale. 
 

We see this integrated package of proposals as building a single reformed system, with each 
element supporting integrated working at a local level.  
 
The proposition has been designed as a platform upon which voluntary groupings of 
authorities can build and it should be recognised that these partnerships have further 
ambitions in relation to the growth, reform and development in their local areas.  
 
Taken as a whole, London’s proposition sets out an ambitious package of reforms that will 
unlock the full growth potential of the capital and drive increased productivity across the 
nation as a whole.  These major public service reforms depend on devolution from central 
government to unleash the power of London government to act.  
 
We are keen to move with pace, working alongside Government, to design a package that 
works for London and supports growth and productivity nationally.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  



65 
 

Appendices  
 
A: Employment: ‘Local hubs’ – improving resident experiences and employment outcomes 
through co-location and integration 
 
B: Employment - Local Employment Support System Diagrams 

C: Employment - Detailed “Asks” Of Government 
 
D: Skills - London’s Economy 

 
E:  Skills - The current post-16 skills and education landscape  

F: Skills - Evidence from the LEP Skills Inquiry 
 
G: Skills- Approach for a devolved Skills system in London 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
  



66 
 

APPENDIX A: ‘Local hubs’ – improving resident experiences and employment 
outcomes through co-location and integration 
 
Greater co-location and integration of local services has the potential to improve experiences and 
employment outcomes for disadvantaged local residents – around the national spine of financial 
support provided by Universal Credit.  
 
This will require deeper and more collaborative relationships between DWP/Jobcentre Plus, local 
government and other local partners – around the needs of local people. The end of DWP’s estate 
and facilities management contract in 2018 creates a major opportunity to kick start this process 
(which could also generate savings for central government and increased revenues for local 
government). 
 
By definition, it would be for each local area to determine their service priorities and to design a local 
system of employment and related support according to local circumstances and needs (building on 
existing provision and partnerships). However, this Annex covers some of the broad principles which 
are likely to be held in common.   
 
The vast majority of people who lose their job find another one quickly and with little need for state 
support. For example, around 80 per cent of JSA claimants leave the benefit within six months. This is 
high volume, low cost activity, where the objective for both the resident and public agencies is speed 
and efficiency, with minimal bureaucracy. 
 
For this group, the introduction of Universal Credit, and especially its digital elements, will enable 
greater ‘channel shift’, with more benefit administration and job search activity taking place on-line. 
This will allow for more differentiated, risk-based engagement between frontline Work Coaches and 
claimants, especially those who are in work. 
 
This, in turn, will create a further opportunity to improve and intensify work-focused support for longer 
term and more complex claimants. First, by shifting the focus of DWP Work Coaches towards 
disadvantaged groups (currently resourced to spend on average just 88 minutes per ESA claimant 
per year). And second, by re-designing employment-related local public services around the 
individual, through greater co-location and integration.  
 
The development of new or expanded ‘local hubs’ could propel these objectives, by creating a locus 
for bringing together the delivery of core resident-facing frontline services; building on learning from 
the Universal Support Delivered Locally (USDL) pilots.  
 
DWP customers with more complex needs are invariably also the users of local government (and 
voluntary sector) services. However these tend to be organised around professional or sector divides, 
rather than the needs of individuals. These boundaries cannot be easily or quickly overcome, but 
place-based co-location – driving practical integration at the frontline – can create the opportunity for 
‘human-shaped’ services and support.   
 
Pursuing ‘local hubs’ through co-location and integration would mean that residents with greater 
needs would be able to access a range of face to face support in (or via) a single place; speeding up 
their access to help and reducing the experience of being passed between agencies. For 
practitioners, it would mean stronger professional relationships across service divides and more 
straightforward signposting and referral processes. 
 
It would be for each local area to design their local system, but co-location and integration of 
employment support and related local public services through ‘local hubs’ could be organised around 
the following strands: 
 
A single ‘front door’ to local employment-related services: 
 
A ‘local hub’ could establish a single ‘front door’ for residents to access support to find work and help 
with other related issues (with financial support via Universal Credit accessed via the phone or on-
line). This could operate as a simple reception and direction function, or could include a basic 



67 
 

diagnostic and triage operation for unemployed or inactive residents (potentially including use of the 
Claimant Commitment for DWP customers).  
 
This ‘front door’ could have local branding, brigading a range of partners, including Jobcentre Plus. It 
would be for local areas to determine how many ‘local hubs’ they require, depending on the extent of 
co-location and integration, plus the current JCP foot print. 
 
Multi-disciplinary employment support teams: 
 
In many cases, unemployed residents could be signposted directly to the specific service or support 
function they need. However, for those who need more intensive and personalised support, the single 
‘front door’ should provide rapid access to a co-located, multidisciplinary employment support team. 
This would comprise frontline staff from a core set of services and agencies, including: 
 

• An integrated team of Work Coaches from Jobcentre Plus, the local council and potentially 
also the voluntary sector, focused on case-loading disadvantaged groups.  

• Local authority housing support, able to provide help with a range of housing issues plus 
access to discretionary housing payments (and, for now, Housing Benefit). 

• Local advice services, including debt support, financial advice, CAB etc. 
• Any other local financial and welfare services (e.g. council tax support). 
• DWP and local council employer engagement functions, comprising those who have 

personal relationships with local employers and knowledge of local jobs. 
 
In addition to working directly with residents, this core multi-disciplinary employment support team 
would also be responsible for referring residents / customers to contracted employment programmes 
(e.g. Work Programme, Work Choice, ESF etc) as appropriate. 
 
An arrangement such as this could involve a clearer division of DWP/JCP Work Coaches into a) those 
providing a lighter-touch diagnostic and triage function for less complex customers (including 
monitoring compliance with job seeking obligations) and b) those working more intensively with more 
complex customers as part of multi-disciplinary teams. Caseloads would need to be adjusted to reflect 
these different roles. 
 
Links to wider employment-related support and services: 
 
The development of ‘local hubs’ would also create the conditions to promote greater practical 
collaboration between employment support and other related specialist services, including easier 
referral and access for residents. Such an outer tier could comprise: 
 

• Adult skills and community learning provision, including digital / IT. 
• Troubled Families programme, linked in with wider children’s services. 
• Health and social care – e.g. IAPT, mental health and social care services. 
• Substance misuse services (e.g. drug and alcohol). 
• Childcare information services – for pre-school and school age children. 
• Other relevant voluntary and community sector services. 

 
Such collaboration could be achieved by those working on the single ‘front door’ and in the multi-
disciplinary employment support team having good information and simple processes for signposting 
and referring residents / customers to such specialist services. 
 
Alternatively – and preferably – these specialist services, agencies or organisations would allocate a 
key member of staff to be a virtual member of the employment support team, ideally spending a 
significant proportion of their time physically co-located with them. 
 
Their role would be: dealing with quick or urgent issues identified at the diagnostic and triage stage 
(providing a filter function for their service); handling referrals directly and face-to-face (avoiding 



68 
 

delays and bureaucracy); and building good relationships and a strong understanding between 
frontline staff working across professional and service boundaries. 
 
Systems and infrastructure to support ‘local hubs’: 
 
There would need to be a local multi-agency programme structure to drive delivery and provide 
governance to the re-designed system of employment support organised through and around the 
‘local hubs’. This would be essential for nurturing a shared vision, overcoming cultural and 
professional divides, and resolving practical issues as they arose. 
 
Such a programme would be organised around some core goals which all the relevant partners could 
sign up to and be mobilised around. The primary outcome for residents would be sustained 
employment, through decent work with progression prospects. 
 
However, the role and activities of ‘local hubs’ would also aim to achieve a set of secondary 
outcomes, with indicators covering areas such as: 
 

• Financial security – e.g. income poverty and debt. 
• Housing – e.g. homelessness and vulnerable or insecure housing. 
• Health – e.g. mental health, long-term conditions and substance abuse. 
• Skills – e.g. basic literacy, numeracy, English speaking and digital skills. 
• Family life – e.g. domestic violence and early child development. 

 
To support the operation of ‘local hubs’ and progress against these outcomes, there would be a 
strong case for developing a joint analytical and intelligence function across the local partnership. This 
would aim to provide customer insight, performance data and service evaluation – as well as 
overcoming data sharing and information governance issues. 
 
Finally, the kind of collaboration and partnerships necessary to develop effective ‘local hubs’ would be 
further supported by developing agreed customer journeys and referral pathways among a menu of 
local partners. This could map out the phases and stages of support available to residents / 
customers, from initial engagement through to in-work progression, clarifying the role of different 
services at different points on the employment pathway22. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                
22 Importantly, such a map or pathway should not drive a sequential approach to supporting residents to access employment, where it is assumed people 

have to work through each stage or phase. The goal of paid work should be reinforced as early as possible. Nor should it be assumed that ‘complex needs’ 

have to be resolved before employment can be considered. Many people with complex needs are successfully employed and work can often be a crucial 

component of addressing wider or underlying challenges. 



69 
 

APPENDIX B: Employment:  Local Employment Support System Diagrams

 



70 
 

 



71 
 

 



72 
 

APPENDIX C: Employment - Detailed “Asks” Of Government 
 
1. DWP to work with London to develop a model of ‘local hubs’, integrating JobcentrePlus 
Work Coaches and other local employed-related services, to maximise the potential of estate 
co-locations and Universal Credit to improve experiences and outcomes for residents.  
 
A number of London boroughs are already in discussion with DWP about options for estate co-
locations when the current Telereal Trillium contract comes to an end in 2018. However, there is also 
a huge opportunity to use physical co-location to drive greater frontline service integration, in 
particular between DWP Work Coaches and local employment-related services. Moreover, the 
introduction of Universal Credit – and in particular its digital elements – creates a further impetus for a 
more fundamental re-design of the functions and operation of local JobcentrePlus services. 
 
London Councils is assisting DWP to make contact with all boroughs where there may be co-location 
opportunities. However, at present the focus of these bilateral discussions is on buildings rather than 
services. In part this is because the operating and service model underpinning Universal Credit is still 
evolving. That said, there is an opportunity for DWP to collaborate strategically with London during 
this development phase to design a model for co-located and integrated employment services, around 
Universal Credit roll-out, drawing on the lessons of the USDL pilots. 
 
The precise design of service integration will necessarily vary from place to place, depending on local 
circumstances and services (and the ‘test and learn’ approach to UC implementation). However, 
developing a framework service model for ‘local hubs’ in partnership with local government, drawing 
on the description given above and in Annex A, would maximise the potential of co-location to 
improve the quality of support for residents (in particular for those with more complex needs). Such a 
service framework would also be likely to encourage more boroughs to pursue co-location 
opportunities, thereby bearing down on DWP estate and facilities management costs. 
 
2. DWP to co-design and co-commission with London’s sub-regions an employment 
programme for a cohort of disadvantaged residents, which tests the impact of more 
investment and greater integration for this group, jointly funded by central and local 
government. 
 
Low investment per participant and little integration with wider public services are very likely to be 
among the important explanations for the relatively weaker performance of Work Programme 
providers in respect of benefit claimants with more complex needs (including those on ESA). Building 
on existing pilots23, London’s sub-regions are keen to test a new model of employment support for 
disadvantaged groups which seeks to address these two limitations of nationally contracted, DWP-
only financed programmes. 
 
As described in the main document and in Annex B, we believe there are two broad models for how 
such a sub-regional employment programme could be structured and designed. Common to both 
options would be: a focus on sustained employment outcomes and tackling the drivers of complex 
dependency; outcome based funding, while protecting against ‘parking’; a focus on disadvantaged 
groups who need more intensive support; sub-regional geographies; co-financing between central 
and local government, with the aim of higher investment per participant; and service level 
agreements, or access protocols to drive integration. We would also want robust programme 
evaluation, potentially via a Randomised Control Trial24. 

                                                
23 For example, the West London Alliance’s mental health and employment trailblazer and Central London 
Forward’s Working Capital programme. 
24 Such as has been included as part of Central London Forward’s Working Capital programme. 



73 
 

 
The design and financing of a sub-regional programme depends significantly on Ministerial decisions 
about the cohort and budget of Work Programme Plus. Also, DWP officials have been unable to share 
projected flows, volumes (or unit prices) for different possible payment groups. This has prevented 
London from undertaking more detailed work on costs and options (including on the potential scale 
and nature of local contributions). As Ministerial decisions get taken in the coming weeks, London 
stands ready to undertake the more detailed work that is necessary, in collaboration with DWP and 
HMT (consistent with the timetable for Work Programme Plus).  
 
For now, our starting principle is that the more London contributes to employment support the more 
influence and control it should have over how resources are used, and the greater its potential share 
of the financial rewards from success. As such, we believe that a programme funded through a ‘joint 
pot’ of resources should be co-designed and co-commissioned between central government and sub-
regions (with procurement, contract management and accountability led sub-regionally). Moreover, to 
unlock significant local contributions – in particular direct cash – it will be essential that this is 
structured as an investment proposition, with the prospect of a return.  
 
3. Other government departments – in particular DoH, CLG and BIS – to promote employment 
outcomes themselves and work with London to pool funding and integrate services for an 
agreed cohort of disadvantaged residents, through a single, sub-regional employment 
programme.  
 
A key argument for devolution in relation to employment support is that it makes possible the kind of 
meaningful and effective integration of services around a cohort of individuals that has proved elusive 
through discreet national programmes. It also opens up the possibility of driving a consistent focus on 
sustained employment across a range of public services and drawing together resources dedicated to 
a particular cohort but currently spent through disparate national and local funding streams. It does 
not make sense to have a series of separate programmes effectively targeting the same cohort and 
similar outcomes, emanating from different government departments. 
 
While these objectives can be maximised by local action, national leadership can provide vital 
support. DWP would be the main partner for London in designing and commissioning a sub-regional 
employment programme, but other departments could take steps to maximise its potential impact: 
 

• In developing its proposition for expanding the Troubled Families programme, CLG should 
work with London to explore options for addressing the complex dependency among adults 
without children through pooling funding and integrating services for an agreed cohort through 
a sub-regional employment-focused programme. In addition, the achievement of employment 
outcomes should be central to any expansion of the TF programme. 

 
• BIS should support the devolution of the adult skills budget within London to enable sub-

regions to integrate a proportion of this funding as part of employment support for 
disadvantaged residents, based on entitlements and eligibility. In addition, for low skilled 
unemployed Londoners, our focus would shift to employment outcomes as well as 
qualification acquisition in the funding and accountability of further education and adult skills 
as part of a devolution settlement. 

 
• Department of Health (and NHS England) should embed employment as a clinical outcome, 

through the NHS Mandate and key outcome and indicator sets, such as for CCGs and public 
health. Health providers, in primary and secondary care, should be expected to record 
employment status and monitor the employment outcomes of their service users. 

 
• DWP, DoH and NHS England should work to integrate a focus on employment into the health 

system, such as around key junctures in the benefit system. For instance, ensuring that a 



74 
 

patient’s request of a FitNote for an initial ESA claim triggers a conversation about work in 
primary care. Similarly, the point at which the GP is informed of a patient’s WCA outcome 
could be a further trigger for a discussion about rehabilitation, recovery and steps towards 
employment (to encourage a focus on work following the benefit decision). 

 
The integration of health and employment systems would be a key objective from devolution in this 
area, given the health benefits of work and the significant levels of worklessness among London 
residents with a health condition or disability. Such integration via a local system could also open up 
new opportunities to engage with ESA claimants in the assessment phase and support group. These 
now account for a large majority of the overall caseload, yet DWP has little engagement with them 
due to constrained resources and the scope of conditionality.   
 
4. HMT to agree to test an ‘invest to save’ element of financing as part of an employment 
programme for disadvantaged groups in London’s sub-regions, to incentivise high levels of 
performance and maximise local contributions as an investment proposition.  
 
Higher employment rates deliver a fiscal gain for the exchequer through lower welfare payments and 
higher revenues. Where employment support programmes achieve sustained job outcomes in excess 
of the non-intervention rate (i.e. accounting for deadweight), they deliver an additional fiscal gain. If 
the level of that net gain, calculated over a reasonable period, exceeds the unit cost of the support 
provided, the programme can be considered a valuable investment. This equation is most likely to 
hold for disadvantaged groups, where (relative to the wider population) the non-intervention 
employment rate is lower, meaning that the fiscal gain from entry to sustained employment is much 
more likely to be genuinely additional25. 
 
This is the basis for investment in employment programmes and targeting such support on those less 
likely to access the labour market in their absence. However, sharply falling departmental budgets 
severely constrain the scope for generating the net fiscal gains potentially available from supporting 
disadvantaged groups into work, at least in the short term. Currently, the far larger expenditure on 
benefits and tax credits (or AME) cannot be used to finance employment outcomes on a ‘payment by 
results’ (PbR) basis, even if restricted to instances where the Treasury and the OBR agree that they 
deliver net additional fiscal returns (accounting for deadweight). There is also no mechanism for re-
cycling the proceeds of success into further rounds of investment in employment support.  
 
This issue of the so-called DEL-AME divide is not a new one. The current Minister for Welfare Reform 
wrote a report for government in 2007 on how to unlock investment and drive performance by re-
cycling benefit expenditure into the financing of effective employment support. The report found that 
the average duration of benefit claim among those who had been on Incapacity Benefit for 12 months 
was eight years. This year led to the conclusion that: “a genuine transformation into long term work for 
such an individual is worth a net present value of around £62,000 per person to the state” (based on 
the figures available at the time the report was compiled). 
 
In expressing support in Parliament for the Freud Report a year or so after its publication, the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer (then Shadow Chancellor) stated:  
 

 “…the most important proposal in his [Freud’s] report is to use the money that is currently 
spent on benefits – the so-called AME spending – on helping people get back to work”. 

 

                                                
25 It is also the case that the cost of out of work benefits for disadvantaged groups is likely to be higher, meaning 
a higher average potential saving from employment entry. However, this may be off-set by lower than average 
earnings, reducing the drop in means tested benefits and limiting any extra income tax or national insurance 
contributions paid.    



75 
 

 “We would make the change and allow the Government to use welfare spending through 
payment by results across the out-of-work benefit system to get people into work. That is a 
commitment from the Opposition, and the sooner the Government make that commitment the 
better”26. 

 
Drawing on this logic, London is very keen to pilot an ‘invest to save’ element as part of the financing 
of sub-regional employment programmes in London. This would provide an opportunity to test its 
impact on performance levels and expand the ambition of employment support, by creating incentives 
to work with a greater share of the agreed cohort (such as with those in the ESA support group, 
engaged on a voluntary basis). London would want to work with the Treasury and the OBR to design 
a robust evaluation capable of assessing impact, such as through a randomised control trial.  
 
However it might be designed in accounting terms, between the treatment of AME and DEL, 
structuring local contributions as an investment proposition would be vital to unlocking significant local 
contributions towards employment support in London. Under the Work Programme, central 
government achieves a return on its DEL via AME savings (and increased revenues), while provider 
investment is based on the potential rewards of outcome payments under PbR. London would expect 
to contribute on a similar basis, with the prospect a return, commensurate with its investment, in the 
event that outcomes were delivered. At present, the vast majority of the cashable gain from 
employment entry currently accrues directly to the Treasury. 
 
As a starting point, set out below is an example of how the financing of a sub-regional employment 
programme could be structured (potentially as an evaluated ‘invest to save’ pilot):  
 

• Programme budgets would be agreed on the basis of an agreed cohort, volumes and prices, 
comprising monetised local cash and service contributions plus the DWP match (and any 
other relevant national funding for the same cohort)27.  

• Funding would be held by the sub-region to procure new provision, alongside local service 
contributions, to forge a programme operating model (in line with a programme design and 
commissioning model agreed with DWP and the Treasury). 

• Providers would be paid for sustained job outcomes among the cohort, according to agreed 
prices, up to capped volumes determined by the core programme budget. 

• There would be an agreement between Treasury and the sub-region to share the fiscal return 
from sustained employment outcomes (including ‘bonus payments’ for over-performance). 

• In practice, this would involve HMT committing to release additional DEL in the event that 
outcomes were achieved that they (and the OBR) agreed would deliver an additional and 
quantifiable AME saving.  

• As soon as it becomes technically possible, ‘Real Time Information’ (RTI) and Universal 
Credit administrative data should be used to calculate the fiscal returns from employment 
outcomes for programme participants.  

• As part of this deal, individual boroughs in their sub-regions would commit to re-investing any 
return from this programme (beyond recouping their initial investment) in further phases of 
employment support for their disadvantaged residents. 

• A robust programme evaluation, ideally structured around an RCT, would include assessing 
the impact of the financing model in driving higher levels of engagement with the cohort and 
improved performance (as well as impact on other variables, like health outcomes).  

 
 The protections for HMT in pursuing such an approach would be as follows. It would only be an 
’invest to save’ pilot, which would be RCT evaluated; it would only pay out when an outcome was 
achieved, minus counterfactual; it would only share a proportion of the fiscal return; and the potential 
for ‘bonus payments’ could be capped. In turn, there would be a set of potential benefits for HMT. It 
could draw in extra investment for employment support;, it could create stronger incentives to ‘work 

                                                
26 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200708/cmhansrd/cm080313/debtext/80313-0008.htm 
27 Individual boroughs would contribute to their sub-regional pot on a pro rate basis, in light of expected volumes. 

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200708/cmhansrd/cm080313/debtext/80313-0008.htm


76 
 

through the cohort’ (including among non-mandatory groups);, and it would lock in accountability 
through an outcome-based payment structure. 
 
5. DWP to align the contract package areas (CPAs) for all future contracted employment 
programmes, including Work Programme Plus, with London’s four sub-regions (and consider 
shifting Jobcentre Plus districts in the capital to match the same geographies).  

 
The two current CPAs for the Work Programme in London are very large, do not relate to functional 
labour markets, and do not align with the units of any other public service, apart from JobcentrePlus. 
Designing future programmes around London’s sub-regions would draw benefits from operating 
through geographies with established structures for collaboration and decision-making across local 
government. This would mean a far greater possibility of engagement between contracted providers 
and local public services. Such geographies would, for instance, facilitate the pooling of budgets and 
the establishment of service protocols necessary to achieve greater investment and integration in 
employment support. A sub-regional geography in London would maintain the benefits of scale, while 
still minimising the burden of commissioning and contract management. 
 
The forthcoming European Social Fund (ESF) round has established a framework for sub-regional 
employment and skills programmes. And sub-regional groups are developing their infrastructure and 
decision making processes in this area through significant employment support pilots28. Working with 
the grain of London’s sub-regional groups would also help to knit together the range of relevant 
national programmes and local services as part of a sub-regional employment support system, with 
clear referral routes and customer pathways. This objective would be further advanced by re-ordering 
London’s JobcentrePlus districts to match this sub-regional geography. The same principle is being 
applied to re-commissioning of the adult skills system in London and would greatly enhance the ability 
to integrate employment and skills within the capital.  
 
 

 

 

  

                                                
28 For example Central London Forward, through Working Capital, and the West London Alliance, through their 
mental health and employment trailblazers. 



77 
 

Appendix D: - Skills: London’s Economy  
 
London is a thriving global capital city and its success supports growth and jobs in the rest of the 
UK29.   With a nominal gross value added (GVA) in 2013 of £338.5bn (equivalent to 22.2% of total UK 
GVA), its economy is comparable to that of Sweden or Poland, and is larger than those of Scotland, 
Northern Ireland and Wales put together30. London’s strong economic performance supports its net 
contribution to the Exchequer, estimated at £34.2 billion in 2013/1431. With London’s economy 
expected to grow faster than the UK as a whole over the next two years (3.3% in 2015 and 3.1% in 
2016 compared to expected UK GDP growth of 2.4% in 2015 and 2.2% in 2016)32 it is likely to remain 
a key contributor to the UK economy in the long term.  

In addition to economic growth, in the early part of 2015 London’s population surpassed its 1939 peak 
of around 8.6 million and the city is set to grow yet further, to 10 million by the early 2030s.  This is 
testimony to London’s success as the city where global business can find talent and where global 
talent can find opportunity.  

A 1.1. Labour and skills demands 

The economic success of the capital has been driven by an increasingly connected and global 
economy that has led to greater specialisation. This has in turn created strong demand for highly 
skilled, highly productive labour. Figure 1 shows that 54% of employees in London are managers, 
professionals or associate professionals compared to 44% for the UK as a whole33.  

Figure 1: Share of occupations in London and the UK, 2014 

  

Source: ONS annual population survey, January 2014 – December 2014  

This specialisation is expected to continue to drive employment growth in high-skilled occupations, 
and this is further compounded by the requirement to replace those that leave the London workforce 

                                                
29 GLA Economics, ‘Growing together II: London and the UK economy’, September 2014 
30 London data refers to 2013, and is available from the ONS Regional Accounts. Figures comparing London to other 
countries/regions are based on GVA data from Eurostat and refer to 2011. 
31 The net contribution is based on an estimated total tax contribution of £127,2 billion. Source: City of London 
Corporation, ‘London’s finances and revenues’, 4 November 2014. 
32 GLA Economics, ‘London’s economic outlook, Autumn 2014’. 
33 These occupations typically require a degree or equivalent qualification, with some requiring a formal period of 
experience-related training or further study. 

https://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/business-economy/publications/gla-economics/growing-together-2
http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/economic-research-and-information/research-publications/Pages/London's-Finances-and-Revenues.aspx


78 
 

each year. Further, growth in high-skilled jobs is expected to be faster in London than in any other UK 
region34.   

Jobs in the professional, real estate, scientific and technical sector are expected to grow strongly, 
accounting for nearly two-fifths of the total increase expected in London to 2036. Strong employment 
growth is also expected in the administrative and support service, accommodation and food service, 
and information and communication sectors – collectively accounting for just over half the expected 
total London increase to 2036. On the other hand, employment in primary and utilities, manufacturing, 
wholesale, and public administration and defence sectors are all expected to decline over the period 
to 2036 (see figures 2 and 3). 

Figure 2: Historic and projected employment (000s) in London’s largest sectors, 1984-2036 

  

Source: GLA Economics, ‘Employment projections for London’, July 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
34 UKCES Working Futures 2012-2022: Annex D, March 2014 



79 
 

Figure 3: Historic and projected employment (000s) in London’s smaller sectors, 1984-2036 

 

Source: GLA Economics, ‘Employment projections for London’, July 2015 

Despite the capital’s economic success, London has a higher proportion of households in poverty 
than the UK average (28% vs. 21%)35 and higher rates of economic inactivity (22.9% vs. 22.1%) and 
unemployment (6.2% vs. 5.6%)36. Getting a job is one of the best ways of moving out of poverty37. 
ONS analysis showed that between 2007 and 2012, 70% of those aged 18 to 59 in the UK who was 
out of work and then moved into employment left poverty. Further, those with no or low skill levels in 
London38 are more likely to be out of work than those with higher level qualifications39.  

The employment prospects for low-skilled Londoners are challenged by the ability to adapt to the 
changing composition of jobs across low-skilled occupations, such as the London-wide decline in 
clerical and secretarial roles at the same time as growth in other low-skilled occupations such as 
personal care, security and sales roles40. Responding to this change is likely to require on-going 
education and training to simultaneously meet replacement demand in declining low-skilled 
occupations and demand from growing low-skilled occupations. 

                                                
35 Poverty is measured in relative terms, as the percentage of people in households with incomes (after housing costs) 
below 60 per cent of the national median. These are presented as a three-year rolling average. Source: ONS Family 
Resources Survey, 2010/11-2012/13. 
36 The unemployment rate is measured as the percentage of those aged 16 and over that are actively seeking work as the 
proportion of people in the labour force in London. People who are inactive are those not in work, but are not actively 
seeking employment, measured as the percentage of those aged 16-64. Source: ONS Labour Force Survey, Dec 2014 – Feb 
2015. 
37 ONS, ‘Poverty and Employment Transitions in the UK and EU, 2007-2012’, 10 March 2015 
38 In 2013, 15.8% of working age Londoners held low level or no qualifications. 
39 This is measured by the qualification share as a percentage of the population aged 16-64 in-employment and not-in-
employment in London. This pattern is also projected to continue in the future. Source: GLA Economics, ‘London labour 
market projections’, April 2013, pp. 40-45 
40 GLA Economics, ‘London labour market projections’, April 2013 



80 
 

For employers in London, a lack of relevant skills, qualifications or experience can lead to delays and 
difficulties in filling job vacancies. The UKCES 2013 Employers Survey identified 30,000 ‘skills 
shortage vacancies’ in London in 2013, 46% of which were in high skilled jobs (compared to 40% in 
England as a whole). A further 16% of these vacancies were in caring and leisure services or skilled 
trades jobs, with skills shortages reported to account for more than one in three (33%) of all vacancies 
in these two occupational groups (see Figure 4). As a result of skills shortage vacancies, around half 
of affected employers cited lost business and delays in developing new products.  

Figure 4: Vacancies by occupation and density of skills shortages (i.e. the number of skill-
shortage vacancies as a proportion of all vacancies). 

 

Base: All establishments with vacancies. Source: UKCES Employer Skills Survey, 2013 

According to the 2014 London Business Survey, while the majority of businesses in London (70%) 
rate the capital highly as a place to do business in terms of the availability of skilled staff, SMEs were 
much more likely than business units belonging to large firms to rate London as either adequate or 
poor on this measure (32% vs. 11%). 

With London being a global hub for attracting talent and with businesses investing less in training, 
supporting low skilled Londoners to compete for jobs successfully becomes even more challenging.  
A higher proportion of employers in the capital (36%) did not fund or arrange any training for staff in 
the 12 months to mid-2013 compared to the rest of England (34%)41. Evidence from the UKCES also 
suggests that employer investment in training is in decline and that this is a particular challenge in 
London, where the labour costs of trainees tend to be higher42. Employers in London invested an 
estimated £7.1 billion on training in the 12 months to mid-2013, down 30% from £10.1 billion in the 12 
months to mid-2011. This compares to an estimated 5% fall in employer investment in training for the 
UK as a whole (from £45.3 billion to £42.9 billion43). UKCES data also suggests that the downward 
trend in the amount of fees paid to external providers (which fell by 18% for the UK as a whole) is 
even more pronounced in London44. There is also a lack of employer engagement to help shape 
training in response to economic demand. Employers in London are slightly less likely to have had 
any contact with a training provider, FE college or HE institution in the last 12 months compared to 

                                                
41 Source: UKCES Employer skill survey 2013, table 99. 
42 The labour costs of trainees accounted for over half (55%) of the total amount that employers in London invested in 
training in 2012/13, compared to 50% in the UK overall. Source: UKCES Employer Skills Survey 2013. 
43 UKCES report that this fall in total training expenditure is mainly driven by a fall in expenditure among large employers 
with 100 or more staff, and employers in public administration and in education. Sources: UK figures are based on UKCES 
Employer skills survey 2013, tables 4.4, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukces-employer-skills-
survey-2013. London figures have been provided by the UKCES. 
44 UKCES Employer skills survey 2013, January 2014, table 4.5 



81 
 

those in England overall (52% vs. 54%), and much less likely than employers in the South East (57%) 
and East of England (58%)45. 

A 1.2. Driving growth and productivity 

The recovery in London’s economy since the 2008 financial crisis has given rise to strong 
employment growth, much stronger than would have been expected given the growth in economic 
output – but productivity has been sluggish. For the UK as a whole, growth in employment has also 
been very strong (and similarly much stronger than would have been expected given economic 
growth). For London this trend is particularly marked, and productivity over the period 2009 to 2013 
grew at a slower rate than the UK as a whole with average output per hour worked growing by 1.9 per 
cent in London compared to 2.1 per cent in the UK as a whole; this reversed the situation seen 
between 2004 and 2007. Given the role of productivity in supporting long-term growth in output and 
real pay, concerns have been expressed about the long term prospects for the economy. 

Figure 5: Output per worker in selected countries and NUTS1 regions, 200 to 2013 (index 
2008=100) 

 

Source: Eurostat and GLA Economics calculations 

The overall cause of the productivity slowdown is a debated and as yet unresolved issue with the 
Treasury46 observing that this could be caused by a number of factors. Possible explanations include: 
impaired resource allocation preventing capital and labour from finding their most productive uses 
making it more difficult for successful firms to expand; the relatively low cost of labour which may have 
led to businesses substituting away from investment and reducing the effective amount of capital 
workers can use47; and the initial ‘hoarding’ of labour as firms sought to hold on to staff despite falling 
demand for their output.  

As set out in the government’s report ‘Fixing the foundations: creating a more prosperous nation’, 
higher productivity can increase household incomes and support sustainable economic growth for the 
long term, as well as contribute to fiscal consolidation. Longer term investment in London’s economy 
and certainty in its funding streams including skills will help to improve the productive potential of 
                                                
45 UKCES Employer perspectives survey 2014, January 2015, table 110 
46 HM Treasury, July 2015, ‘Fixing the foundations: Creating a more prosperous nation’. 
47 The Bank of England estimated that the weakness of business investment relative to its pre-crisis trend contributed 
around 2.5 percentage points to the puzzle by the end of 2013. 



82 
 

Londoners, which in turn can boost their earning power, and increase the productivity of London’s 
economy overall.    

The UK needs to make significant improvements to productivity across the regions. In London, we 
face missed economic opportunity from both the unemployment and under-employment of lower-
skilled Londoners, as well as long-term risks to social cohesion and stability. Much more needs to be 
done to equip Londoners with the access, ambition and skills they need to compete in tomorrow’s 
labour market.  

As the Government consultation on a Dual Mandate for Adult Vocational Education notes local areas 
have ‘a better understanding of the needs of the local business population, and are able to drive 
greater collaboration and specialisms across providers operating in a particular geography’ towards 
provision and facilities that are more closely aligned with economic demand. Through radical 
devolution of power to London government (the Mayor and London’s boroughs), we will prioritise 
spending in areas that will maximise efficiencies and local economic growth by bringing budgets 
together, integrating public services and improve on economic outcomes.  



83 
 

Appendix E. Skills: The current post-16 skills and education landscape  
Almost £536m48 has been allocated by the Skills Funding Agency in 2014-15 on skills provision 
mostly targeted at those aged 19 and over alongside some funding to support 16-18 year olds 
undertaking apprenticeships. This funding has been delivered through 49 FE institutions and 
hundreds of training providers.  Data from the Skills Funding Agency shows that in the 2013/14 
academic year 1,230,300 apprenticeship frameworks and learning aims were started by learners.  In 
the same year, there were 1,231,230 leavers for apprenticeship frameworks and learning aims, and 
965,550 achievements recorded.  Pressures on departmental budgets has seen this funding reduced 
in recent years and in the spring/ summer of this year government announced a funding reduction of 
around 28% to the Adult Skills Budget (ASB) nationally for the 2015-16 financial year with a further 
withdrawal of ESOL Mandation.   

Further education and sixth form colleges are also responsible for £350m of non-protected 16-19 
funding.  This is in addition to £600m funded for this age group to academies, schools and other sixth 
forms together supporting around 190,000 learners49. 

Demographic change is likely to remain the core driver of demand for post-16 provision of education 
and training.  London has a growing 16 to 18 year old population, which is set to expand to 323,600 
by 2032.  In addition, uncertainty over the levels of net inward migration (both within the UK and 
beyond UK borders) and its impact on age cohorts are likely to further shape demographic trends, 
particularly in London where relatively high numbers of people are attracted to come to live, study and 
work. As London continues to draw in young people and migrants (who perhaps may lack English-
language skills), these trends are likely to continue to add to the demand for post-16 skills provision in 
future. 

Our initial analysis, which is supported by expert stakeholder views suggests that skills funding 
reductions may impact London more substantially than elsewhere in England, particularly given 
London’s population rises and number of learners expected to rise in accessing this support. The 
demographic differences in London, including increased population levels, migration, greater need for 
ESOL reflecting the higher proportion of non-English speakers, greater demand for basic adult skills, 
higher unemployment than the UK average and the greater need for highly skilled labour exacerbates 
the challenge these reductions are likely to have requiring a renewed approach to maintaining quality 
whilst maximising efficiency.  

A 2.1. Performance of 16-18 and 19+ skills provision in London  

Raising the performance and success rates achieved in post-16 education is at the forefront of 
London government’s ambitions to ensure that Londoners are better able to realise the economic 
benefits of high quality education and to reduce pressure on adult skills budgets.   A report by the 
Local Government Association50 estimated that the cost to the Exchequer of post-16 learning aims 
that were started but not successfully completed to be approximately £814 million in 2012/13. This 
represented around 12% of the funding allocated to provision for 16-18 year olds. 

Figures 6 and 7 present the success rates for learners participating in further education in the 2013/14 
academic year for 16-18 funded provision and 19+ in London and the rest of the country.  Figure 6 
shows that London has one of the lowest (78.6%) overall success rates for 16-18 provision compared 
with the rest of the country (80.17%).  The data also highlights that a large proportion of learners are 
not successfully achieving the courses that they’re undertaking.  

                                                
48 SFA published allocations for 2014/15 - April 15. 
49 EFA 16-18 education funding in London 2014/15 academic year. 
50 Achievement and retention in post 16 education.  A report for the Local Government Association, February 
2015. 



84 
 

Figure 6: 16-18 overall success rates for all further education institutions types51 in England in 
2013/14. 

  

Source:  Education and Training National Success Rate Tables 2013 to 2014, published by the Skills 
Funding Agency 

Figure 7: 19+ overall success rates for all further education institutions types in England in 2013/14 

  

Source:  Education and Training National Success Rate Tables 2013 to 2014, published by the Skills 
Funding Agency 

The success rates of 19+ provision is around 87.1% in London, the fourth lowest rate in England 
(figure 7), though higher than the success rates of 16-18 provision in London.   

Whilst performance at GCSE has seen significant improvement in London in recent years, the 
Mayor’s Annual Education report (2014) shows that in London,  just under a quarter of key stage 5 
students drop out of their studies before the age of 18.  Only 2% of London’s key stage 5 leavers are 
                                                
51 All institutions include: General FE and Tertiary Colleges, other public funded, private sector public funded,  schools, 
sixth form college and specialist college 



85 
 

accessing apprenticeships, compared with 4% across the rest of the country.  Drop-out rates in 
London universities are higher than those across the rest of the country; an average of 6.3% per cent 
as opposed to 5.7% across England.  

To help drive improvement in the success rates of post-16 education, a number of system and market 
failures need to be addressed. We need to ensure that funding incentives reward progression and 
employment as well as qualifications; young people receive quality careers advice on the range of 
options available to them, including academic, vocational and work-based learning routes; schools’ 
and colleges’ abilities to respond to employer demand for skills is strengthened, and the quality of 
teaching and GCSE attainment levels particularly in English and maths is improved. 

A 2.2 English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) 

There were nearly three million foreign-born Londoners according to the 2011 Census (42% of the 
UKs total). A little over a half of these, 1.6 million people, spoke a language other than English as 
their first or main language (compared to 7.5million in England and Wales of whom 3.8 million speak 
a language other than English). 210,000 working age London residents cannot speak English well 
and 25,000 working age London residents cannot speak English at all.  

Source: 2011 Census safeguarded microdata: regional sample for London 

  
All foreign 
born Main   Main language is not English 

  Residents Language  Speak English:     

  
aged 16-
64 

is 
English All V well Well Not well not at all 

All people 2473 1120 1353 581 539 209 23.4 

In employment 1660 805 855 415 335 97 8.1 

                

Employment rate 67% 72% 63% 71% 62% 47% 35% 

 

A lack of English language skills impacts different communities in different ways. Demos highlights 
that nationally 59 per cent of Bangladeshi and Pakistani women are economically inactive and that 
English proficiency is also lowest among these groups, with high rates of transnational marriage (with 
the female spouse coming from abroad)52. IPPR also finds that relatively low employment rates 
amongst non-EU migrants in the UK can be accounted for by relatively low employment rates 
amongst migrant women53.   

Speaking English well is important in order to get a job. Of the working age population in London in 
2011, 46% of those who did not speak English well and only 35% of those who did not speak English 
at all were in employment, compared to 62% who spoke English well.  So there is huge potential to 
unlock the talents and abilities of Londoners who need to improve their English to get on at work. This 
can best be achieved through targeted investment by groups of boroughs acting across a sub-region.  

                                                
52 http://www.demos.co.uk/blog/english-not-employment 
53 http://www.ippr.org/publications/migrant-employment-outcomes-in-european-labour-markets 



86 
 

Once in a job English language proficiency is central to sustaining a job and progressing in work. The 
majority (64%) of those in London who cannot speak English well are employed in low skilled work54, 
compared to 53% of those who speak English well or very well and 43% of those whose main 
language is English.    

 

Using English proficiently means London can realise the skills of refugees and migrants, often with 
higher skills developed elsewhere, that are currently under used in low skilled occupations. London 
also benefits from a more integrated community enabling individuals to achieve their full potential, 
contribute fully to the community in which they live, access services and feel part of local decision-
making.   

 

Demand for ESOL outstrips supply. The National Association for Teaching English and Community 
Languages to Adults (NATECLA) reports that over 80% of providers nationally in 2014 had significant 
waiting lists of up to 1,000 students on English for Speakers of Other Language (ESOL) courses.55  

This is equally true in London where there even greater demand for ESOL. The performance of ESOL 
Plus mandated provision should not be taken as evidence of a lack of demand. Rather this provision 
suffered from the success of the London labour market, where eligible JSA claimants reduced 
significantly because they found work. Our proposals will ensure that we continue to help people get, 
keep and progress in a job where English language skills act as a barrier. 

 

  

                                                
54 As defined by the Home Office 
55 http://www.natecla.org.uk/news/779/ESOL-waiting-lists 



87 
 

APPENDIX F:  Evidence from the LEP Skills Inquiry 

As part of London’s Growth Deal proposition, the London Enterprise Panel committed to undertake a 
Skills Inquiry for London to determine supply in the current skills landscape and to develop the 
evidence-base, reflecting business and the skills sectors’ views for the future skills system.  In 
London, the LEP recognises the views of many employers that there is disconnect between elements 
of the skills being delivered and the skills that our economy needs. The system is driven by supply of 
qualifications when employers need tailored training. Meeting articulated demand from employers 
needs to be better, but still be balanced with the need for qualifications that give individuals the 
passport they need to move within the labour market to better paid work. 

Tackling this disconnect is not an intractable task and some of the solutions will lie at the London 
level. Indeed the Inquiry has shown that London’s businesses are very ambitious for the capital 
highlighting to the LEP and London Government the need to go further and faster. 

The Inquiry comprised a mixture of quantitative and qualitative work and has helped to inform London 
government’s devolution proposal, including: 

• research on skills supply and specialisation by further education colleges in the capital; 
• research on demand-side data sources for skills; and  
• stakeholder roundtables. 

 
A3.1 Research on skills supply  

In June 2015, the GLA, on behalf of the LEP Skills and Employment Working Group and FE Capital 
Steering Group, commissioned SQW to investigate specialisation across London’s FE colleges and 
how this is meeting the skills needs of London’s main employment sectors.  The study adopted a 
mixed methods approach of primary and secondary data analysis as well as qualitative interviews 
with 37 FE colleges in the capital and sector stakeholders.   

To make the analysis of supply-side data more manageable, nine sectors were loosely identified that 
are likely to have a bearing on future skills demand across London, either through future growth or by 
creating a large volume of replacement demand.  The results of the data analysis were obtained using 
a ‘best fit’ association of very high-level employment sectors with very high-level (Tier 1) sector 
subject areas (SSAs), and lack the granularity required to fully understand the strength of particular 
colleges’ specialised provision in response to the needs of their specific employers. As such the 
results must be treated with caution particularly as it provides no information on the quality of the 
training provided, the learning environments in which it is delivered, or the strength of a college’s 
reputation for this particular area of provision with employers and learners. 

High growth sectors Sector Subject Area (SSA) 
Scientific activities SSA 02 – science and mathematics 
Technology SSA 06 – Information and communications 

technology 
Tourism SSA 08 – Leisure, travel and tourism 
Creative SSA 09 – Arts, media and publishing, including 

Media and communication 
 
High volume sectors  Sector Subject Area 
Human health and social work SSA 01 – Health, public services and care 
Transport SSA 04 – Engineering and manufacturing 

technologies, including Motor vehicle and 
Transportation operations and maintenance 

Construction SSA 05 – Construction, planning and the built 
environment 

Wholesale and retail trade services, distribution, 
hospitality, food 

SSA 07 - Retail and commercial enterprise, 
including Retailing and wholesaling, Warehousing 
and distribution, Hospitality and catering 

Professional, business support, administrative 
services, finance and insurance 

SSA 15 – Business, administration and law 



88 
 

 

The research found: 

• Of all non-apprenticeship starts, 68% (c.810,000) were at level 2 or below, and the number of 
these has increased by over 20% in the last three years.  

• It is estimated that in the region of 43,000 young learner starts do not have level 2 in English 
and Maths across the FE colleges.  

• There were over 161,000 learner starts at level 3+ across London in 2013/14, and of these, 
three-quarters were in SSAs that are relevant to London’s main sectors.  

• FE colleges accounted for the majority (56%) of level 3+ starts, and the four most popular 
SSA starts at level 3+ at FE colleges were all relevant to London’s main sectors (health, 
science and maths, arts and media, and business admin and law).  

• Apprenticeships are more concentrated in a smaller number of SSAs compared to non-
apprenticeship learners, and particularly in three SSAs that are relevant to London’s main 
sectors (business administration and law, health, and retail).  

• Higher Apprenticeships accounted for only 3% of all apprenticeship starts in 2013/14, but the 
number has increased rapidly over the last three years.  
The SSAs with the highest number of colleges planning to increase provision in future were 
Health, Business administration and law, and Retail (building on current high levels of 
provision) and ICT, Engineering, Construction and Arts (growing currently low levels of 
provision).  
 

Colleges and sector stakeholders were clear that FE colleges’ ability to respond to the skills needs of 
London’s main employment sectors and particular employers is constrained by a range of factors.  

These include regional LMI that lacks sufficient sub-regional granularity to inform colleges’ strategic 
planning, a funding model based on numbers of learners rather than learner outcomes, a 
qualifications system that is slow to respond to changing skills needs, and staff who may not have the 
requisite skills and expertise.  Thus investment in industry-standard estate and facilities, important 
though colleges regard this to be, can only go so far in delivering the higher-level technical and 
professional skills London needs for jobs and growth.  

As well as these areas, other external forces need to be considered.   These include the introduction 
of study programmes for 16-18 year olds, the change from funding qualifications to funding learners, 
and the requirements for English and mathematics to be retaken by students that fail to achieve a C 
grade at GCSE, all of which is likely to have impacted on volumes of starts for some providers.  

Key recommendations from the research are that: 

1. This analysis of the ILR data is treated as a first step in beginning to determine how the 
supply of L3 skills in London is matching demand; 

2. Further refinement and analysis of these findings should now take place by the Mayor and 
boroughs as part of the proposed area based review process, including an analysis of skills 
delivery at other levels; 

3. The LEP adopts a position on the need to significantly increase the number of Higher 
Apprenticeships through better engagement with universities and with schools; and 

4. An analysis of the quality of provision is undertaken and considered in concert with further 
analysis of the data. 

 

A 3.2 Research on skills demand  

The Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion (CESI) were commissioned by GLA officers on behalf 
of the LEP to investigate the data required to inform the future planning of skills provision to meet 
London’s economic demands.  CESI’s report identifies data that is already available covering both 
recent demand: 

• Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) ONS 
• Employer Skills Survey, UKCES 
• Labour Force Survey, ONS 



89 
 

• Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, ONS 
and future demand: 

• GLA Economics Projections 
• UKCES Working Futures 
• Sector Skills Council reports 

 
The report highlights the strengths of this data whilst identifying gaps in the evidence base with 
recommendations on how those gaps may be filled. Together the identified sources provide a picture 
of current skills and jobs and the likely skills and jobs composition in the future. 

Key recommendations from the research are that: 
 

1. GLA explores the possibility of providing real time vacancy statistics (to include all vacancies) 
so that it can accurately inform users of the current demand for jobs by occupation; 

2. This data should be complemented by information on the skills (or qualifications) needed to 
enter these jobs and build on the work led by Young Peoples Education and Skills (YPES) on 
Intelligence London and Skills Match56;  

3. GLA Economics is used as the main source for employment projections; and 
4. GLA explores the possibility of enhancing the London Development Database. 

 
A 3.3 Stakeholder roundtables 
  
Stakeholder engagement has been integral to the Skills Inquiry. Three roundtables were held in July 
2015 with external stakeholders and included leaders of London colleges, independent providers, the 
SFA, Jobcentre Plus, GLA, London Councils and business organisations. It was felt by participants 
that London’s ask for skills devolution from central government should be bold and radical. Skills 
devolution in London must include: 

• 16-18 provision delivered by schools as well as colleges and independent training providers; 
• adult further education, skills and employment programmes for the unemployed, and 

apprenticeships delivered by colleges and independent providers, and 
• higher education. 

 
A 3.4 Overview and recommendations  
As part of the Inquiry work, the following recommendations have been made by stakeholders to the 
LEP:  
 

• Devolution of all 16-18 participation funding (excluding apprenticeships) to the London Mayor; 
• Area Based Reviews in London to include School Sixth Forms; 
• London to have a single Commissioner for post-16 education and training;  
• GLA to have powers over new post-16 capital investments;  
• An employer Incentive Fund for Post-16 Apprenticeships; 
• An adult Incentive Fund for Level 3+ Loans; 
• Devolution of funding for adult basic skills & employment programmes; 
• A post-14 integrated careers offer. 

 
Whilst these recommendations have supported London’s government’s proposal to develop solutions 
to the challenges identified, we recognise that these are significant propsals for reform, which will 
need to be delivered over a longer period of time. Therefore the proposals in the remaining part of this 
document reflect what collectively the Mayor and London’s borough leaders agree needs to be 
devolved to London government to achieve change and improvement in meeting the economic needs 
for the UK’s capital city and to drive up skills, boost employment and productivity by 2020.  London 
government will work with central government and providers to achieve this change progressively 
over time.  

                                                
56 Skills Match is an interactive tool which allows the visual exploration of the relationship between skills supply and 
employer demand in London up to 2020. See more at: 
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/25878#sthash.7QVgSxFf.dpuf  

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/25878#sthash.7QVgSxFf.dpuf


90 
 

APPENDIX G: Skills-  Approach for a devolved Skills system in London 
 
The following sections present more detail on our proposals for the future skills landscape, outlining 
what London will do at the regional level, what will be delivered at sub-regional level, what additional 
leverage is needed and what collectively the Mayor and borough leaders aim to achieve through:  
 

1. A clear vision and skills strategy for London informed by timely demand-side data to better 
plan for current and future skills needs; 

2. Delivering a streamlined, resilient and responsive skills sector with greater specialisation, 
innovation, quality and stability focused on delivering level 3 and above qualifications, 
outcomes, productivity and economic growth including a London-led strategy for all future 
new investments in post-16 skills and education provision;  

3. Achieving excellence in professional and technical education; 
a. Greater employer investment and ownership in developing skills, with industry 

working collaboratively with post-16 skills and further education institutions to better 
prepare Londoners with the skills that the economy needs; and  

b. A strong Apprenticeships offer for London;  
4. A London Entitlement for basic skills to ensure all Londoners are equipped to compete in 

London’s competitive labour market; 
5. A sustainable and coherent careers offer for London. 

 
Figure 1 at the end of appendix 4 summarises the proposed skills landscape. 
 
A 4.1 A vision and skills strategy informed by strong labour market data  
 
Issue 
 
With a decreasing envelope of public funding available for skills development in London, we must be 
very clear about how best to target this investment to boost employment, economic growth and 
productivity – and how to leverage investment from other sources to meet these goals.  

Better use of data by suppliers, and the development of user-friendly data-based tools for consumers 
has already transformed many markets for goods and services, and is about to transform how 
government provides services to citizens. The use of labour market data to guide choices by 
individuals about education and training options is however so far relatively under-developed. GLA 
Economics employment projections provide a long-term view on future employment demand in the 
capital, but there is limited timely, detailed information on the demand for skills, which could help 
inform provider and learner choices.  
 
The Employer Skills Survey is probably the best source to identify employer skills demand for 
qualifications and generic skills. Research by the Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion (CESI)57 
carried out on behalf of the LEP for the GLA, has identified the lack of available, timely data on job 
postings in London as restricting the ability of ‘skills market participants’ (such as the LEP, 
commissioners, providers, employers and careers services) to provide training, deliver careers 
guidance, and develop the skills that London’s economy needs. 
 

Action 

With devolved powers and funding to invest in skills, London Government will gather timely, accurate, 
granular Labour Market Information (LMI) which will be used to: 

• Inform the London Skills Strategy and sub-regional skills commissioning strategies;  
• Inform the pan-London careers offer; 

                                                
57 London Labour Demand Understanding the demand for skills in London’s labour market, Centre for Economic and Social 
Inclusion, August 2015.   



91 
 

• Inform providers’ offer and help to develop a shared understanding of skills priorities across 
the sub-regions; 

• Inform London’s Area Based Reviews. 
 

At the regional level, analysis will determine the demand for higher level technical and professional 
skills to meet London’s labour market needs.  The Greater London Authority working with sub-
regional groupings of boroughs and Young People’s Education and Skills will build on the regional 
labour market information that it currently hosts on the London Datastore and Skills Match to bring 
together a range of existing data sources to present a coherent picture of current and future labour 
and skills demand.  As part of this, London government will commission the development of an on-line 
data platform that presents ‘real time vacancy data’ by scraping information on online job postings to 
accurately inform users of the current demand for jobs by occupation.   This LMI will need to be 
supplemented by data sharing between London and national government, specifically BIS and DWP.  
At a regional level the data will be used to help: 

• Inform the London Skills Strategy, identifying the main sectors where there is the greatest 
demand for jobs and the associated required skills and education at level 3 and above in the 
capital.   

• Set a London Entitlement for skills, which may vary from nationally-funded entitlements, and 
will be informed by sub-regional skills commissioning strategies (see below);   

• Set an outcomes framework for skills funding; 
• Identify where funding uplifts or flexing of pricing may be required to stimulate provision 

in areas of undersupply.  
 

At the sub-regional level, London Councils will work with boroughs to develop a standardised 
approach to the analysis of local labour market needs to understand sub regional variances, demand 
for lower skilled work, and progression pathways. Sub-regions will collect and analyse information on 
labour market demand to complement regional intelligence by drawing on: 

• Primary data gathered through employer engagement, including with SMEs who account for 
half of all of London’s employment; 

• Secondary data, such as job vacancy data, drawing on any of this data at a pan-London and 
sub-regional level; 

• Demand intelligence from local development plans, London’s Infrastructure Programme Tool 
and boroughs’ own knowledge of local commercial and infrastructure developments; 

• Analysis by sector skills councils; 
• Additional data analysis supporting an Area Based Review (to be undertaken at a sub-

regional level in London). 
 
Many London boroughs are already investing to collect this data individually. A sub-regional approach 
will improve the co-ordination and efficiency of this.  Drawing on this data and the pan-London skills 
strategy, sub-regional partnerships will develop multi-year58 sub-regional skills commissioning 
strategies to focus skills investment in their area, incorporating: 
 

• Priorities for curriculum development, capital and skills entitlement investment; 
• Outcomes expected from providers in the sub-region to inform collective and individual 

outcome agreements (details below); 
• Priorities for sub-regional commissioning to support unemployed residents into work; 

                                                
58 These strategies will be for four years, starting a year after local elections in London. Initial strategies may be shorter to 
achieve this cycle in the long term. 



92 
 

• Plans for aligning other local budgets and activities with skills investment, including 
employment services; 

• Plans for embedding the offer in industry including attracting additional private sector 
investment in skills to boost total investment. 
 

The strategies will be developed and agreed with local employers and providers and considered at 
the pan-London level. London boroughs will continue to bring together and work with providers and 
employers to implement the strategies.  

Skills investment that is more responsive to labour market need requires greater accountability, 
oversight and stewardship at the London and sub-regional level in order to drive improvements in 
quality and ensure the delivery of regional and sub-regional strategies. The current system of 
accountability is insufficient to manage short-term risk or drive economic growth. It lacks a clear focus 
on labour market outcomes, focusing instead on financial stability and teaching and learning. 
Interventions are on a college-by-college basis, without clear analysis of educational and skills needs 
in the area, and the capacity available to meet them.  

For skills providers, skills funding in England is currently determined centrally with few devolved 
flexibilities. The Adult Skills Budget funding model pays providers on the basis of enrolments and 
achievement of qualifications with little recognition for other positive outcomes achieved by learners 
gaining jobs or progressing into further or higher education.  Levels of funding are driven by a 
provider’s ability to deliver courses based on the previous year’s delivery, rather than to meet need 
and economic demand.  This approach presents few incentives for skills providers to specifically 
respond to future demand for skills or opportunities to innovate in new areas of growth. As part of our 
proposal London Government is seeking devolution of the Adult Skills Budget.  To ensure robust 
accountability for delivery against this budget via London’s commissioning strategies, London 
Government proposes: 

• Working with Ofsted within the regional inspection framework to ensure that inspection criteria 
take into account providers’ responsiveness to the local labour market (as set out in sub-regional 
skills strategies). This will include how providers are delivering learning required locally, their 
success in moving learners into sustained jobs, progressing those in low paid, low skilled work, 
using LMI and learner destinations data to inform their offer, how they are contributing to 
collective outcome agreements (see below), the quality of Careers Information, Advice and 
Guidance, and demonstrable evidence of effective partnership working with employers, including 
additional funding leveraged. 

• Agreeing collective outcome agreements with providers at a sub-regional level, and individual 
provider outcome agreements59 at an institutional level, so that providers are held to account 
for driving improvement in their offer and strengthening links to the labour market. The 
agreements will reflect the sub-regional commissioning strategies. Colleges will be accountable 
for outcomes to a sub-regional skills and employment board with representation from London 
boroughs, business and providers60. Boroughs will provide a ‘support and challenge’ function to 
providers to ensure that commissioned work is reaching their communities. This approach will be 
proportional – with less focus on those colleges clearly meeting their outcome agreements. 
Providers will continue as autonomous incorporated institutions with full responsibility for their 
own assets, liabilities and business strategies.  

• Strengthening local authorities’ role in interventions by the London Skills Commissioner 
through joint working between the London Skills Agency and sub-regional skills and employment 

                                                
59 Initially individual outcome agreements would be with FE colleges only, to make this system manageable. All providers 
would be expected to show how they are contributing towards the collective outcome agreements. This includes Adult and 
Community Learning Services.  
60 Other representatives could include JCP/DWP and learner representatives. 



93 
 

boards to address poor performance against sub-regional skills commissioning strategies by 
agreeing remedial actions over time. 
 

Outcomes: 

• A clear strategy and vision for addressing the skills that London needs; 
• The provision of real time vacancy statistics (to include all vacancies) that can accurately 

inform users of the current demand for jobs by occupation;  
• All users are better informed of the likely number of jobs and where the jobs for new 

developments will be based. 
• Skills investment that is responsive to the labour market, is strategic and makes best use of 

limited public skills investment; 
• Increased employer and learner investment in skills development, through greater 

engagement in and understanding of London’s skills offer; 
• Improved Careers Information, Advice and Guidance for learners. 
• A streamlined, specialised and responsive skills provider base, with a focus on outcomes, 

learner destinations, productivity and economic growth; 
• Improved, more strategic oversight that drives up quality of skills provision and deals with risk 

quickly and effectively.  
 
A 4.2 Delivering a streamlined, resilient and responsive skills sector with greater specialisation 
 
Issue 
For employers in London, a lack of relevant skills, qualifications or experience can lead to delays and 
difficulties in filling job vacancies. The UKCES’ 2013 Employer Skills Survey has identified 30,000 
such ‘skills shortage vacancies’ in London in 2013, 46% of which were in high skilled jobs (compared 
to 40% in England as a whole). A further 12% of these vacancies were in skilled trades jobs, with 
skills shortages accounting for more than one in two (53%) of all vacancies in this occupational group. 
As outlined previously, demand for higher-level skills is also expected to increase. Despite this 
demand for higher level skills, around two thirds of provision delivered by further education colleges in 
the capital is at level two or below. There is some specialisation but this is currently not necessarily 
linked to industry or to providing the most effective employment routes.  
 
Whilst standards of education in London’s schools and universities rank as some of the best in the 
country (and in the world), the overall success rates of London’s further education colleges lag the 
rest of the country.   Whilst many of London’s colleges are Ofsted rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’, 
around a third of London’s 39 colleges are rated as ‘requiring improvement’ or ‘inadequate’.  Action is 
therefore required to ensure that we have a fit for purpose further education sector in London that 
delivers quality provision in the areas where training is required. 
 
Action 
Government has set out its approach to establishing a fit-for-purpose further education sector via 
Area Based Reviews.  London’s Mayor and borough leaders will work collaboratively with government 
and the skills sector to use this process to develop and deliver our vision for a post-16 skills and 
education landscape in London focused on meeting business and local economic need.  The 
approach to re-commissioning will address the issues outlined as well as focus on driving up quality to 
achieve much higher standards of education in London’s further education and sixth form colleges. 
Key areas to address include responsiveness to business demand, specialisation, achieving a more 
outcome focussed skills system that maintains stability and a clear route to employment for learners, 
with open data on destinations to measure impact. 
  
To achieve this approach successfully, London government will require the sharing of relevant 
financial and performance information from Government and resources to help inform and undertake 
a strategic economic assessment of the current skills landscape and future needs. This information 
will be supported by London’s own analysis including on the demand and supply data of skills to 
determine London’s specialisms, key outcomes for the vision and how collectively key stakeholders 
can work together to achieve the reform that is needed. 



94 
 

  
To enable suitable time to undertake this analysis and to set up a robust approach and clear vision for 
the future, it is proposed that London commences the Area Based Reviews in wave 3 of the 
government’s timeline with the first of London’s reviews commencing in spring 2016. 
 
To ensure that London has the levers it needs to re-shape the landscape successfully, leadership of 
the ABRs should be accompanied by the transfer of statutory powers from the Secretary of State to 
the Mayor from the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 to enable removal of all or any of the 
members of governing bodies, appoint new members where there are vacancies and give directions 
to the college/ institutions where poor performance persists to ensure accountability of skills providers 
to the Mayor on ABR recommendations.  
 
In London, as well as further education colleges and sixth form colleges, the reviews should include 
major private sector providers, school sixth forms, University Technical Colleges, HEIs and national 
colleges (where relevant) to provide a strong assessment of the potential impact of demographic 
changes in an area. The reviews should also include the Adult and Community Learning Services 
available in the area, given their role in providing basic and employability skills. The reviews should 
include a clear focus on meeting business and local economic need, informed by an assessment of 
London’s main sectors. They should also take into account the needs of specific cohorts of learners, 
such as those with particular learning difficulties or disabilities. 
 
A distinct approach needs to be taken in London, because of the scale and diversity of the city (49 
colleges, 380,000 learners) and to reflect the Mayor’s statutory duty to promote economic 
development and produce and publish an Economic Development Strategy. ABRs in London should 
be undertaken sub-regionally based on existing groupings of boroughs. These sub-regional 
partnerships have the political identity and governance to support the process and can act as brokers 
to facilitate changes based on the final review recommendations. The overall review process will be 
led and overseen by a London-wide steering group chaired by the Mayor and with a nominated 
borough Leader as Deputy Chair and representation from the LEP, other borough leaders and key 
stakeholders to ensure that the outcomes of the reviews provide the city as a whole with the skills 
base and structures that it needs to compete as a world city. The sub-regions would report into the 
London-wide steering group. 
 
It is also proposed that the Mayor and the steering group is advised by an independent post-16 Skills 
Commissioner for London to help shape the area based reviews and provide the necessary expertise 
on strategic and economic outcomes for the future skills landscape. The process for undertaking the 
sub-regional Areas Based Reviews will also need to give consideration to the provision available in 
the outer metropolitan area adjacent to Greater London and will be flexible to evolving alliances 
between institutions that may cross over the proposed sub-regional grouping areas. 
 
The approach to the ABRs will consider how best to ensure full implementation of the 
recommendations of the reviews, providing regular and publicly available  progress reports, and 
recognise the Mayor’s statutory responsibility for economic development in London, and boroughs’ 
responsibilities for economic well-being locally. It is proposed that a development pot is made 
available from government linked to the work of the Education and Training Foundation to help 
institutions implement improvements including to curricula development, promoting excellent teaching 
standards and raising quality of places for all. 
 
To ensure the stability and resilience of London’s further education and sixth form colleges and 16+ 
skills provision, London government considers area-based reviews as an important part of the 
process of necessary reform and structural change to the FE system in London but not as the 
conclusion of this process. Rather the area-based reviews can only be effectively implemented as 
part of broader devolution to London including the transfer of both powers and funding from central 
government, and to support an integrated and strategic approach to investment in post 16 skills 
provision in London. The review process should be complementary to London’s proposals for 
devolution and reform and should actively facilitate the implementation of this agenda.  As part of the 
re-commissioning process, London requires agreement from government on the devolved funding 
and powers sought and outlined in the introduction. 
   
 



95 
 

Outcomes 
London expects to achieve: 

• Increased efficiency in the market to deliver the skills that London needs; 
 

• Improved efficiency in the use of resources that minimises duplication of government spend in 
new and existing investments in post-16 skills and education; 
 

• All skills and education provision in London is Ofsted rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’; 
 

• All London’s learners and employees understand the skills needed by London’s employers 
and are supported and motivated to acquire them 
 

• Increased investment from learners and business in professional and technical education that 
has clear economic outcomes; 
 

• All Londoners are equipped with basic skills for employment with increases in learners 
achieving 5 A-C GCSEs (including in English and Maths); 
 

• A significant increase from current levels (71%) of learners achieving level 3 and above 
qualifications and progressing into work, apprenticeships and/ or higher education;  
 

• A significant increase in overall success rates for all learners and a significant reduction the 
current rate of drop-out between 16 and 18 for those studying level 3 qualifications;  
 

• A significant reduction in young people aged 16-24 who are not in education, employment or 
training (NEET), reaching near full participation for 16-18 year olds in all of London’s 
boroughs. 
 

A 4.3 Achieving excellence in professional and technical education  
 
We have already highlighted as part of the London Enterprise Panel’s London 2036 plan, that if the 
capital city is to maintain its current strong position, we need to ensure that we are training more 
technical talent to respond to market shortages of technically capable workers by improving education 
and training at all levels from school through to adult education. As outlined in previous sections, jobs 
growth is expected to focus on higher level occupations across London’s economy as a whole, 
specifically professional, associate professional and technical, managers, directors and senior 
officials. Jobs in these occupations are expected to increase by around one-fifth by 2022. 
Correspondingly, demand for higher level qualifications (QCF levels 4+) is expected to increase by 
about one-third. 
 
As part of an integrated approach to economic development in London, and ensuring economic 
opportunity for all Londoners, there is a strong case for collective intervention, given that skills 
pathways are long-term and complex across schools, further and higher education and the private 
sector.   Improving the supply of technically-qualified people will require a range of measures which 
starts from adjustments to school curricula and careers advice through to changes of emphasis in 
both further and higher education as well as greater levels of industry co-operation and provision.  
Some of the levers will be held nationally and some by the private sector, but we need to ensure that 
the right levers are devolved down to London and its sub-regions to meet its economic needs and to 
boost productivity.  Working with the skills sector and key stakeholder groups in London, the Mayor 
and London’s borough leaders aim to work collectively to re-shape the skills landscape over the next 
two years and by the 2017 academic year to deliver a regional skills system with more quality 
professional and technical education at level 3 and above with appropriate levers devolved to meet 
the key specialisms of the capital’s economy.  
 
Approach  
 
To achieve a sustainable professional and technical education landscape that produces the skills 
needed for the city’s specialisations, we will have: 



96 
 

a. Greater employer investment and ownership in developing skills, with industry 
working collaboratively with post-16 skills and further education institutions to better 
prepare Londoners with the skills that the economy needs; and 

b. A strong Apprenticeship Offer for London. 
 
A4.4 Employer investment in post-16 skills and further education  
 
Issue  
Fragmented demand for skills training limits the buying power of individual employers and their ability 
to shape training to their needs. This is particularly true for smaller businesses in London61 and the 
UK as a whole62. Evidence suggests that a lack of employer engagement and investment in skills 
training is a particular challenge in London. For example, a higher proportion of employers in the 
capital (36%) did not fund or arrange any training for staff in the 12 months to mid-2013 compared to 
the rest of England (34%)63. At the same time, among those employers in London providing training to 
their staff, the majority (54%) responded that they ‘would have provided more training if they could 
have done’, higher than in the rest of England (45%)64. One reason for this difference was that the 
employers in London which would have trained more were much more likely than employers in the 
rest of England (17% vs. 12%) to report that they found it hard to find time to organise training65. 
 
Evidence from the UKCES 2013 Employer Skills Survey suggests that employer investment in 
training is in decline and that this is a particular challenge in London, where the labour costs of 
trainees tend to be higher66.  Employers in London invested an estimated £7.1 billion on training in the 
12 months to mid-2013, down 30% from £10.1 billion in the 12 months to mid-2011. This compares to 
an estimated 5% fall in employer investment in training for the UK as a whole (from £45.3 billion to 
£42.9 billion)67. Further, UKCES data suggests that the downward trend in the amount of fees paid to 
external providers (which fell by 18% for the UK as a whole) is even more pronounced in London68. 
Employers in London are also slightly less likely to have had any contact with a training provider, FE 
college or HE institution in the last 12 months compared to those in England overall (52% vs. 54%), 
and much less likely than employers in the South East (57%) and East of England (58%)69. 
 
Action  
As well as employer investment through the apprenticeship levy, proposals for which are described in 
the next section, London proposes to create a skills innovation funding pot that employers and 
representative employer bodies can directly bid into.  It is proposed that this is funded via a return 
from London’s contribution to the apprenticeship levy to help support training that progresses 
prospective learners into apprenticeships.  Through this process, we would invite business to work 
jointly with skills providers to create and develop new and innovative solutions to deliver priority skills 
provision.   The programme budget could be linked to the LEP’s FE capital funding opportunities and 
would replace the existing innovation code budget that is supported by the Skills Funding Agency.  
 
London Government will also work with central government to provide better data on the impact of 
learner participation in professional and technical courses to help inform prospective learners and 
employers of the benefits and outcomes of undertaking and investing in these courses.  In order to 

                                                
61 In the year to mid-2014, micro-businesses in London were less likely to engage in upskilling, training or development (33%) 
compared to business units in other SMEs (69%), and large firms (85%). Source: London Business Survey, table TRN1 
62 Evidence from the UKCES suggests that the pattern of training spend per person trained is inversely correlated with 
establishment size; the larger the employer the less is spent. This may reflect economies of scale for larger employers. Source: 
UKCES, Employer skills survey 2013: UK results, January 2014, 
63 Source: UKCES Employer skill survey 2013, table 99. 
64 Source: UKCES Employer skill survey 2013, tables 127. 
65 The main barriers to providing more training reported by employers in London and England as a whole were that: a) training 
was too expensive or that they lacked funds for training (60%), and b) that they could not spare more staff time (47%). Source: 
UKCES Employer Skills Survey 2013, January 2014, table 128. 
66 The labour costs of trainees accounted for over half (55%) of the total amount that employers in London invested in training 
in 2012/13, compared to 50% in the UK overall. Source: UKCES Employer Skills Survey 2013. 
67 UKCES report that this fall in total training expenditure is mainly driven by a fall in expenditure among large employers with 
100 or more staff, and employers in public administration and in education. Sources: UK figures are based on UKCES 
Employer skills survey 2013, tables 4.4, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukces-employer-skills-
survey-2013. London figures have been provided by the UKCES. 
68 UKCES Employer skills survey 2013, January 2014, table 4.5 
69 UKCES Employer perspectives survey 2014, January 2015, table 110 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2013
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2013


97 
 

achieve this, London will need better open data to be made available by government including 
destinations data produced by HMRC at the London, borough and provider level. 
 
Outcomes 
 
Through this we expect to achieve: 

• Greater collaboration between industry and skills providers to develop and deliver in-demand 
skills; 

• An increase in the number of learners aged 16 and over with work ready and industry relevant 
skills; 

• A doubling of apprenticeship opportunities, particularly at higher levels created by employers 
in London by 2020;  

• Increased investment from learners and business in professional and technical education that 
has clear economic outcomes; 

• A significant increase from current levels (71%)  of learners achieving level 3 and above 
qualifications and progressing into work, apprenticeships and/ or higher education;  

• A significant reduction in young people aged 16-24 who are not in education, employment or 
training (NEET), reaching near full participation for 16-18 year olds in all of London’s 
boroughs. 
 

 
A 4.5 A Strong Apprenticeships Offer for London 
 
The introduction of a levy on large UK employers to support all post-16 apprenticeships will offer the 
opportunity to engage businesses in work-based-learning and is welcomed by London Government. 
However, it may also present a number of issues for London whereby the region’s businesses pay 
more into the levy than they receive in return. 
 
Although much of the detail about how the levy will be calculated is yet to announced, the high 
number of  large businesses (defined as a business with 250+ employees) in London (see table 1) 
means that the region will be making  a significant contribution to the levy.   
 
BIS data (see table 1) suggests that there were 6,745 large private sector businesses in the UK at the 
start of 2014, 1410 of which were based in London, representing 20.9% of all UK large businesses 
and 30% of total UK turnover. 
 
Table 1  Number of London businesses in the private sector and their associated employment 
and turnover, by size of enterprise, 2014     
                                 

Size of enterprise  
Businesses Employees Turnover 

Number Share, % Number, 
000s Share, % £, billions Share, % 

All SMEs 
(0-249 employees) 933,035 99.8% 2,506 50% 460 43% 

Large 
(250+ employees) 1,410 0.2% 2,461 50% 603 57% 

London large 
business share of 
UK 

6,745 20.9% 10,071 24% 1,874 57% 

London total 934,445 100.0% 4,967 100% 1,064 100% 
London total share of 
UK 5,243,135 17.8% 25,229 20% 3,521 30% 

Source: BIS business population estimates, 2014. Notes: micro-businesses include unregistered 
businesses in addition to VAT traders and PAYE employers. The number of employees represents 
those people employed in London, not employed by London-based businesses. Turnover excludes 
financial and insurance activities. 



98 
 

 
Against this background of business density, and despite a number of high profile London campaigns 
which have increased the number of apprenticeships being offered by employers, London has 
actually underperformed in terms of Apprenticeship formation in recent years. Table 2 shows that the 
number of apprenticeships created in London between May 2010 and April 2015, is consistently 
below the England average and below a number of regions with lower business density (for example 
the east of England).  If this trend continues, there is a risk that London will not derive a proportionate 
benefit (in terms of apprenticeship starts) from its levy contribution and that much of the funding 
raised by London based businesses will be used to the benefit of other areas across the country.  
Further analysis will be undertaken by the GLA to measure and report the potential impact of the Levy 
in response to the Levy Consultation. 
 
Table 2 

 
 
There is also a risk that the levy may incentivise large employers to create high volumes of low quality 
apprenticeships within their existing workforce in order to ‘recoup’ their contribution, which may not be 
suitable for delivering London’s projected skills requirements, particularly at higher levels. 
 
Issue  
In achieving its 3 million Apprenticeships manifesto target, the Government will need to improve on 
the current level of market penetration. This requires better engagement of smaller and medium sized 
firms to create the opportunities to take on apprentices. London has a large concentration of small 
and medium sized businesses and offers great untapped potential to contribute to the Government’s 
target through joined up and innovative approaches to enable the apprenticeship system to better 
meet the needs of the market.   
 
The data in Table 1 underlines the importance of SMEs to London’s economy, showing that 99.8% of 
London’s businesses are SMEs which account for 50% of all London based employees and 43% of 
London’s turnover.  Therefore, if the Government’s ambitious target of achieving 3m apprenticeship 
starts by 2020 is to be met, it is vital that London’s SMEs are supported to engage with the 
Apprenticeship programme. 
 
Research undertaken by Ofsted70 found that training providers find it difficult to encourage SMEs to 
offer apprenticeship and work experience opportunities. SMEs cite barriers such as the cost of taking 
on new staff, not only in terms of pay and conditions but also the additional resources required in 
terms of management and human resources requirements.  SMEs believe the work experience and 
apprenticeship recruiting processes are too "bureaucratic” with many smaller employers expressing 
concern over the employability of learners and their preparedness for the world of work. 
 
Action  
                                                
70 Engaging small and medium enterprises in apprenticeships, Ofsted Jan 2015 



99 
 

Given the challenges outlined, we propose that London’s levy contribution is top-sliced and devolved 
to the Mayor, with a view to employing this funding in the following ways: 
 

• Capacity building activity for London’s SMEs including development and delivery of a London-
based Small Business Service, to include the provision of additional support for the 
recruitment of apprenticeships. This will include a focus on creating more higher level 
apprenticeship opportunities to meet London’s future skills requirements. 

 
• Interventions focused on pre-apprenticeship support of prospective apprenticeship candidates 

furthest from the workplace and not eligible for traineeships. 
 

• To subsidise apprenticeship training and ‘uplift’ funding for SMEs taking on apprentices. 
 

• To part-subsidise funding of other professional and technical education courses demanded by 
employers in key London sectors that supports progression into apprenticeships particularly 
higher apprenticeships.  
 

In return, London will continue to offer travel-card discounts to apprentices (currently at 30%) and lead 
campaign activity working with industry, the London Enterprise Panel, schools, post-16 education 
providers and London’s boroughs to promote apprenticeships and create new opportunities. 
 
Outcomes  
Through these actions, it is expected that we will achieve: 
 

• A doubling of good quality apprenticeship opportunities, particularly higher apprenticeships 
created in London by 2020; 
 

• An increase in the number of small and medium sized businesses creating new 
apprenticeship opportunities in the capital by 2020; 
 

• A significant increase from current levels (71%) of learners achieving level 3 and above 
qualifications and progressing into work, apprenticeships and/ or higher education.  

 
 
A 4.6 A London Entitlement for adult basic skills to ensure all Londoners are equipped to 
compete in London’s competitive labour market 
 
Issue 
A robust adult skills and employment services solution in London is critical to the capital’s continued 
success, through the continuing flexibility of its labour market and utilisation of its talent. Key to our 
devolution proposition is connecting more Londoners to work and to better-paid jobs on their 
doorstep. We want to move more people into work and off Universal Credit. At present 800,000 
Londoners (20% of the work force) are in low paid and low skilled work. With the population set to rise 
by another 2 million by 2030 this could rise to 1 million.  
 
Many low-skilled Londoners experience multiple barriers to getting, keeping and, most importantly, 
progressing in work. Our solution will see funding devolved to the Mayor and groups of boroughs 
acting in tandem through sub regional partnerships to tackle low skills. Aligning skills funding with 
other local resources at the sub-regional level will deliver wrap-around support that successfully 
removes complex barriers. 
 
Separate funding streams and agency silos currently result in high levels of fragmentation between 
low-level skills provision and other national and local services that support low-skilled residents to 
move into and progress in employment.  This fragmentation leads to areas of duplication and 
oversupply, resulting in inefficiencies in the system, and meaning that residents do not receive the 
most effective support to find and progress in work.  
 
 
 
 



100 
 

Action 
London seeks a devolved settlement for the adult skills budget, and with this will take a new approach 
to commissioning support to deliver a London Entitlement for adult skills in the capital to be 
delivered via a London Skills Agency.  
 
Sub-regional employment and skills boards will commission skills support that directly helps 
unemployed and economically inactive residents to access, sustain and progress in work. Groups of 
boroughs are uniquely placed to ensure provision responds to the needs of London’s diverse 
communities, aligning local services and budgets with skills funding to create tailored wrap-around 
support that cannot be achieved at a national or in some cases regional level. Aligning and integrating 
budgets and services will increase the efficiency and effectiveness of skills and employment 
investment and move more Londoners off benefits/Universal Credit.  
 
Sub-regional employment and skills boards will: 
• Commission services focused on supporting unemployed and economically inactive 

residents into work including English, maths and ESOL provision. Funding will be flexible (i.e. 
not limited to full qualifications) and linked to activities that directly improve residents’ employment 
prospects or help them to progress onto higher level skills training. Sub-regions will pool or align 
Section 106 funding, adult community learning, Flexible Support Fund (working with DWP) and 
other borough discretionary funds and services to develop an integrated service offer. This 
devolved funding will include element of London’s European Social Fund (ESF) allocation; 

• Provide skills funding for Londoners on mainstream employment support programmes 
(Work Programme Plus), linked to London’s devolution proposals around Work Programme Plus 
(WP Plus). This will be a ring-fenced element of London’s skills entitlement funding that would 
directly support those Londoners on WP Plus and needing skills investment in order to get a job. 

 
Outcomes: 
• An integrated employment and skills service in London, with clear pathways into work and 

progression within work, moving Londoners off Universal Credit; 
• All Londoners are equipped with basic skills for employment. 
 
 
Deliver a sustainable and coherent careers offer for London with relevant budgets devolved 
 
Issue  
Information for learners on employer demand is not sufficiently met by statutory careers guidance 
delivered in schools, or available to adults through the National Careers Service.  London Ambitions71 
states London’s position with regard to a careers offer for London. The first phase of London 
Ambitions is focussed on addressing the well-rehearsed weaknesses in the careers offer for young 
people. We will build on London Ambitions to develop the vision and action plan for a truly world-class 
all-age careers offer for all Londoners. 
 
Action  
With London Ambitions establishing a firm footing with education, training and business leaders 
across the capital, we aim to build on its success through the devolution and alignment of existing 
centrally managed programmes and relevant budgets, in particular:  

• The Careers and Enterprise Company; 
• The Inspiration Agenda; 
• Jobcentre Plus Advisers in schools; 
• The National Careers Service. 

 
Outcomes 
This will enable: 

• better connected education and training with the workplace, ensuring that more employers 
offer young people and adults high quality experiences of the world of work and that more 
recruit apprentices to strengthen long-term productivity; 

                                                
71 London Ambitions: shaping a truly successful careers offer for all young Londoners:  
https://lep.london/sites/default/files/documents/publication/London%20Ambitions%20Careers%20Offer.pdf  

https://lep.london/sites/default/files/documents/publication/London%20Ambitions%20Careers%20Offer.pdf


101 
 

• improved access to good quality career development support, particularly personalised 
guidance for the most vulnerable young people and adults; 

• improved the use of labour market intelligence, including better tracking and use of 
destination measures; 

• less fragmented, more sustainable and more coherent career development support for young 
people and adults; 

• a focus on return on investment to demonstrate impact and show accountability to London’s 
resident and business populations. 

 
A 4.8 Next steps and timeline 
 
Central government will need to provide dedicated resource and data working with London, to 
facilitate the following analysis. 
 
1. Full spectrum analysis of current skills delivery – looking at both numbers of students and funds 

allocated and spent on learners and learning aims by sector subject area, levels for both 
academic and vocational courses,   age of learners - by post 16 education providers in London 
including by in-London provision to non-London residents in: 

• Schools providing post 16 education including University Technical Colleges and Studio 
Schools; 

• FE colleges and sixth form colleges – including an analysis of SFA spend against allocation 
by entitlement; 

• Independent (private) learning providers; and 
• Higher education institutions. 
 

2. An assessment of quality and stability of current delivery including: 

• outcomes of publicly funded skills provision in London including success rates for specific 
subject courses by age,  level and type of course (academic and vocational) by provider as 
well as an analysis of destinations data, where available; 

• A review of Ofsted findings on providers in London; 
• An assessment of further education and sixth form colleges’ financial health including full 

disclosure by BIS of colleges’ financial liabilities.  
 

3. Detailed projected skills needs analysis in London including basic skills such as ESOL, level 2 
and 3, 4 and above for the next 5 years building on the initial analysis undertaken by the Skills 
Inquiry. 

 
4. A review of Colleges’ current plans to meet these needs including plans for collaboration, 

mergers, specialisation, capital investment (including bids for FE capital funding) and other plans 
to develop provision to meet future skills demands.  

 
5. An exploration of where efficiencies could be achieved through:  

• Aligning and integrating skills provision with other funding and services that supports 
Londoner’s into work; 

• Minimising duplication of spend on skills development for identified cohorts of learners in 
London between national agencies, government and local programmes; 

• Streamlining administrative functions and standardising approaches for collating and 
disseminating labour market intelligence. 

 
An indicative timeline of key milestones for developing and implementing the skills devolution 
proposition, including conducting Area Based Reviews is outlined below.  
 



102 
 

20
15

 
• Develop and agree the approach to Area Based Reviews (ABRs) in London  
• Establish an interim London Skills Steering Group  
• Appoint a London Skills Commissioner  
• Conduct further analysis on current delivery and future needs to inform ABRs  
• Develop a full business case and transition plan for skills devolution  

20
16

 

• Establish sub-regional skills and employment boards  
• Begin  first London Area Based Reviews   
• London Skills Steering Group begins to develop London Skills Strategy  
• Sub-regional boards begin collating and sharing labour market intelligence   
• Sub-regional boards develop sub-regional commissioning strategies 
• Establish London Skills  commissioning function to commission delivery  of ASB for 

17/18 

20
17

 • Complete London Area Based Reviews  
• SFA budgets and administration devolved to London 
• London labour market intelligence published in accessible format 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A diagram showing the devolved Skills system in London is set out on the following page /……..



 

103 
 

 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

HEIS 

Understand 
local labour 
market need 

Deliver skills provision 
that is responsive to 

the local labour 
market and 

 

 
Understanding local labour market 
need: 
• Collect and analyse information on 

labour market demand. This includes:  
oSecondary data (e.g. job vacancy 

data)  
oPrimary data gathered through 

employer engagement 
oDemand intelligence from local 

development plans 
• Feed this information through to the 

pan-London level to inform a London 
skills strategy and careers offer   

• Share information with local providers 
to inform their offer 

 

Develop sub-
regional 

commissioning 
strategy 

Review 
outcomes of 

skills provision 

Commission 
skills provision 

 

Commissioning skills provision: 
• Align and integrate appropriate 

budgets (ASB, ACL, ESF, FSF, 
S106, council core funding) to 
commission local provision to 
support low/no-qualified Londoners 
to progress in learning and work 

• Outcome based commissioning 
• Aligned with any devolved 

employment support programmes 
• Aligned with other local authority 

services 
• Includes integrating apprenticeship 

support for employers with local 
apprenticeship activity and 
brokerage services  

 

 

Reviewing outcomes of skills 
provision: 
• Review provider performance against 

sub-regionally agreed strategies 
• This informs oversight and 

accountability and future 
commissioning strategy. 

 
 

EMPLOYER
 

PROVIDERS 

OFSTED  

LOCAL AUTHORITY SERVICES 

SUB-REGIONAL ADULT SKILLS 
 

PAN LONDON  

Careers IAG 
 

 

SCHOOLS 

Oversight and 
accountability 

Articulate 
skills 

needs 

Invest in 
skills 

provision 

Help to 
develop 
curricula 

Align FE capital 
investment with 
skills priorities 

Approve new 
post-16 skills 
investments 

Disseminate 
London-level 

LMI on 
supply and 

demand 

Develop 
London 

skills 
strategy 

VCS 

Inspections take into 
account provider 

responsiveness to 
London and sub-
regional priorities 

Deliver 
high 

quality 
careers 

IAG 

Align with skills 
provision to support 

residents to 
progress in learning 

and work 

Provision 
supports 

residents to 
progress in 
learning and 

work 

Oversee 
financial 
health/ 

performance 
of providers 

Set ‘London 
entitlement’, 
uplifts and 
outcomes 
framework 

Set 
Apprenticeship 

Strategy 
including levy 

priorities  

Work with 
employers / 
providers 
on higher-
level skills 

 
Developing a commissioning 
strategy:  
• Use LMI and pan-London skills 

strategy to develop multi-year sub-
regional skills strategies agreed at 
pan-London level 

• Strategies incorporate priorities for 
curriculum development, capital 
investment, and specialisation 

• Strategies also set out any specific 
outcomes for providers to deliver at 
the sub-regional level 

• These are agreed with local 
providers and with local employers 

 

JCP 

Employment 
support aligned 

with sub-
regional skills 

offer 

London Delivery 
Agency for adult 

skills 
 

SKILLS 
COMMISSIONER 

Advises the Mayor 
and boroughs on the 

strategy and 
approach for skills 

reform London-wide 

Area Based 
Reviews 

 



 

104 
 

 

 



London Councils
59½ Southwark Street
London SE1 0AL

submitted: September 2015
cover image: Photofusion

Greater London Authority
City Hall
The Queen’s Walk
London SE1 2AA n



Devolution Working Group  

 
 

 
 
 

A New Agreement 
for London  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
       September 2015 



 
 
 

2 
 

Devolution Working Group 
 

Darren Johnson (Chair)   Green 

Len Duvall (Deputy Chair)   Labour 

Andrew Boff     Conservative 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE   Liberal Democrat 

 

The Devolution Working Group 
The Fiscal Devolution Working Group was established by the GLA Oversight 
Committee in December 2013. In response to policy developments, at its meeting of 
20 November 2014, the GLA Oversight Committee amended the title to the 
Devolution Working Group and agreed the following amended terms of reference: 
 

 To consider London’s case for further devolved services and taxes in the 
context of developments including the Scottish referendum and the 
devolved model of service provision announced for Manchester; 
 

 To progress the case for further devolution to London by developing 
practical solutions to unanswered questions including how additional 
powers and yield from any localised taxes could work in terms of the roles 
and responsibilities of  GLA and London Boroughs; and 
 

 To develop draft position statements for the Assembly’s consideration on 
issues related to the potential further devolution of powers to London 
Government and any potential changes to governance arrangements within 
London Government and to take the lead in promoting the Assembly’s 
agreed views on these matters. 

 
 

Contact 
Richard Derecki 
Email: Richard.derecki@london.gov.uk 
Contact: 020 7983 4899 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

3 
 

Contents 

Foreword ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Executive summary ....................................................................................................... 6 

1. The Challenge ..................................................................................................... 11 

2. A new phase of devolution for London .............................................................. 14 

3. Fiscal devolution to better support a growing city ............................................ 19 

4. Public service devolution to boost London’s productivity ................................. 24 

5. Devolution of suburban rail to better integrate London and the south east .... 29 

6. Devolution to improve public health  outcomes ................................................ 33 

7. The case for a more radical Agreement with government to improve health 
 care and cut crime .............................................................................................. 36 

Appendix A: Evolution of the GLA’s powers and remit .............................................. 41 

Appendix B: Summary of proposed new powers ....................................................... 44 

Orders and translations .............................................................................................. 50 

  



 
 
 

4 
 

Foreword 

 

London has made a success of devolution. Its model of a directly elected Mayor held 

to account by an elected Assembly has delivered a form of city government that is 

effective, open and transparent, and commands the confidence of Londoners.  

 

As other cities and city regions begin to put together their proposals for devolution 

measures, it is right that London government sets out its case for why further 

powers and responsibilities should be devolved from Whitehall. 

 

The challenges that London faces are formidable: they include boosting housing 

supply, creating more jobs, getting more people back to work, improving health 

outcomes and cutting crime.  Giving London government and the boroughs the 

ability to deliver public services more effectively and with better outcomes will be 

part of the solution. 

 

The London Assembly’s Devolution Working Group has taken evidence from a range 

of influential politicians, experts and commentators to critically assess the case. Our 

report, signed off by all four Party Group leaders, sets out the basis for a new 

London Agreement with Government.  

 

The next stage of devolution to London should include two elements: fiscal 

devolution and the re-design of public services. This report contains proposals for 

short-term measures which could be introduced relatively quickly and without the 

need for primary legislation. It also makes more radical proposals that would 

require wider consultation and take a longer time frame to realise. 

 

London can learn from the experience of other large cities.  In New York and Tokyo, 

for example, city mayors have more power than the London Mayor, and have larger 

budgets to deliver more services; but they are held in check by strong scrutiny 

arrangements. 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

5 
 

 

 

 

Our report proposes an expansion in the powers of the Mayor and greater 

responsibilities for the boroughs. But as the Mayor’s responsibilities increase there 

needs to be strong scrutiny arrangements to provide Londoners with the necessary 

check and balance to ensure they have the fullest confidence in the way their city is 

governed. Our report therefore also sets out measures to enhance the scrutiny 

powers of the Assembly. 

 

Darren Johnson – Leader of the Green Group   Caroline Pidgeon – Leader of the Liberal

                                                                                                Democrat Group 

 

    

                                                

Len Duvall – Leader of the Labour Group           Andrew Boff – Leader of the Conservative Group  

                   

  



 
 
 

6 
 

Executive summary 

A new Agreement for London  
 
Devolution works.  It makes government more open, more accountable and more 

relevant to local voters.   

 

London has made a particular success of devolution. Since the creation of the 

Mayor and London Assembly in 2000, the UK’s capital city has emerged as a leader 

amongst world cities. At the UK level, it is the biggest single net contributor to both 

the economy and government finances.  London has led the UK’s economic 

recovery and over the past decade has created over three quarters of a million new 

jobs.  

 

Throughout, London government has played a central role in supporting the city’s 

success, delivering major infrastructure projects including an Olympic and 

Paralympic Games widely seen as one of the most welcoming ever, a massive £5.5 

billion Tube upgrade and over 160,000 affordable homes. The Government is now 

asking other cities and regions to base their devolution bids on the London Mayoral 

model, a clear sign of its success.  

 

However, London now faces new challenges.  Its population is headed towards 10 

million by 2030.  As a result, London needs to dramatically increase its 

housebuilding programme, to develop a high tech, high skilled economy, and to 

support more people back into work.  We need to improve health care and further 

cut crime rates. Further devolution to London will play an important part in this and 

should include two elements: fiscal devolution and the re-design of public services.   

 

Fiscal devolution to better support a growing city 

London government needs fewer borrowing constraints and greater devolved tax 

powers.  These changes would re-balance the relationship between central and 

local government, allowing London government to invest more independently, 

comprehensively and flexibly to meet local needs.   

 

Devolving fiscal powers will also meet a number of central Government’s concerns.  

The Mayor’s current proposals can, according to him, be cost-neutral to the 

Exchequer. They will also serve to meet widespread concern that central  



 
 
 

7 
 

Government favours London over the rest of the UK in its own investment 

strategies. 

 

As a first step, the Government should fully devolve business rates to London.  Not 

only is there is widespread support for this proposal but the Government’s own 

research indicates that business rate retention can stimulate new businesses and 

help to expand existing ones. The Mayor should have the same financial powers and 

responsibilities with respect to business rates as the Scottish and Welsh devolved 

administrations. 

 

Over the longer term, the Mayor and GLA should, in line with the recommendations 

from the London Finance Commission, gain greater control over stamp duty.  

Devolving control of this tax would allow more flexible funding of housing and 

transport initiatives and allow for more responsive regional initiatives to support 

growth.   

 

Public service devolution to boost London’s productivity  

Some public services urgently need to be devolved. The current, centralised system 

of governance, with its over-emphasis on national delivery models, is not creating 

effective local outcomes for London, particularly in areas such as skills and 

employment support, and rail services.  

 

This programme of devolution will help London government to become more 

dynamic and responsive, better preparing it to meet the challenges in the next two 

decades:  

 

 Devolution of skills budget - The Mayor should negotiate with Government 

to fully devolve to the GLA the Skills Funding Agency’s allocation for London. 

The Local Enterprise Partnership will advise the Mayor so that funding is 

aligned to London’s jobs and growth agenda and college courses better 

meet the needs of local employers. 

 A single pot for employment support - Employment support programmes 

are under-performing in London.  All funding for these programmes should 

be brought together under a single pot and devolved to the Mayor, in the 

first instance, before being further devolved to local authorities. Boroughs in 

sub-regional partnerships would then have an incentive to work with the 

LEP, to better plan and integrate their employment support programmes 

with local job creation.  



 
 
 

8 
 

 Rail devolution to better link Londoners - Control of suburban routes is 

currently split between nine different Train Operating Companies, resulting 

in huge variations in passenger satisfaction, fares and ticketing policy, 

station upgrades and service reliability.  Transport for London has already 

demonstrated significant success in managing suburban rail networks and 

most major rail franchises come up for renewal between 2017 and 2022. 

This represents an excellent opportunity for the Department for Transport 

to re-examine its position and commit to devolving rail suburban rail 

services more broadly. 

 A London Health Commissioner - The post of a London Health 

Commissioner should be created. Public Health England should revisit plans 

to top-slice three per cent of the London Public Health budget to give to City 

Hall to galvanise action to tackle London’s many public health challenges. A 

dedicated budget would give the London Health Commissioner the ability to 

monitor the Government’s public health outcomes framework and enable 

innovative pan-London pilots to be trialed. 

 
The case for a more radical agreement with the Government to improve health 
care and cut crime  
This report sets out the basis for a new London Agreement with central 

Government. In addition to our shorter term proposals above, we also need a more 

radical rethink over the longer term. Our report therefore also proposes aspirations 

in respect of health care and criminal justice:    

 Primary and acute health care - London faces huge challenges in delivering 

health care. Yet there is a democratic deficit in terms of decision-making, 

with residents unclear as to who is making the decisions that will affect the 

shape of the healthcare provision in their area.  A well-resourced London 

Health Commissioner would be able to advise the Mayor on a vision for how 

London’s health and social care services need to adapt to face the challenges 

of a rapidly growing but also ageing population. The London Health 

Commissioner would have oversight of the finances of the regional health 

economy as a whole and address workforce issues to help health workers to 

be able to live close to where they practice. There could finally be a detailed 

discussion about the merits of integrating the London Ambulance Service 

with the fire and police services, which the Mayor already manages, to 

create a modern and efficient first responder service. This type of strategic 

work would for the first time be done at City Hall, bringing greater 

transparency and accountability to long-term health care planning. 



 
 
 

9 
 

 Improving the criminal justice system in London - The criminal justice 

system in London should be accountable just as is the Metropolitan Police 

Service.  There is a strong argument that devolution would make the 

criminal justice system speedier and more cost-effective, through for 

example, co-locating Met officers and Crown Prosecution Service staff, and 

through using the same IT systems.  Devolution could make it easier to 

provide a ‘whole-person’ approach to commissioning, including a ‘beyond-

the-prison gate’ package of services and support for all those who have been 

through the criminal justice system to more effectively reduce offending.  

 

Balancing the power: an enhanced London Assembly for an increasingly devolved 

London government  

Further devolution to London government will need to be balanced by effective and 

appropriate scrutiny arrangements. Through its committees, the Assembly oversees 

all the areas where the Mayor has power or influence.  As his powers change, so 

those of the Assembly must develop in tandem. 

 

The central role of the London Assembly is to hold the Mayor to account.  It uses a 

variety of powers to ensure the GLA is transparent, and that all decision making is 

accounted for. The centrepiece of the Assembly’s work programme is detailed 

scrutiny, and approval, of the Mayor’s draft budget, which amounted to £17 billion 

in 2015/16.  

 

The Assembly must play a key role in overseeing any agreed devolution package. In 

addition to its core powers, it should have the powers to: 

 require the Mayor to publish a forward plan of decisions which would 

increase the transparency of City Hall decision-making; 

 veto Mayoral amendments to a future devolved business rate; 

 amend the capital budget;  

 summon information and cooperation from bodies outside the GLA group 

that are appointed by the Mayor or have a significant London-wide role to 

play in delivering his strategies; 

 reject the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan; 

 use a power of veto, via a binding confirmation hearing, to reject key 

Mayoral  appointments (deputy mayors); and potentially 

 to amend at a programme level, the Mayor’s budget.  

 



 
 
 

10 
 

London can learn from the experience of other large cities.  In New York and Tokyo, 

for example, city mayors have more power than the London Mayor, and have larger 

budgets to deliver more services; but they are held in check by strong scrutiny 

arrangements.1  As a result, mayors and city councils work more collaboratively.  

Over the longer term, the Government should work towards giving the London 

Mayor and the Assembly legislative power in areas such as public health and alcohol 

licensing.  

 

As the London Mayor takes on new roles and looks to raise and spend larger sums 

of money, the Assembly’s democratic function needs to keep pace, to provide 

Londoners with the necessary check and balance to ensure they have the fullest 

confidence in the way their city is governed.  

  

                                                      
1
 Background papers on the governance arrangements for New York City and Tokyo are available on 

the Devolution Working Group’s landing page. 



 
 
 

11 
 

1. The Challenge 

London has made a success of devolution. Since the creation of the Mayor and 

London Assembly in 2000, the UK’s capital city has emerged as a leader amonst 

world cities. London is the leading global hub for financial and business services, 

rivalled only by New York, and is now the world’s most visited city.2 The capital is 

the biggest net contributor to both government finances and the UK economy. 

London has led the economic recovery and over the past decade has created over 

three quarters of a million new jobs.3 London Government has played a central role 

in supporting the city’s success delivering major infrastructure projects including an 

Olympic and Paralympic Games widely seen as one of the most welcoming ever, a 

massive £5.5 billion Tube upgrade and over 160,000 affordable homes (some 25 per 

cent of the total number of affordable homes delivered across the country). That 

the Mayoral model used in London is now the basis for similar devolved systems 

across England today is a sign of its success.  

 

Devolution works because it makes government more open, more accountable and 

more relevant to voters. This was the original ambition for the establishment of the 

Greater London Authority.4 Commentators and the public agree that more local 

decision making increases transparency and ensures clear lines of accountability.5 

Successive governments have recognised the advantages of the Mayoral/Assembly 

model and have added powers and budgets to its remit through legislative change. 

Appendix A traces that evolution.  

 

London’s population is headed for 10 million by 2030. This massive demographic 

pressure is the key challenge facing the city. We need more housing and more jobs. 

London needs a dramatic increase in home building to address the problems 

generated by years of under-supply. Meeting this demand requires new approaches 

to housing delivery across the capital. London government needs greater flexibility 

in terms of access to surplus public sector land, greater freedom to borrow 

prudentially, and needs new powers to speed up delivery of new homes in the 

capital. It will be crucial to ensure that funds raised from selling council homes in 

                                                      
2
 London 2036; an agenda for jobs and growth, the London Enterprise Panel and London First, 

January 2015, pg 12 
3
 Cities Outlook, Centre for Cities, January 2015, pg 12 

4 Second reading of GLA Bill, HC Deb 14 December 1998 vol 322 cc623-733 623. The Greater London 
Authority comprises the Mayor and London Assembly.  
5
  The Future of England: the local dimension, IPPR, April 2014, pg 2 

http://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Cities_Outlook_2015.pdf
http://hansard.millbanksystems.com/commons/1998/dec/14/greater-london-authority-bill#column_623
http://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/England-local-dimension_Apr2014.pdf?noredirect=1


 
 
 

12 
 

the capital are reinvested in affordable housing and Government proposals to 

introduce the right to buy for housing association tenants support, rather than 

undermine, additional new housing supply.  

 

London government needs to lead the development of a high tech, high skilled 

economy that will provide many of the jobs needed over the next fifteen years and 

boost productivity not only in London but also across the UK. It needs to redesign 

policies to support people back into work and on to better paid jobs and it needs to 

champion reform of health and social care to improve the health of Londoners.  

 
A new phase of devolution across the UK 
For all parts of the UK, there is evidence of the Government’s continued 

commitment to transfer powers and resource from Whitehall to nations, cities and 

regions. Government accepts that better outcomes are achieved when decisions are 

made closest to where those decisions will have effect.6 For this reason, Scotland 

and Wales are gaining significant control over taxation, most notably for business 

rates, stamp duty and, at least in part, income tax and borrowing. And cities and 

local government in England are gaining greater control over some spending 

programmes through the City Deals and bids to the Growth Fund.   

 
Of more significance for English cities and regions, the Cities and Local Government 

Devolution Bill will create a framework for the implementation of devolution 

agreements with combined authority and other areas. This is enabling legislation 

which can be applied flexibly to different areas by secondary legislation. Most 

significantly, it is the legislation which will deliver the Greater Manchester 

Agreement (the Agreement). This Agreement, announced in November 2014, 

creates a new governance structure of a directly-elected Mayor and Cabinet of local 

authority leaders. The Agreement builds on the London Mayoral model giving 

similar powers already devolved to London, such as control of a multi-year 

transport budget, strategic planning powers and control of housing investment. 

However, the Greater Manchester Agreement goes further than the London model 

by proposing devolution of some elements of welfare spending (for example, to 

tackle complex dependency and to support people back into work), business 

support and skills funding. Most strikingly, the proposed integration of the health 

and social care budgets is a radical move to create a more effective “whole person” 
                                                      
6
 In a speech delivered by the Chancellor George Osborne on 14 May 2015 announcing his plans for 

devolution to cities, he stated that decentralising power would provide “a revolution in the way we 
govern England.  It’s power to the working people of our country.  And it means a stronger 
democracy and greater prosperity for all.” 
 



 
 
 

13 
 

approach to care and to drive financial efficiencies.  There are elements of these 

proposals that should now come to London. 

 

The scrutiny arrangements are, however, different. Scrutiny is delivered in the 

Greater Manchester model in two ways. Firstly, by its own executive with the 

Cabinet having the ability to reject strategies if two-thirds of them agree. This is 

problematic as scrutiny of the executive by the executive is not readily transparent 

– a value that must be at the heart of devolution. Secondly, scrutiny is also to be 

delivered by the Greater Manchester Scrutiny Pool which is expected to take on the 

task of holding the Mayor and Cabinet accountable for all their spending and 

decision-making but without any powers. The Scrutiny Pool is made up of politicians 

with very local electoral mandates and in its current form typically receives 

presentations from executive office holders. Given the size of the budgets which the 

Mayor and Cabinet of local leaders will control, which run into hundreds of millions 

of pounds, it is not yet clear how effective and open budgetary scrutiny will be 

managed.  

 

Here in London, the London Assembly, which is tasked with scrutinising the Mayor, 

combines links with London boroughs through its 14 constituency members, with a 

pan-London mandate through its 11 London-wide members. The use of this 

proportional representation electoral system ensures the Assembly more accurately 

reflects the will of all London voters. It also means that Assembly Members elected 

with a London-wide mandate are not compromised in having to represent local 

interests at the same time as having to scrutinise the pan-London policies and 

strategies of the Mayor.   

 

The London Assembly also has powers to check Mayoral budget and planning 

decisions, which protects Londoners from poorly-evidenced decisions or those 

taken without full consultation. In this way, the Assembly ensures the accountability 

and transparency of those services, decisions and powers devolved to London.  

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

14 
 

2. A new phase of devolution for London 

Over the past two years, the London Mayor and London Councils have concentrated 

their energies on pressing the case for fiscal devolution, with little success. In a pre-

election announcement of a long term economic plan for London,7 the Government 

proposed a modest set of devolution measures: a commitment to fund the 

transport investment budget out to 2020, the announcement of nine new housing 

zones and devolved powers over river wharves. But, as Sir Edward Lister, the 

Mayor’s Chief of Staff, noted in comments to our Devolution Working Group “these 

things…are probably fairly low-hanging fruit in reality”, and do little to address the 

issues outlined in Chapter 1 that London so sorely needs to address.  

 

This report builds on the devolution proposals set out by the Mayor and London 

Councils at the July 2015 Congress of Leaders meeting.8 Their “London Proposition” 

is a welcome and long overdue development but which in some areas is not 

ambitious enough to meet the challenges London’s growth will bring. It does not 

press for fiscal devolution which we feel is a missed opportunity. And devolution 

will only succeed where it is transparent and has appropriate and relevant checks 

and balances to ensure good performance and value for money.  

 

Alongside proposals for where and how devolution could support both the London 

and UK economy, there are plans for a new pan-London partnership between the 

London Mayor and the executives of London’s 32 boroughs and the City of London 

to cover areas such as health and skills. The “London Proposition” recognises that 

this pan-London governance system will need to be balanced by effective and 

appropriate scrutiny arrangements9  and that the Assembly as the London-wide 

scrutiny body has a “critical role”10 in relation to the proper governance of an 

agreed devolution package, a point Mayor Jules Pipe (Chair of London Councils) 

                                                      
7
 ‘Long term economic plan announced by the Chancellor and the Mayor of London’, HM Treasury 

Press Release, 20 February 2015 
8
 ‘The London proposition: Devolution and public service reform, Congress of Leaders meeting, 14

th
 

July 2015 
9
 While it is expected that decisions of the Congress Executive will normally be on a consensual basis, 

some decisions can be agreed by a majority of the London Councils’ Executive and the Mayor.  Some 
issues will be a reserved matter for the whole Congress, while others face a threshold for agreement 
of 26 of the 33 authorities and the Mayor. This is similar to the arrangements being proposed for the 
Greater Manchester Mayoralty. There is as yet no detail as to which matters or areas will be subject 
to which level of agreement.  
10

 ibid 

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/26912


 
 
 

15 
 

made in testimony to the Assembly’s Devolution Working Group. 11 With a stronger 

Mayor than in the Manchester model London needs stronger scrutiny 

arrangements.   

 

The need for enhanced powers for the Mayor and London Councils… 
The next stage of devolution to London should include two elements: fiscal 

devolution and the re-design of public services. This report contains proposals for 

short-term measures which could be introduced relatively quickly and without the 

need for primary legislation. It also makes proposals that would require wider 

consultation and take a longer time frame to realise. 

 
Fiscal devolution is needed to enable London Government to raise more of the 

money it needs and so reduce its dependency on central government. This would 

allow it to deliver services more flexibly, as service delivery will no longer be tied to 

specific ring fenced grants from central government, and to self-generate the funds 

for its key infrastructure requirements, particularly housing and transport.  

 

Devolution of some public services, notably in the skills sector and in the delivery of 

employment programmes, is required because the current system is not functioning 

as effectively as it could. An over-centralised system of governance and an over-

emphasis on national delivery models do not deliver the outcomes required at a 

local level.  

 

Looking to the longer term, we need a more radical rethink. The GLA is held back by 

having differing levels of power in different policy areas. As the Communities and 

Local Government (CLG) Select Committee noted, “aside from those for transport, 

housing and economic development, where he has executive responsibilities and 

budgets, the Mayor must rely on persuasion and influence to ensure they are 

implemented”.12 This means that for those additional statutory strategies which the 

Mayor is obliged to produce, including culture and health inequalities, neither he 

nor other tiers of London Government have influence over the bodies that deliver in 

these areas. They continue to look to Whitehall for direction. It is time for that to 

change.  

 

In light of new challenges, this report sets out a proposal for a set of powers and 

services to be devolved to the Mayor and London Councils. These relate to fiscal 

powers, skills budgets and employment support, suburban rail lines and our longer 

                                                      
11

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 26 February, pg 12.  
12

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 22 June, pg 6. 



 
 
 

16 
 

term aspirations in respect of health and criminal justice. Our proposals for a new 

agreement with government are summarised in Appendix B.   

 

There is then the question of which level of government is appropriate to deliver 

which services. A new London Agreement with the Government will need to 

distinguish between strategic and local devolution. Some roles will be best suited to 

Mayoral control, while others better suited to local control at the level of boroughs 

or groups of boroughs. There will need to be clarity so that neither tier of 

government will have a veto over the other. For example, if there is local ambition 

for co-commissioning of primary care services then, subject to sufficient local 

scrutiny, we would not expect the Mayor to have a role in this sphere.  Equally, we 

would anticipate that in relation to the control of tax raising powers, the Mayor 

would be in the driving seat. This principle of mutual respect is already recognised 

by the Mayor and the London Councils where all areas of activity currently under 

the authority of either the Mayor or the London boroughs remain sovereign to each 

individual body. The proposals currently being developed by the London Congress 

must clearly set out which devolved powers will lie at which level.  

 

…and stronger accountability powers for the Assembly   
 Governments have long accepted that as the powers of London’s Mayor change 

then the powers of the Assembly should also move in tandem. Legislation that 

changed Mayoral powers in 2007 and 2011 also increased the powers of the 

Assembly, introducing the ability to reject statutory strategies and non-binding 

confirmation powers over some senior posts.13 The central role of the London 

Assembly is to hold the Mayor to account, and to investigate issues of importance 

to Londoners. The Assembly uses a variety of powers to ensure London Government 

is transparent, and that all decision-making is accounted for. The centre piece of the 

Assembly’s work programme is detailed scrutiny, and approval, of the Mayor’s draft 

budget (which amounted to around £17 billion in 2015/16), which includes the 

spending of Transport for London and the Metropolitan Police Service, among other 

bodies. The Assembly also votes on the Mayor’s proposal for the Council Tax 

precept.  

 

 Through its committee system, the Assembly provides oversight of all areas where 

the Mayor has power or influence. It is tasked to review and comment upon new 

policy developments: its recent work putting forward the case against the use of 

water cannon in London, which the Home Secretary ultimately declined to licence, 

                                                      
13

 See for example ‘The Greater London Authority’, House of Commons Briefing Paper 05817, pgs 8-9 



 
 
 

17 
 

is a good example of its work. The Assembly also has the scope to develop new 

policy ideas and to press the Mayor for implementation. Recently the Assembly has, 

for example, championed the adoption of flexible ticketing arrangements that have 

been introduced by TfL to help encourage part-time working. In addition, it can take 

the lead on issues that the Mayor may not initially prioritise. For example, over the 

past 10 years, the Assembly has repeatedly highlighted the public health dangers of 

poor air quality. Since 2009, the Mayor and others have, following Assembly 

recommendations, taken action such as: quantifying deaths from air pollution at 

local and London levels; ordering an Ultra-Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in central 

London; setting fleet-wide standards for emissions from buses and; providing air 

pollution data in real time to policy-makers and also the public. 

 

 As the role of the Mayor changes, then the powers of the Assembly will need to be 

enhanced to maintain that necessary check and balance. There are some modest 

changes that could be implemented quickly to strengthen the Assembly’s powers 

of oversight and increase accountability as the Mayor’s role expands: for example 

by requiring the Mayor to publish a forward plan of decisions which would 

increase the transparency of City Hall decision-making and by having powers to 

amend the capital budget.  

 

 There should also be a power to reject the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan to make 

this consistent with the Assembly’s powers over the other Mayoral statutory 

strategies, which was one of the recommendations of the CLG Select Committee 

report in 2013.  

 

 Furthermore, given their importance in relation to policy development and 

implementation on behalf of the Mayor, the Assembly should have a power of 

veto, via a binding confirmation hearing, to reject section 67 (1) appointments 

(currently called deputy mayors). This would bring the Assembly’s role in line with 

is powers in relation to a deputy mayor for police and crime (where an Assembly 

Member is not that person).  

 

 Under the current Government’s and Mayor’s plans it is likely that more services 

will be delivered by private companies or third sector organisations. Public money 

will increasingly be spent without clear lines of accountability to London 

Government. To enhance accountability to Londoners, the Assembly should be 

empowered to summons information and cooperation from bodies outside the 

GLA group that are appointed by the Mayor or have a significant London-wide 



 
 
 

18 
 

role to play in delivering his strategies.14 This principle is recognised for other 

devolved bodies. For example, the Smith Commission’s proposals for further 

devolution of powers to the Scottish Parliament lists a wide range of national bodies 

(eg OFCOM and OFGEM) which should lay reports, and appear, before committees 

of the Scottish Parliament.   

 

 There are ways of working that London can learn from other large cities, such as 

New York and Tokyo, which have similar Mayoral models of government.15 In those 

cities, city government is accountable for a greater range of services and has more 

levers to help meet the needs of its people. These Mayors are more powerful and 

have larger budgets raised from local taxes and charges, but they are held in check 

by strong scrutiny arrangements. This relationship is a more balanced one than the 

London model and there is a greater partnership between the Mayor and City 

Council to reach decisions. As the London Mayor takes on new roles and looks to 

raise and spend larger sums of money then, as Professor Tony Travers, the London 

finance expert, has noted “the balance of power between the executive and the 

scrutiny part of the [London] system [will] have to be re-examined.”16 One option to 

enhance budget accountability would be to give the Assembly the ability to amend 

the budget at individual programme level. 

 

 Over the longer-term, the Government should work towards giving the Mayor and 

the Assembly legislative power in areas such as public health and alcohol licensing. 

While we accept that this is a significant change in the GLAs statutory role, there is 

clear evidence that city government can move more quickly to address public health 

concerns at a citywide level instead of having to wait for national decisions to be 

taken. The move to create smoke-free public areas has been led by city 

governments both here and abroad. In the UK, the smoke-free campaign was led 

most notably by Liverpool, which at one point pressed for the ability to take 

citywide action, and through a wide body of work initiated by the Mayor of London, 

the London Assembly and London Councils.  

  

                                                      
14

 The relevant bodies are: London Waste and Recycling Board, London Pension Fund Authority, 
Museum of London, NHS London, the London Ambulance Service, Environment Agency, Royal Parks 
Agency and Constabulary, British Waterways, Commission for Architecture and the Built 
Environment, Arts Council and English Heritage London Advisory Committee, the Port of London 
Authority, the Higher Education Funding Council for England, and the Civil Aviation Authority. 
15

 Background papers on governance in New York city and Tokyo are on the Devolution Working 
Group landing page. 
16

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 22 June 2015 



 
 
 

19 
 

3. Fiscal devolution to better support a 
growing city 

 
 The London Finance Commission was established by the Mayor in 2012 to report on 

how to develop improved funding arrangements for London. London government 

needs fewer borrowing constraints (such as the Housing Revenue Account) and 

greater devolved tax powers to enable it to invest more comprehensively without 

the need for ad hoc, project-by-project financing arrangements.  

 

 The London Finance Commission report, published in May 2013, sought to establish 

robust arguments in favour of the devolution of London’s property tax revenue 

streams - including council tax, stamp duty land tax and business rates - which 

account for roughly 11 per cent of all the tax paid in London.17 The proposals are 

similar to recent reforms in Scotland and in Wales and could work for other cities 

and city regions.  

 

 The Mayor has argued that the proposals would be cost neutral to the Exchequer at 

the point of devolution and would “provide cities with the means and incentives to 

grow their economies, including the appropriate balance of skills, infrastructure, 

and other economic development expenditure, and therefore their tax bases.”18 

These measures would re-balance the relationship between central and local 

government, giving greater autonomy and flexibility for money to be better spent to 

meet local need, and would thereby address the long-standing financial weakness 

of English cities in comparison to their foreign counterparts.      

 

 So far, the Chancellor has not responded favourably to the arguments presented by 

London government in support of fiscal devolution. In testimony to the London 

Assembly’s Devolution Working group, Sir Edward Lister stated that “the Chancellor 

is not prepared to take on the issue of fiscal devolution for us here and indeed he 

hasn’t for the rest of the country either…[However] I think this is still work 

                                                      
17

 Raising the Capital: The Report of the London Finance Commission, London Finance Commission, 
May 2013, pgs 57 - 73 
18

 The letters were jointly signed by the Mayor and Jules Pipe, as Chair of London Councils and Sir 
Richard Leese on behalf of the Core Cities. 



 
 
 

20 
 

outstanding and the Mayor is quite clearly committed to lobbying for more fiscal 

devolution. I do not think we have lost that war.”19   

 

 The London Assembly has long argued in favour of greater fiscal devolution to 

London. In a joint piece of work with London Councils and ahead of the introduction 

of the 2007 GLA Act, the Assembly argued that the small proportion of taxes raised 

locally to fund public services meant that London remained at the “mercy of central 

government”. The report, “A New Settlement for London”, set out an agreed 

position calling for re-localising the business rate and the ability to pilot new local 

taxes.20 More recently, in the Assembly’s response to the Mayor’s draft 

Infrastructure Plan, we highlighted the sheer scale of the capital investment needed 

to meet the demands of our rapidly growing population and noted the need for 

innovative forms of financing to ease the demand on central government grant.21   

 

The rationale 
 London’s funding arrangements need to equip London government with the 

flexibility to support new growth initiatives, to respond to the fast changing 

economy and to raise the necessary investments in housing and transport to 

accommodate projected population growth. Even though the return on public 

investment in London is often higher than it would be elsewhere, other regions 

continue to experience a sense of injustice and neglect in the face of the volume of 

new investment in the capital. By giving London the means to fund more of its own 

infrastructure and other needs, the Government will reduce the pressure on central 

resources at a time when it wants to avoid being seen as favouring London. 

 

 With greater fiscal devolution, London Government will bear the risk and reward of 

managing its own revenue stream and will not have to routinely re-negotiate its 

settlement with central government. This will bring a greater degree of financial 

certainty into long-term planning and help to create future borrowing opportunities 

for investment  

 

 There are two positive effects for the UK as a whole: if through devolving property 

taxes to London government, the London economy grows faster than forecast, then 

the Exchequer will gain from the increase in value of other taxes paid in London. If, 

on the other hand, the London economy falters and does not grow as fast as the UK 

as a whole, then as Professor Tony Travers pointed out “the losses would be kept in 

                                                      
19

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 26 February 2015,  pg 2 
20

 A new settlement for London, Commission on London Governance, February 2006, page 59 
21

 Letter from the London Assembly Planning Committee to the Mayor, 12 June 2014 



 
 
 

21 
 

London and actually the rest of the country would be protected from these 

[losses].”22        

 

 Fiscal devolution will act as a powerful incentive to promote and sustain London’s 

economic dynamism. The London Assembly therefore reiterates its support for 

the devolution of property based taxes to the capital and calls on the Mayor and 

London Councils to continue to make the case for fiscal devolution. As many of 

these taxes are already being devolved to Scotland, there can be no technical 

reason preventing London from being given the same benefits.  We believe fiscal 

devolution to be a form of strategic devolution and the Mayor should therefore 

have sole authority, subject to consultation and scrutiny. We would not expect 

London Councils to have a veto. In line with this, scrutiny and accountability 

should be the responsibility of the London Assembly. 

  
A first step – full devolution of business rates 

 There is widespread support for full localisation of the business rate to London 

government. 23  The Government’s own research indicates that business rate 

retention can stimulate the growth of new business and the expansion of existing 

ones.24 The need is for greater flexibility at a pan-London and sub-regional level to 

allow for exemptions to support new growth clusters and to better reflect the 

changing structure of the London economy. Bringing this tax raising power down to 

the London level would strengthen the relationship between the administration and 

enforcement of property taxation in the capital and its application for the delivery 

of services and infrastructure.25 

 In April 2013, the Government introduced the business rates retention scheme. The 

objective of the new regime was that local authorities (and the GLA) should be able 

to retain a proportion of the increase in their business rates revenue to incentivise 

and reward them for delivering growth in their area. There is some early evidence 

of success: Westminster Council for example, has used funds from its business rate 

retention scheme to create a Civic Enterprise Fund to support a number of 

entrepreneurs and early stage businesses, creating new job opportunities for local 

people and additional value to the local economy. 

 

                                                      
22

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 22 June, pg 5.  
23

 See for example the Joint response to the Government’s Review of Business Rates from among 
others London Councils, Westminster Council, and London Chamber of Commerce:  
24

 Business rates retention scheme, Communities and Local Government, May 2012 
25

 Ibid.  

http://londonfirst.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Joint-response-to-Business-Rates-Review-FINAL-120615.pdf


 
 
 

22 
 

 In London, the GLA receives 20 per cent of all business rates income collected in the 

capital – 40 per cent of the locally retained share.26 But we can and should go 

further. Our proposal is that the Mayor should have the same powers and 

responsibilities as the Scottish and Welsh devolved administrations in relation to 

business rates – including the ability to determine the timing of revaluations, the 

setting of the non-domestic rating multiplier, relief and discount policies and the 

ability to use locally-raised revenues in a targeted way to deliver infrastructure, 

housing and transport investment. 

   

What needs to happen?  
 The ability to change the amount of business rate that comes to London 

Government and the boroughs can be largely achieved by amendments to 

secondary legislation (in this case, the statutory instruments accompanying the 

2012 Local Government Finance Act).27 To make this move cost neutral to the 

Treasury, there will need to be offsetting adjustments to the GLA’s and London 

boroughs’ government grants. One option could see the GLA and London boroughs’ 

share of the total business rate yield increased and the non-specific revenue grants 

they receive from Government correspondingly reduced. For example, the relative 

certainty of the business rate income stream could replace the less predictable 

Transport and Home Office policing grant which in total comes to around £2.4 

billion.28 This would give the Commissioners who run the transport system and the 

police a degree of multi-year financial certainty they have long called for. As Craig 

Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service) said in testimony 

to the Assembly’s Police and Crime Committee “It is incredibly difficult planning a 

budget of this size and complexity on an annual, ‘Here is the announcement for this 

year’. Please give us multi-year settlements, even if they are challenging.  It is easier 

to plan given the time it takes to implement some of the things we need to do”.29 

 

 The Treasury needs assurance that this devolution will be managed in a way to both 

protect ratepayers from the risk of unreasonably high business rate increases and to 

ensure that its yield will be used effectively. This could be achieved by the London 

Assembly having a veto on the Mayor’s ability to amend the business rate or offer 

exemptions as it does in respect to the Mayor’s budget. This will ensure 

                                                      
26

 Billing authorities retain 30 per cent of total business rates income; central government receives 
50 per cent. 
27

 Giving London Government the ability to alter the business rate multiplier, which determines the 
number of pence per pound of rateable value to be paid, would require primary legislation.   
28

 The Government is currently consulting on reforms to the arrangements for allocating funding to 
police forces in England and Wales: More details can be found on the Home Office website 
29

 Transcript, London Assembly Police and Crime Committee, 18 December 2014. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/minister-for-policing-launches-consultation-on-police-funding-reform-in-england-and-wales


 
 
 

23 
 

transparency, a clear mechanism for accountability and a check and balance should 

any Mayor operate in an unreasonable manner or without consultation. 

 

Over the long term – devolution of stamp duty 
 Proposals to devolve stamp duty, which could be used to fund borrowing to support 

housing and transport infrastructure needs, will necessarily play out over a longer 

timeframe and are more complex to implement. The Scottish Government is now 

responsible for setting the bands and the rates for stamp duty (in Scotland, the Land 

and Building Transaction Tax). This has required primary and secondary legislation 

and the establishment of a new collection authority Revenue Scotland, responsible 

for the collection and management of the devolved taxes. There are significant 

administrative costs, running to approximately £21m for initial set up for the first 

five years.30  

 

 While the London Finance Commission did propose the devolution of stamp duty to 

London Government, it is a volatile tax subject to the fluctuations of the housing 

market and carries substantial risks that would require a large financial reserve to 

help smooth out. London raises roughly a third of the total amount of stamp duty 

collected across the UK and changes to any future “London rate” could have ripple 

effects across the south east. The Mayor has recently proposed the option of 

looking at localising stamp duty to fund specific infrastructure projects. Under this 

proposal, property values uplifted by being close to new infrastructure such as 

Crossrail2 stations could be taxed upon sale so that London as a whole benefits 

from the additional value created by public investment. Given the lack of clarity 

over any future funding for Crossrail2, this contribution could be key. Taking these 

small steps would allow the Mayor to demonstrate that the GLA can manage fiscal 

devolution effectively and pave the way for further devolution in the future. This 

proposal is therefore worth exploring further with Government. 

 

 Over the longer term, there may be a need for further strengthening of the 

Assembly’s powers of financial scrutiny, particularly if we move to a situation where 

the forecasts for likely revenues (say if stamp duty were to be devolved) were 

disputed. Some commentators have called for an Independent Budget Office for 

London, though boosting the resources for the Assembly to undertake more 

detailed financial scrutiny might be a more pragmatic step. 

 

                                                      
30

 Implementation of devolved taxes: Joint update from Revenue Scotland, Registers of Scotland and 
the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, 17 October 2014  
 



 
 
 

24 
 

4. Public service devolution to boost   
  London’s productivity 

Devolution of employment and skills measures is needed to support and sustain 

London’s economic dynamism. Bringing budgets and commissioning powers closer 

to the London labour market will better help people to acquire the skills they need 

to get well-paid jobs and to boost productivity, to the benefit of the UK economy as 

a whole. In July 2015, the Treasury announced its plans to reverse the decline in the 

UK’s productivity over the course of the current Parliament.  In its report “Fixing the 

Foundations: Creating a more prosperous nation”, it stated that the UK “suffers 

from several weaknesses in its skills base that have contributed to its longstanding 

productivity gap with France, Germany and the US”.31  Alongside the announcement 

of a levy to fund apprenticeships, the Government also announced proposals to 

offer local government the opportunity to re-shape and re-commission the Further 

Education sector. Further details are still awaited, but a strategic, city-wide 

oversight of the skills agenda is needed to ensure the needs of the London economy 

can be met from local labour markets.  

 

Devolution of the skills budget – the rationale 

 In testimony to the Devolution Working Group, Harvey McGrath (Deputy Chair, 

London Enterprise Panel (LEP)) argued that the current skills system is not 

effectively providing skills that are required by London employers. This is because 

the London economy changes quickly and information flows between employers, 

Further Education (FE) colleges and universities are poor. Some colleges are not 

providing the right courses to help people get the skills they need to access the jobs 

that the local economy is generating. As employers can’t find job-ready local people 

they look further afield to meet their needs.  

 

 As Harvey McGrath recognised “there are literally thousands and thousands of jobs 

that need to be filled and there are not enough qualified individuals here to fill 

them.” For example, the new housing requirement in London is well known, with 

the Mayor committing to build 42,000 new homes every year. This level of new 

build is significantly above anything that has been achieved in London since the 

1930s. Yet, the construction industry tends to be a spot hirer of workers. A better 

alignment of FE revenue funding with market need would allow the construction 

                                                      
31

 Fixing the Foundations: Creating a more prosperous nation, HM Treasury, July 2015, pg 23 



 
 
 

25 
 

sector to actively engage with colleges and training providers to develop a pipe-line 

of talent to support their recruitment needs and to ensure that the people who 

work for them have the right training. 

 

 The LEP has taken some steps to ensure better information sharing between the 

national Skills Funding Agency and local authorities about the individual learners’ 

journey. Having that awareness improves transparency and allows more effective 

commissioning to ensure a better fit between the skills being taught and the jobs 

being created. There is, however, more that is required and Harvey McGrath argued 

that because the “journey to learn” is inevitably cross-borough, there is a need for 

London government to be able to reconfigure the FE estate across London; map and 

plan where the provision is needed; and encourage the sub-regions to deliver to 

that plan. 

 

What needs to happen? 

 As part of its Agreement, Greater Manchester will receive a package of measures to 

support economic development, including the power to restructure the Further 

Education sector. There are broad levels of support from business, local authorities 

and the colleges for similar devolution to London Government. Successive 

governments have promised greater local influence over skills funding and yet little 

has been offered. The proposed cuts in funding to the FE sector (there will be a 

further 25% cut for the 2015-16 academic year) increase the urgency. London needs 

to be able to take a strategic view of the role of further education, not just to get 

young people into work but as a way to support people at different stages in their 

career to be able to up-skill and move on to better paid jobs.  

 

 To this end, the Mayor should negotiate with Government for the full devolution 

of the Skills Funding Agency’s allocation for London to the Greater London 

Authority. The LEP will provide expert advice to the Mayor to ensure that funding 

is aligned to London’s jobs and growth agenda so that college courses better meet 

the needs of local employers. There may be scope for subsequent devolution to 

sub-regional groupings of local authorities, but as part of the necessary Skills 

Inquiry that the LEP is currently leading on there will need to be clear evidence 

that these groupings have the vision and capacity to take on the responsibility. 32 

Furthermore, the Assembly will need to provide robust scrutiny of the proposals 

and spending plans to ensure transparency and accountability.  

                                                      
32

 See footnote 35 



 
 
 

26 
 

A single pot for employment support – the rationale 

 Some people need more support to get into work. They may speak English as 

another language, have mental illness, have a disability, and/or have parental or 

caring responsibilities. At present, up to £8 out of every £10 of the Government’s 

employment support funding is spent on programmes that are designed and 

provided according to national guidelines.33 However, the over-centralised system 

of governance and the lack of flexibility at a local level mean the programmes are 

not delivering the outcomes required. Although as the most densely populated 

region London has the highest number of starts on the Government’s flagship 

welfare-to-work programme, it has fared less well in terms of achieving job 

outcomes for residents when compared to national averages. Work Choice, which 

targets the more severely disabled people, has also under performed in London 

compared with national outcomes.34 

 

 In March 2014, the LEP’s submission for Growth Deal funding set out a vision for a 

single ring-fenced flexible pot, which would have bought together the following 

funding streams: 

 Jobcentre Plus Flexible Support Fund (£19m p.a.) 

 Work Programme (£24m p.a.) 

 Work Choice (£10m p.a.) 

 Future Families Programme (£8.5m p.a.) 

 Youth Contract (£4.4m p.a.) 

 Work Programme Completers Pilot (estimated £12m p.a.) 

The subsequent Growth Deal agreed with government did not include full 

devolution of this funding, opting for some piloting and co-commissioning instead. 

 

 In testimony to the Devolution Working Group, Sir Robin Wales (Mayor of Newham) 

argued that local authorities had the detailed labour market knowledge and 

experience to deliver more cost effective interventions. He argued that national 

programmes are not integrated with local services such as housing or social care, 

are overly complex and lead to duplication and higher costs. Sir Robin quoted the 

example of Newham’s Workplace scheme, which, over a two year period, 

succeeded in getting 1,200 people into work, compared with the 350 that the Work 

Programme had helped in that area. Sir Robin argued that because local 

government better understood local employers’ needs, they were able to deliver 

more suitable job-ready candidates for interview. Employers benefitted because 

                                                      
33

 A growth deal for London, London Enterprise Panel/London First March 2014, pg 117  
34

 Work Choice: Official Statistics, Department for Work and Pensions, May 2015 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425615/work-choice-statistics-may-2015.pdf


 
 
 

27 
 

people stayed in their jobs for longer and it was all delivered more cheaply than the 

national scheme. However, Sir Robin also noted that “what works for Newham may 

not work for Redbridge”35 and it remains unclear if ad hoc partnerships of “willing 

boroughs” are going to be sufficient to re-assure Government that they are 

sufficiently credible and accountable to receive significant commissioning powers 

and funding.36 

 

What needs to happen? 

 Across London, boroughs are coming together to design employment programmes 

that try to overcome some of these barriers. Cllr Philippa Roe (leader of 

Westminster Council), for example, told the Devolution Working Group about the 

Centre London Forward programme which sees eight boroughs working together 

across a sub-region to provide support for over 10,000 residents who are currently 

furthest away from the labour market. The employment support programme 

provides a comprehensive employment support service, which includes working 

with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and better information sharing 

across the sub-region. However, she noted how they were not able to support all 

those they wanted because of DWP’s caution: “They are not going to let us take 

over everybody we would like to have until we have proven success with this 

cohort.  It is very much a lot of stepping stones on the way when we would have 

much preferred to have got the whole lot in one go, but we will do what we need to 

do.”  

 

 There is therefore further work for the boroughs and London Councils to do to 

gather the evidence that local devolution is a viable option for these funding 

streams and to put in place the necessary borough partnerships. The potential gains 

to the London economy are significant. Illustrative figures provided by the LEP 

indicate that a single employment funding pot for London could potentially move an 

estimated 34,700 people back into work per year and as a result save the Exchequer 

an estimated £230m.37 

 

 

                                                      
35

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 18 June 2015, pg 9 
36

 Between 200 and 2010, London had a settled set of sub-regional arrangements with the boroughs 
in five groupings for purposes of working with the now disbanded London Development Agency. 
37

A growth deal for London, London Enterprise Panel/London First March 2014,  pg 124 
37

 Ibid. pg 123 
 



 
 
 

28 
 

 The Greater Manchester Agreement offers up the prospect of joint commissioning 

with DWP of the next stage of the Work Programme, although what form that joint 

commissioning will take is still unclear. London should be able to go further and 

benefit from a single funding pot for employment support which brings together 

all the existing major contracts let in London. The single pot would come to the 

Mayor, in the first instance, before being devolved down to local authorities. This 

would create an incentive for boroughs in sub-regional partnerships to work with 

the LEP to better plan and integrate their employment support programmes with 

local job creation. To give Government the assurance it needs that the single 

funding pot will be effectively managed, services would be commissioned on a 

reformed payment by results basis with the Assembly scrutinising not just the 

commissioning process but also, as Sir Robin suggested, the outcomes too.38  

  

                                                      
38

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 18 June 2015 



 
 
 

29 
 

5. Devolution of suburban rail to better 
integrate London and the south east 

 In March 2012, the Mayor published his Rail Vision, which aimed to provide  

 “a single coherent vision for the city’s railways”.  This vision for suburban rail is seen 

as vital in the coming decade to help support the continued growth of London’s 

economy.   

 

 The strategic importance of the suburban rail network is underlined by three 

trends: 

 The expected rise in London’s population; 

 The concentration of job creation within the central London boroughs; and 

 The increasing unaffordability of housing in inner London.   

 

 Simply put more workers than ever before will be commuting into the city.  London 

is already far more dependent on the rail network than other regions, with 

Londoners making six times the number of National Rail journeys compared with 

the rest of the country each year, while demand is expected to grow by 80 per cent 

by 2050.   

 

 The London Assembly Transport Committee is examining how robust the case 

remains for continued devolution.  The investigation is designed to establish the 

level of public support for proposed plans, as well as exploring how attitudes of key 

stakeholders may have changed over the preceding three years.39  

 

 The rationale 

 To meet these needs will require a re-think of current rail strategy.  Control of 

suburban routes is currently split between nine different Train Operating 

Companies (TOCs)40 in addition to the services controlled by TfL. In terms of 

passenger satisfaction, these TOCs run the gamut from some of the worst 

performers in the country (Southeastern) to the most popular (Chiltern Rail).  

Overcrowding, particularly in the peak morning and evening commuter window 

                                                      
39

 The London Assembly Transport Committee is expected to publish its report in October 2015 
40

 TfL assumed control of the Greater Anglia inner suburban services in May 2015. The franchise for 
the remaining routes will be renamed the East Anglia franchise in 2016 



 
 
 

30 
 

continues to blight the passenger experience, and there remains a high degree of 

variation in fares and ticketing policy, station upgrades and service reliability. 

 

 This system also acts as a barrier to greater integration of London and the South 

East’s transport system.  TfL reported that the relatively simple extension of Oyster 

to suburban rail networks was seriously delayed by the need to negotiate with each 

TOC, adding four years and needless expense to the expansion programme.41  

Devolving control of these networks would also provide for greater consistency in 

customer service standards, passenger information and security.  While the Mayor 

has some ability to influence franchise agreements that fall within the Greater 

London region, past experience has shown it to be ineffective in all but a few cases. 

 

 TfL has already demonstrated significant success in managing suburban rail 

networks. In 2007, TfL took over the failing Silverlink franchise and used it as the 

basis to transform orbital rail connectivity in London.  Passenger volumes are now 

almost three times the level when TfL took over management of the services. 

Despite this enormous increase, the Overground receives some of the highest 

customer satisfaction ratings in the country.  Crossrail, due to begin operation in 

2018, is another example of a National Rail line which will be managed by TfL. 

 

 Involving TfL more in the running of the region’s railways can deliver broader 

benefits than just an improved passenger experience. The organisation understands 

that the way it invests and runs its services is not just about journey times, 

accessibility and safety.  TfL sees transport schemes as significant catalysts for 

regeneration and growth. With a broader reach, the organisation could work to 

connect jobs and housing which would serve to make the South East operate better 

as an integrated region. 

 
What needs to happen? 

 The Government has previously backed further devolution of rail management in its 

response to the Brown Review on Rail franchising.  That Review singled out TfL as 

one of only two bodies which had the ability to manage the demands of suburban 

rail networks and encouraged the Department for Transport (DfT) to consider the 

case.  In response, the Mayor made a formal proposal to DfT to devolve control of, 

and funding for, parts of the Anglia and South Eastern franchises to TfL.  This would 

help deliver “higher customer service standards, with greater train service 

                                                      
41

 The Mayors Rail Vision, The Mayor of London, February 2012, pgs 6-8 



 
 
 

31 
 

reliability, and improved station ambience, staffing, passenger security, customer 

information and station facilities”.42 

 

 TfL would use a different model for any franchises it takes over. TfL uses a ‘gross 

cost’ contract, in which it absorbs the revenue risk for the inner-suburban services.  

In contrast, the TOCs have limited control over revenues, which are driven largely 

by macroeconomic factors such as London employment and fare levels.  As a result, 

normal DfT rail franchises include risk premiums in their bids, which would be 

significantly reduced if TfL took the revenue risk instead.  Due to its size, TfL has a 

larger revenue base from which it can absorb any losses – it would contract out the 

management of the line to another operator as is currently the case with London 

Overground Rail Operations Ltd (LOROL) on the Overground. 

 

 Though the Mayor’s proposal received broad, cross party support, as well as the 

backing of London Councils and major passenger groups, some issues were raised 

about further integration of suburban rail with TfL services.  One concerned the 

level of democratic accountability for passengers who lived outside Greater London 

but would be affected by TfL’s decisions.  Yet TfL already runs some Overground, 

tube and bus services outside of its geographical area, and has Board Members 

specifically tasked with representing their views.  In addition, TfL has offered the 

affected councils a say in any proposed changes to rail services, although the details 

of what this means in practice need to be worked out.  In reality, devolving control 

to the Mayor, with the experienced scrutiny offered by the London Assembly 

Transport Committee, provides a marked increase in accountability when compared 

with a private sector alternative. 

 

 Evidence heard by the Transport Committee during its investigation indicates that 

there is scope for new partnerships between TfL and neighbouring authorities, such 

as Kent, which are now more open to the proposal. In order to continue to reassure 

authorities outside London, and ultimately the DfT, a sub-regional transport group 

including input from the Assembly, affected councils and TfL has been suggested if 

rail devolution were to happen.  This could provide the forum where changes to 

routes can be discussed and debated. 

 

 The DfT is also concerned about adding a new layer of complexity to existing 

franchise arrangements.  In its response to the Mayor’s proposal, it agreed to 

devolve control of the Anglia services but rejected the plans for Southeastern 

                                                      
42

 The Mayors Rail Vision, The Mayor of London, February 2012 



 
 
 

32 
 

services.  In a letter to the London Assembly Transport Committee, the DfT said that 

this was “because the Southeastern franchise is operationally more complex, with 

far greater integration of inner suburban and long distance services than West 

Anglia.”43  

 

 The Mayor and TfL have been open about their view that these two services are 

stepping stones to broader devolution of all suburban rail services.  While 

piecemeal devolution of Anglia services is to be welcomed, the DfT should 

reconsider its approach to suburban rail devolution, starting with the South 

Eastern franchise in 2018 and expanding to all inner suburban routes in London as 

other franchises come up for renewal.  

                                                      
43

 Letter from the Department of Transport to the London Assembly Transport Committee, 1 July 
2013  



 
 
 

33 
 

6. Devolution to improve public health 
 outcomes 

London is a modern city without modern health outcomes. London has some of the 

highest rates of childhood obesity, mental illness, TB and HIV across the UK. The 

Mayor has statutory duties to promote improvements in the health of Londoners 

and to promote a reduction in health inequalities. He must, under section 309 of 

the GLA Act 2007, prepare and publish a health inequalities strategy which should 

include proposals and policies for promoting the reduction of health inequalities.44  

However, the Mayor has no statutory role in providing health or care services. If the 

boroughs in their public health role do not have the capacity to co-ordinate and 

implement London-wide health campaigns then the Mayor should step in and 

should be given the appropriate resources to do so. 

There have been a number of attempts by the Mayoralty to develop mechanisms to 

shape the provision of public health services in London and to work with the NHS 

and commissioners to have oversight of the regional health economy. However, 

without the resources and powers to do the job properly, the results so far have 

been modest. Officials from the NHS talk about the Mayor having the ability to have 

“serious conversations” with key stakeholders about preventing ill health and of 

being mindful of the health effects of policy areas he directly controls (such as the 

link between road traffic and air quality). But in reality they want to keep the Mayor 

at arms-length. 

This issue was most recently examined by the London Health Commission which 

was set up by the Mayor in September 2013, to investigate health and care services 

in London.45 The Commission was chaired by Lord Darzi, with a membership across 

many stakeholder groups including the Assembly. According to the Commission’s 

report, the complexity of health and health improvement created by the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012, creates “a clear gap in leadership for the better health agenda 

in the capital”.46 These views chime with those offered by other lead health 

commentators, such as the King’s Fund. To address the strategic vacuum, the 

                                                      
44

Health inequalities are defined in the strategy as inequalities in respect of life expectancy or 
general state of health which are wholly or partly a result of differences in respect of general health 
determinants one of which is the degree of ease or difficulty with which persons have access to 
public services.  
45

 ‘Independent commission to be set up to investigate health and care services in the capital’, the 
Mayor of London, Press Release, 16 September 2013 
46

 Better Health for London, The London Health Commission, October 2014, pg 60 



 
 
 

34 
 

Commission’s report recommends that “the Mayor should appoint a London Health 

Commissioner to champion health in the capital”. 

 
What needs to happen? 

In response, the Mayor published, “Better Health for London: Next steps”, which 

accepted the need for strategic leadership in public health and also set out a series 

of recommendations for local action, supported by city-wide activity to tackle in 

particular children’s health, choices around healthy lifestyles, healthcare in the 

workplace and mental illness.   

 

A re-focused London Health Board, which brings together local government and 

senior NHS leaders, will look to drive improvements in London’s health, care and 

health inequalities. But again there are few dedicated resources to do the job 

properly. In testimony to our Working Group, Sir Edward Lister recalled how a 

previous attempt to top slice three per cent of the London public health budget to 

give City Hall the resources to promote public health activity across London had 

been resisted by central government. It is time for Public Health England to revisit 

those plans and work with the Mayor to establish the post of London Health 

Commissioner and to give City Hall the dedicated resources to put behind the 

London Health Commission’s recommendations.  The London Health 

Commissioner would have strategic co-ordination of all London health matters as 

envisaged by Lord Darzi’s report.   

 

For public health matters, a dedicated budget would give the London Health 

Commissioner the ability to bring together key stakeholders and enable innovative 

pan-London public health trials to be piloted bring economies of scale to existing 

borough level activity. It would also ensure that there was a point of accountability 

at a London-wide level to deliver on the Government’s public health outcome 

framework, which set out some 60 health measures against which local authorities 

would be able to demonstrate real improvement in health outcomes.47 This list 

includes tackling childhood obesity, physical inactivity, and diabetes where a pan-

London campaign and set of actions may be of more value than a piece meal 

approach across willing boroughs. 

 

We should go further. In New York City, the Mayor’s law-making powers have had a 

strong impact on the health of New Yorkers. Using all the tools at their disposal the 

                                                      
47

 ‘Helping people live healthier lives: the future for public health’ , Department of Health, January 
2012 



 
 
 

35 
 

Mayor and the New York City Council undertook a comprehensive and far-reaching 

public health reform agenda. In 2002, Mayor Bloomberg banned smoking in New 

York’s bars and restaurants and in 2011 he banned smoking in most outdoor areas. 

Furthermore, New York banned the sale of cigarettes to those under 21 in 

November 2013. In 2007, the Mayor, through the New York City Board of Health 

(now the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene), forced restaurants to all but 

eliminate the use of partially hydrogenated vegetable oils and spreads, the main 

sources of trans fats in the US diet. This has sharply reduced the consumption of 

trans fats in each bought meal from about 3 grams to 0.5 grams.48 These measures 

show the effectiveness that local law-making has had in pushing forward a city-wide 

public health agenda. The ability to legislate at a city-wide level means that action 

can be taken more quickly than waiting for a national decision. It is worth reflecting 

that the Mayor, London Assembly and London boroughs had campaigned for a 

smoke-free London many years before national policy was changed to ban smoking 

in public places. If London Government had had the power to set public health laws 

then decisive action could have been taken more quickly to save lives and money 

over the longer term. 

 

If the Government is serious about tackling London’s public health challenges then 

it is time for the GLA to have the ability to legislate on health matters. Under this 

proposal, the Mayor would have the power to propose, and for the Assembly to 

agree, legislation for public health matters.   

  

                                                      
48

 See study by Christine Curtis, Director of the city's Nutrition Strategy Program, et al published in 
Annals of Internal Medicine, July 2012 



 
 
 

36 
 

7. The case for a more radical Agreement 
with government to improve health care 
and cut crime 

As a city London is facing huge challenges in terms of health care. There is 

unprecedented demand being placed on both A&E and GP practices, there is a 

national GP shortage and a greater proportion of London’s GPs are aged over 60.49 

The NHS estate needs to be dramatically re-configured to create facilities accessible, 

and of a sufficiently high standard, to meet the needs of the fast growing, and 

ageing, population. There are strains upon the Clinical Commissioning Groups to 

access the services their patients need in a cost effective manner and there are top 

down pressures from NHS England as they struggle to balance the books nationally 

and raise standards. All these changes are of key interest to London residents and 

their elected representatives. Yet there is a democratic deficit in terms of decision-

making, with residents unclear as to who is making the decisions that will affect the 

shape of the healthcare provision in their area. 

 

Primary and acute health care 

 While there is an emerging consensus about what role the Mayor should play in 

terms of promoting public health initiatives, there is less clarity about the role city-

wide government should play to ensure that London has the best health and care 

services of any world city. Indeed, some argue that London is too big for this kind of 

devolution, that its politicians will fail to take decisive action when needed and that 

many London hospitals also have a national service element.50 

 

 However, it is evident that the public is not clear that decisions are being taken in 

their interests or indeed who is taking those decisions. A well-resourced London 

Health Commissioner would be able to advise the Mayor on a vision for how 

London’s health and social care services need to adapt to face the challenges of a 

rapidly growing but also ageing population. The London Health Commissioner 

would be able to link the Mayor’s health inequality strategy with the need to 

improve the NHS estate. The London Health Commissioner would have oversight of 

                                                      
49

 See the Assembly’s Health Committee report “Access to GP care”, March 2015 for more detail  
50

 On this point with both TfL and the Met have national service responsibilities which London 
government deals in partnership with national government.  



 
 
 

37 
 

the finances of the regional health economy as a whole and address workforce 

issues to help health workers to be able to live close to where they work. There 

could finally be a detailed discussion about the merits of integrating the London 

Ambulance Service with the fire and police services, which the Mayor already 

manages, to create a modern and efficient first responder service. This type of 

strategic work would for the first time be done at City Hall, bringing greater 

transparency and accountability to long-term health care planning. 

 

 In February 2015, the Government announced a ground breaking agreement 

between the Greater Manchester Combined Authority and NHS England to bring 

together health and social care budgets for that area – a combined sum of £6bn. 

The scope of the Memorandum of Understanding includes the entire health and 

social care system in Greater Manchester, including adult, primary and social care, 

mental health and community services and public health.  

 

 The size, diversity and complexity of the health economy of London necessarily 

engenders caution about calling for a similar deal to that agreed in principle for 

Greater Manchester. The lack of detail and clarity over roles for respective partners 

means that we would want to see how the Greater Manchester Agreement works in 

practice before pressing for a city-wide agreement to fully merge health and social 

care budgets in London. There is work taking place at a sub-regional level which will 

help shape London government’s thinking about the potential for health and social 

care integration. Local authorities will need to demonstrate to central government 

that they can work effectively with the NHS to tackle difficult issues such as 

improving the NHS estate before further powers and responsibilities are devolved. 

Over the course of the Parliament we would expect to see the Mayor and local 

government pull together evidence from the Greater Manchester experiment to 

establish whether there is a case for city-wide integration of health and social care 

budgets to ensure that London delivers the highest quality health and social care 

for all its resident. 

 

Improving the performance of the criminal justice system 
 The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) wants the criminal justice 

system, including the youth justice system, to be devolved to London. While the 

Mayor has a role in influencing the criminal justice and youth justice system, he 

does not directly oversee the system or its agencies. The Mayor wants to create a 

model similar to New York, where the Mayor of that city holds to account those 

responsible for investigation and arrest, through to charging, prosecution and 

sentencing. 



 
 
 

38 
 

The rationale 
 The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (DMPC), has argued that “the criminal 

justice system should be held to account as the Met is in London, otherwise these 

are unaccountable agencies not answering to the people of London.” He also 

suggested that devolution would improve the speed of the criminal justice system 

and create savings through, for example, the co-location of MPS officers and Crown 

Prosecution Service staff that prepare the case files and through using the same IT 

systems. In testimony to the London Assembly’s Devolution Working Group Helen 

Bailey, Chief Operating Officer at MOPAC, also suggested that being able to 

approach savings requirements from a “London criminal justice system” context 

would be easier than having to absorb the savings requirements of “four or five 

government departments” who each “take their own decisions about where cuts 

fall”.51  

 

 Furthermore, in testimony to the Devolution Working Group, the DMPC argued that 

devolution could support more effective performance management at local level. 

One of the very important things that City Hall could do is “look at what is going on 

across London and start to ask the difficult questions around why does it, [for 

example], take so much longer to deal with a domestic abuse case in this part of 

London as opposed to this part of London.”52    

 

 The real prize is, however, about reducing re-offending rates. The vast majority of 

crimes are committed by people already in the system and as the Deputy Mayor 

noted there is a “small number of offenders, 3,800 habitual criminals convicted not 

once or twice but 15 times or more, costing the taxpayer £153 million…”53 A 

devolved criminal justice system would enable the Mayor to bring together 

different pots of money from the national service providers such as the Youth 

Justice Board with funding from the European Social Fund and local authority input. 

The Holy Grail is to provide for a “whole-person” approach to commissioning. This 

includes both the “beyond-the-prison gate” package of services that can most 

effectively support resettlement, but also support for all those who have been 

through the criminal justice system and need some level of support to move on with 

their lives. 

 

 The “whole-person” approach was applied in Project Daedalus at the Heron Unit at 

Feltham Young Offenders Institute, which was sponsored by the GLA. Under this 

                                                      
51

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 26 February 2015, pg 2 
52

 ibid 
53

 ibid 

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b12341/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20Thursday%2026-Feb-2015%2014.00%20Devolution%20Working%20Group.pdf?T=9


 
 
 

39 
 

programme, young offenders were allocated a ‘resettlement broker’ who worked 

with them in prison and on release to build life skills and improve opportunities for 

education, training and employment. We know that for the first group of young 

offenders that took part in the Heron Unit, their reoffending rate was substantially 

reduced: 53 per cent of those in the unit went on to reoffend, compared with 72 

per cent for the rest of Feltham Youth Offenders Institute.54 Despite some criticisms 

of the project, this model of intervention is considered an effective one. St Giles 

Trust, who were involved in delivering Project Daedalus, told the Police and Crime 

Committee in their investigation into youth reoffending and resettlement that while 

this type of intervention had previously existed, Project Daedalus “confirmed our 

belief that it is a good model.”55  In addition, the HM Chief Inspector of Prison’s 

wrote in his January 2013 inspection report for Feltham that the loss of the re-

settlement brokers in the Heron Unit had been “a real setback”.56  

 

 There are other examples of how a more devolved system could bring benefits. 

Having pan-London commissioning of services would better support those seeking 

exit from gangs or those who have been trafficked into the country and need 

intensive support to protect and help them move on. For example, if MOPAC was to 

take over commissioning of Prevent projects - designed to tackle the spread of 

extremism - pan-London commissioning would ensure that the projects could run 

across borough boundaries, be more responsive to local needs and be more open to 

innovation. Furthermore, they could be funded for more than one year which would 

address problems facing projects with yearly funding including inefficient stopping 

and starting, the lack of consistency in terms of the service provided to clients and 

few chances to capture relevant learning. All these flexibilities would allow 

commissioners to get a better fit of projects with local need. 

 

 Arguments against this change include the risk of politicisation of the criminal 
justice process that has been set up to ensure its independence, and the potential 
of a “‘postcode lottery’ for justice.”57 MOPAC has sought to address these 
arguments, explaining that its approach would be similar to that of its oversight of 
the MPS. MOPAC “would not be setting thresholds for prosecutions for the CPS, nor 

                                                      
54

 Breaking the Cycle: reducing youth reoffending in London, London Assembly Police and Crime 
Committee, July 2015, pg 22  
55

 Transcript, the London Assembly Police and Crime Committee, 8 January 2015 
56

 Report of an unannounced inspection of HMP/YOI Feltham (Feltham A – children and young 
people), Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons, January 2013, page 6 
57

 Transcript, the London Assembly Police and Crime Committee, 8 January 2015 

http://www.insidetime.org/resources/HMCIP/feltham_A_Jan_2013_UFI.pdf
http://www.insidetime.org/resources/HMCIP/feltham_A_Jan_2013_UFI.pdf


 
 
 

40 
 

would you be trying to tell judges” how to operate, in the same way that it has no 
operational direction over police officers.58  

 
 The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime’s vision for devolution aims to do this by 

putting in place a model through which the savings made by reducing reoffending 
could be released into local services:  

You would try to have a situation where a borough is incentivised over time 

to work on those things that reduce youth reoffending and that they benefit; 

they get a dividend that they can reinvest in local communities.59 

 

What needs to happen? 

 Much of this thinking remains work in progress and we accept that the case has 
not yet been fully developed. MOPAC needs to be much clearer about the detailed 
case for criminal justice devolution and should be specific about which budgets it 
wants to see handed down to the Mayor. MOPAC also needs to demonstrate how 
outcomes would be improved through greater devolution and how it will 
safeguard the independence of the criminal justice system and in particular 
sentencing. 

 
Given the continued high volume of alcohol fuelled crimes and alcohol fuelled 
violence there may, over the longer term, be merit in a role for the GLA in the 
licensing for alcohol sales. A London-wide framework, agreed with the boroughs, 
could provide clarity to residents, customers and business and better support the 
work of council enforcement officers and the police.60  

                                                      
58

 Transcript, the London Assembly Police and Crime Committee, 8 January 2015 
59

 Transcript, Devolution Working Group, 26 February 2015 
60

 The Assembly’s Police and Crime Committee will be examining the available evidence in its review 
later in 2015.   



Devolution Working Group  

 
 

Appendix A: Evolution of the GLA’s powers and remit  

Policy Area Greater London Authority Act 1999 Greater London Authority Act 
2007 

Localism Act 2011 

Transport Creation of Transport for London:  Tube, trams, 
buses, trunk roads, taxi regulation, river services. 
 
Power to impose congestion charge, emissions 
charge and workplace parking levy 

 Business rate supplement and 
community infrastructure levy 
contributing to Crossrail funding 

Economic 
Development 

Creation of London Development Agency (including 
Business Link from 2004). 
 
Appointment of Board of LDA 

 LDA abolished; remaining functions 
and transfer of assets to GLA, together 
with the European Regional 
Development Fund. 
 
Established a single London-wide 
London Enterprise Panel (LEP) 

Environment Statutory strategies on ambient noise, air quality, 
biodiversity and waste 

Statutory strategies on climate 
change mitigation and energy; 
 
Waste Recycling Forum and Fund 
 
Power to direct authorities to have 
regard for the Mayor’s strategies 
 
Development of a Water Action 
Framework 
 
 

Amalgamation of five environmental 
strategies (noise, biodiversity, waste, 
air quality and climate change) into 
one Environment Strategy 



 
 
 

42 
 

Policy Area Greater London Authority Act 1999 Greater London Authority Act 
2007 

Localism Act 2011 

Housing  Chair of the London Housing Board 
 
Development of Housing Strategy 
and Housing Investment Plan – 
high level decision over regional 
housing  

Budget and functions of Homes and 
Communities Agency for London pass 
to the Mayor 

Policing Mayor appoints and sets the budget for the 
Metropolitan Police Authority (MPA) 

Mayor may chair the Metropolitan 
Police Authority 

MPA abolished, and replaced with the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 
(MOPAC) 
 
Statutory London Assembly Police and 
Crime Committee to provide scrutiny 
of MOPAC 

Fire London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority 
created – board and budget set by the Mayor 

The Mayor is given a power of 
direction over LFEPA 

 

Skills  London Skills and Employment 
Board created, chaired by the 
Mayor 
 
Development of a London wide 
Skills Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

43 
 

 

 

Policy Area Greater London Authority Act 1999 Greater London Authority Act 
2007 

Localism Act 2011 

Culture Development of a Culture Strategy Appointment of the Chair of Arts 
Councils (London branch) 
 
Appointment of 8 Board Members 
to the Museum of London 

The Mayor appoints the Royal Parks 
Board with the agreement of the 
Secretary of State which provides a 
strategic overview for management of 
the Park as well as guiding and 
challenging The Royal Parks (TRP). 
 
The Royal Parks are Hyde Park, 
Kensington Gardens, St James’s Park, 
The Green Park, The Regent’s Park 
(with Primrose Hill), Bushy Park, 
Greenwich Park and Richmond Park. 
 

Planning Production of a London Plan 
 
Right to be consulted by boroughs on applications of 
‘strategic importance’, and the power to reject such 
applications 
 
Given control of Trafalgar and Parliament Squares, 
including determining what activities may or may 
not take place, as well as trading and transport 
issues. 

Right to determine ‘applications of 
strategic importance’ 
 
Right to direct boroughs to change 
their local plans to harmonise with 
the London Plan 

Mayor only to focus on major planning 
applications 

Health  Development of a health 
inequalities strategy 
 
Appointed Health Advisor 

Creation of a London Health Board 



 
 
 

44 
 

Appendix B: Summary of proposed new powers 

Fiscal Devolution to better support a growing city 
 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

Full devolution 
of business 
rates 

The Mayor and the London boroughs should 
have the same powers and responsibilities as 
the Scottish and Welsh devolved 
administrations in relation to business rates – 
including the ability to determine the timing 
of revaluations, the setting of the non-
domestic rating multiplier, relief and discount 
policies and the ability to use locally raised 
revenues in a targeted way to deliver 
infrastructure, housing and transport 
investment 

There is a need for greater 
flexibility at a pan-London and 
sub-regional level to allow for 
exemptions from business rates 
to support new growth clusters 
and to better reflect the 
changing structure of the 
London economy. 

The ability to change business rates can be achieved 
by amendments to secondary legislation (in this case 
the 2012 Local Government Finance Act).   
 
Proposals to ensure it is cost neutral to the Treasury 
will have to be evaluated, as well as new management 
and delivery systems established within the GLA 
 

Property-based 
taxes 

The Mayor and GLA should have greater 
control over  stamp duty. 

Devolving control of this tax 
would allow more flexible 
funding of housing and 
transport initiatives.  

Gradual process involving primary and secondary 
legislation.  An initial first step may involve localising 
stamp duty to fund specific infrastructure projects, eg, 
property values uplifted by being close to new 
infrastructure such as Crossrail2 stations could be 
taxed upon sale so that London as a whole benefits 
from the additional value created.  The financial 
scrutiny powers of the Assembly would also need to 
be strengthened.  

 

 



 
 
 

45 
 

Public service devolution to boost London’s productivity   
 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

Skills Budgets Devolution of employment and skills 
measures is needed to support and sustain 
London’s economic dynamism. Bringing 
budgets and commissioning powers closer to 
the London labour market will better help 
people to acquire the skills they need to get 
well-paid jobs and to boost productivity, to 
the benefit of the UK economy as a whole. 

The current system is not 
effectively providing skills that 
are required by London 
employers. This is because the 
London economy changes 
quickly and information flows 
between employers, Further 
Education (FE) colleges and 
universities are poor. Colleges, 
in some cases, are not providing 
the right courses for people to 
get the skills to access jobs in 
the local economy. Employers 
can’t find job-ready local people 
and so look further afield to 
meet their needs. 

The Mayor should negotiate with Government for the 
full devolution of the Skills Funding Agency’s 
allocation for London to the Greater London 
Authority. The LEP will provide expert advice to the 
Mayor to ensure that funding is aligned to London’s 
jobs and growth agenda so that college courses better 
meet the needs of local employers.  
 
London Assembly to provide scrutiny of the proposals. 

A single funding 
pot for 
employment 
support 

The Greater Manchester Agreement offers up 
the prospect of joint commissioning with DWP 
of the next stage of the Work Programme - 
London should be able to go further and 
benefit from a single funding pot for 
employment support which brings together all 
the existing mainstream contracts let in 
London.   

At present, up to £8 out of 
every £10 of employment 
support funding is spent on 
programmes that are designed 
and provided according to 
national guidelines.  However, 
the over-centralised system of 
governance and the lack of 
flexibility at a local level mean 
they are not delivering the 
outcomes required. The Work 

The single pot should be awarded to the Mayor, in the 
first instance, before being devolved down to local 
authorities. This would create an incentive for 
boroughs in sub-regional partnerships to work with 
the LEP.  Services would be commissioned on a 
payment by results basis with the Assembly 
scrutinising not just the commissioning process but 
also the outcomes too.   



 
 
 

46 
 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

Programme is under-performing 
in London.     Work Choice, 
which targets the more severely 
disabled people, has also under-
performed compared with 
national outcomes. 
 
 

Control of 
suburban rail  

Future rail franchises should be amended to 
give the Mayor and TfL control over the 
management of suburban rail infrastructure, 
in a similar way to its management of the 
London Overground Network.    

Control of suburban routes is 
currently split between nine 
different Train Operating 
Companies (TOCs) in addition to 
the services controlled by TfL.   
Customer satisfaction is low, 
overcrowding is increasing and 
there is little incentive for TOCs 
to provide joined up services, 
The suburban rail                                                                                                                                                          
network will become 
increasingly important over the 
coming decade and greater 
integration with the wider 
transport network can only be 
assured by Mayoral and TfL 
control. 

The DfT should reconsider its approach to suburban 
rail devolution, starting with the Southeastern 
franchise 2018, and expanding to all inner suburban 
routes in London as other franchises come up for 
renewal.   

 

 

 



 
 
 

47 
 

A more radical Agreement with the Government to health care and cut crime 

 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

Public Health Public Health England should revisit plans to 
give City Hall the dedicated resources to put 
behind the London Health Commission’s 
recommendations.  A dedicated budget would 
give a newly created role of London Health 
Commissioner the ability to monitor the 
Government’s public health outcomes 
framework and enable innovative pan-London 
pilots to be trialed. 
 
In addition, the GLA should have the ability to 

legislate on health matters. Under this 

proposal, the Mayor would have the power to 

propose, and for the Assembly, to agree 

legislation for public health matters.   

 

London is a modern city without 
modern health outcomes. 
London has some of the highest 
rates of childhood obesity, 
mental illness, TB and HIV 
across the UK. The Mayor has 
statutory duties to promote 
improvements in the health of 
Londoners and to promote a 
reduction in health inequalities. 
He must, under section 309 of 
the GLA Act 2007, prepare and 
publish a health inequalities 
strategy which should include 
proposals and policies for 
promoting the reduction of 
health inequalities.  However, 
the Mayor has no statutory role 
in providing health or care 
services. 

Public Health England to create a post of London 
Health Commissioner and to re-visit plans to top slice 
three per cent of the London public health budget to 
give City Hall the resources to promote public health 
activity across London. 
 
 

Primary and 
Acute health 

A London Health Commissioner would be able 

to advise the Mayor on a vision for how 

London’s health and social care services need 

to adapt to face the challenges of a rapidly 

growing but also ageing population. The 

London Health Commissioner would be able 

There is a lack of accountability 
and transparency about how 
strategic decisions are made 
about the development of 
London’s primary and acute 
health services.  This includes a 
lack of oversight. A London 

Over the course of the Parliament we would expect to 
see the Mayor and local government pull together 
evidence from the Greater Manchester experiment to 
establish whether there is a case for city-wide 
integration of health and social care budgets to ensure 
that London delivers the highest quality health and 
social care for all its residents 



 
 
 

48 
 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

to link the Mayor’s inequality strategy with 

the need to improve the NHS estate, It would 

also bring greater transparency and 

accountability to long-term health care 

planning. 

Health Commissioner would 
have oversight of the financial 
stability of the regional health 
economy as a whole and how 
the service will address issues 
such as how to help health 
workers live close to where they 
work.   

Improving the 
performance of 
the criminal 
justice system 

The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) wants the criminal justice system, 

including the youth justice system, to be 

devolved to London. While the Mayor has a 

role in influencing the criminal justice and 

youth justice system, he does not directly 

oversee the system or its agencies. The Mayor 

wants to create a model similar to New York, 

where the Mayor of that city holds to account 

those responsible for investigation and arrest, 

through to charging, prosecution and 

sentencing. 

 

Given the continued high volume of alcohol 

fuelled crimes and violence, over the longer 

term, there may be merit in a role for the GLA 

in licensing of alcohols sales. 

The criminal justice system in 
London should be held to 
account as the Metropolitan 
Police Service is.  It is suggested 
that devolution would improve 
the speed of the criminal justice 
system and create savings 
through for example the co-
location of MPS officers and 
Crown Prosecution Service staff 
that prepare the case files and 
through using the same IT 
systems.  A devolved criminal 
justice system would bring 
together different pots of 
money from the national 
service providers such as the 
Youth Justice Board with 
funding from the European 
Social Fund and local authority 
input. The holy grail is to 
provide for a “whole-person” 

Much of this thinking remains work in progress and 
the case has not yet been fully developed. MOPAC 
needs to be much clearer about the detailed case for 
criminal justice devolution and should be specific 
about which budgets it wants to see handed down to 
the Mayor. MOPAC also needs to demonstrate how 
outcomes would be improved through greater 
devolution and how it will safeguard the 
independence of the criminal justice system. 
 
Over the longer term, there may be merit in the GLA 
taking on the powers of licensing for alcohol sales. A 
London-wide framework, agreed with the boroughs, 
could provide clarity to residents, customers and 
business and better support the work of council 
enforcement officers and the police.  The Assembly’s 
Police and Crime Committee will review the available 
evidence and report its findings to the Mayor later in 
2015.  



 
 
 

49 
 

Proposed 
powers  

Detail Rationale How 

approach to commissioning. 
This includes both the “beyond-
the-prison gate” package of 
services that can most 
effectively support 
resettlement, but also support 
for all those who have been 
through the criminal justice 
system and need some level of 
support to move on with their 
lives. 

 

 

 



 
 

50 
 

Orders and translations 

How to order 
For further information on this report or to order a copy, please contact 
Rachel Roscow on 020 7983 5596 or email rachel.roscow@london.gov.uk   

See it for free on our website 
You can also view a copy of the report on the GLA website: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/publications 

Large print, braille or translations 
If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 

 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 

Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 

 

mailto:rachel.roscow@london.gov.uk
mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

 
 

©Greater London Authority 

 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 

London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk 

This publication is printed on recycled paper 
 
 
 

 



APPENDIX C

PUBLIC SPENDING IN LEWISHAM: THE CONCLUSION OF THE WORKING 
GROUP’S FINAL REPORT

13. Conclusion

13.1 The work of other public sector organisations, alongside that of the Council, is 
critical to the wellbeing of local people; and in times of austerity it is important 
that the Council understands how resources are being deployed by other 
public organisations in the borough to help maximise overall benefit to the 
community.  The Working Group’s review into public spending in Lewisham 
has found that most areas of public spending in Lewisham have seen a drop 
in expenditure and that, for nearly all the organisations surveyed, recent 
annual reductions in funding in real terms are forecast to continue in future 
years.  To some degree, inflation, cost pressures and changes to the way 
funding is delivered are masking the reductions. For example, in 2013 the 
Government changed the way local authorities were funded, removing the 
formula grant and rolling a number of different grants into the main allocation. 
The Working Group found that the rolling in of additional grants has distorted 
the Council’s expenditure figures, meaning that the actual percentage 
reduction in spending was larger than the figures were suggesting. 

13.2 Over time annual reductions compound to produce significant cumulative 
impacts on the community. It is therefore crucial that the public money still 
being spent in Lewisham is being spent in the most efficient way possible, to 
secure the best possible outcomes for those that live, work and learn in the 
borough. The Working Group therefore calls on the Council to work with its 
partners to ensure that there is proper public consultation on any upcoming 
ambulance, fire, police and NHS reconfigurations or changes; so the 
combined impact on Lewisham’s residents can be fully assessed and taken 
into consideration by the Council when planning its own service changes. 

13.3 All three emergency services are clearly under some degree of strain as they 
struggle to meet the ambitious savings targets they have been set and their 
performance is often below target in Lewisham. The Working Group has 
therefore asked the London Ambulance Service to investigate why their 
response time performance (Category A calls) is below that being achieved in 
neighbouring boroughs; and the Fire Brigade to investigate why their six 
minute target for getting a first appliance to an incident is not being met in 
three of the borough’s wards. It is the Working Group’s opinion that the recent 
Mayoral Direction requiring an appliance from Forest Hill Fire Station to not be 
returned, pending decisions on 2016/17 savings proposals, is not helping the 
situation. In terms of the Metropolitan Police Service, the Working Group 
notes with concern that the Metropolitan Police Service Commissioner has 
publically stated that the projected £800m of savings scheduled for the MPS 
over the next four years may put public safety at risk.The decline in numbers 
of Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) and plans to potentially 
abolish PCSOs in safer neighbourhood teams are particularly worrying, and a 
detailed briefing has been urgently requested.



13.4 Many parts of the Further Education sector are suffering from the squeeze on 
public spending, with universities and further education colleges experiencing 
significant reductions to some of their funding. Although the Department for 
Education has sought to protect funding for pupils up to the age of 16, post-16 
funding has been excluded from the ringfence. The Working Group was 
particularly alarmed to discover that 16–19 education has suffered from a 14 
per cent reduction in funding, in real terms, between 2010–11 and 2014–15.”1 

13.5 Although Goldsmiths University has, so far, benefitted from the change in the 
funding regime from Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) 
funding to loans, many other universities have experienced the opposite, with 
the effect of the change being highly variable between different institutions. 
The poor state of the finances of the borough’s major FE provider, Lewisham 
Southwark College, is well documented, with turnover falling from almost 
£50m in 2012/13 when Lewisham College merged with Southwark College to 
£36m in 2014/15. Further reductions are anticipated as a result of government 
cuts to adult skills funding. The funding squeeze is further compounded by 
VAT which colleges, unlike schools and academies, are unable to recover. 
For Lewisham Southwark College it is estimated that VAT amounts to £1.5m 
per annum. The College is pushing very hard to improve its Ofsted rating from 
4 (inadequate) but its financial situation is clearly a barrier to achieving this 
that will be difficult to overcome.

13.6 The housing crisis in the capital is well documented and Lewisham is not 
immune. Proposed legislative changes will exacerbate the situation when 
enacted and minimising the impact on vulnerable residents will be a key 
challenge for the Council and its partners. 

13.7 Devolution is on the agenda in London and the Working Group notes the 
publication of the London Proposition2 by London Councils and the GLA, 
which advocates London government working closely with central 
Government to agree a devolution package focussing on six key areas: 
employment and complex dependency; skills; business support; crime and justice; 
health; and housing. The Council supports devolution, recognising that fiscal 
devolution in particular will reduce local government’s dependency on central 
government and allow it to deliver services more flexibly, generating the funds 
it needs to fulfil its priorities, itself. In the meantime the restoration of needs-
based central funding would assist local government in meeting local 
priorities. In February 2015 the Council agreed a motion expressing its 
support for the Core Cities’ Modern Charter for Local Freedom3; and agreed 
to campaign for further devolution and greater localism and a fairer 
distribution of resources based on the restoration of needs-based central 
funding4. However, the Working Group would like to be reassured that this is 
not used as a mechanism to implement more HM Treasury top sliced cuts.

1 See: http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN168.pdf
2 The London proposition: Devolution and public service reform, Congress of Leaders meeting, 14th July 2015  
3 See: http://www.corecities.com/what-we-do/publications/modern-charter-local-freedom
4 See: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s33998/Motion%203%20Proposed%20by%20the%20Mayor%20Seconded
%20by%20Councillor%20Hall.pdf

http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN168.pdf
http://www.corecities.com/what-we-do/publications/modern-charter-local-freedom
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s33998/Motion%203%20Proposed%20by%20the%20Mayor%20Seconded%20by%20Councillor%20Hall.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s33998/Motion%203%20Proposed%20by%20the%20Mayor%20Seconded%20by%20Councillor%20Hall.pdf


Recommendation: If proposals for devolution in London are accepted by the 
Government, the Mayor and Executive Members should share their proposals 
with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as soon as possible to facilitate 
constructive scrutiny and the most effective constitutional arrangements.

13.8 On 25 November 2015 the Chancellor will set out departmental funding 
allocations and related changes to public service delivery for the next four 
years (2016/17 to 2019/20). The Working Group notes that while the extent of 
the funding cuts will not be known until the Chancellor’s announcement, 
London boroughs are preparing for at least the same scale of cuts 
experienced over the last parliament and notes London Councils’ submission 
to Government that advocates devolution as one of three broad solutions that 
might ease the burden on London.

London Councils’ Spending Review submission

 London Councils’ Spending Review submission was submitted on 4 
September 2015.

 It proposes three broad solutions to meet the challenge of re-designing 
local public services in London so that they better match the needs of 
London and the UK:
 Devolution and public service reform – supporting the London 

Proposition
 Reform of the local government finance system – including delivering 

a four year local government finance settlement; agreeing a fixed 
definition of spending power with local government for the 2016/17 
finance settlement; and giving local government greater autonomy over 
the setting of fees and charges.

 Greater financial autonomy through fiscal devolution – including fully 
devolving business rates, exploring retention-sharing mechanisms for 
funding public services as part of the Spending Review process, and 
over the course of the parliament; and maintaining an open dialogue on 
a fully devolved London settlement.

13.9 Lewisham is the 17th most deprived local authority in the country and spending 
cuts that impact on the local authority; police, ambulance and fire services; 
higher education; and housing services have the potential to have a 
devastating cumulative impact on local people. It is therefore imperative that all 
organisations spending public money in Lewisham work together to ensure that 
limited and declining financial resources are used holistically and in the most 
efficient way possible, to ensure that the consequences of austerity are 
minimised wherever possible.

Recommendation: The formal partnership arrangements between the Mayor, 
Executive Members and Officers should be reviewed to ensure that they are 
robust enough to recognise the potential conflicts and solutions required to 
address the scale of the challenges that this review has identified.



Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Title Recommendation from the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group

Contributors Public Spending in Lewisham Working 
Group 

Item No. 6

Class Part 1 Date 26 October 
2015

1. Summary

1.1 This report informs the Business Panel of a recommendation made by the Public 
Spending in Lewisham Working Group at its meeting held on 22 September 2015.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note and discuss the 
recommendation of the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group as set out in 
section 3 of this report.

3. Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group

3.1 On 22 September 2015, the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group 
considered the draft report arising from its review and agreed some 
recommendations. One of the recommendations made was for consideration by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee:

3.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should convene an Inquiry into post-16 
education.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 There are no direct or immediate financial implications arising from this report.

5. Legal Implications

5.1 The Constitution provides for scrutiny bodies to make recommendations to the 
Executive or appropriate committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the 
scrutiny process.

Background papers

Report of the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group

If you have any queries on this report, please contact Charlotte Dale, Interim 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager (ext. 49534).

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/overview-scrutiny/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Reports/Documents/FINALReportPublicSpending2015ForPublication.pdf

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2015
	2 Minutes of the meeting of the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group held on 22 September 2015
	3 Declarations of Interest
	5 Devolution
	05 Appendix A - The London Proposition 261015
	The London Proposition
	Strengthening the engine of the nation’s growth to boost national productivity.
	Governing London in Partnership
	Employment and Complex Dependency
	A Devolved and Reformed Skills System for London
	Enterprise Support Proposals for London
	1. Innovation and Internationalisation
	2. Fixing the Foundations of Productivity – Local approaches

	Crime & Justice
	Health and Care
	Housing
	London’s Housing Proposition
	Land Assembly to Accelerate Building
	Planning Levers for Faster Development
	Financial Levers for Greater Home Building
	Tackling Pressures in Temporary Accommodation


	Borough Groupings and Sub-Regional Working
	Conclusion
	Appendices
	APPENDIX A: ‘Local hubs’ – improving resident experiences and employment outcomes through co-location and integration
	APPENDIX B: Employment:  Local Employment Support System Diagrams
	APPENDIX C: Employment - Detailed “Asks” Of Government
	Appendix D: - Skills: London’s Economy
	Appendix E. Skills: The current post-16 skills and education landscape


	05 Appendix B - A New Agreement for London 261015
	05Devolution AppendixC261015

	6 Recommendation from the Public Spending in Lewisham Working Group

